

School of Psychology Ysgol Seicoleg

# Mental Health Interventions in UK Secondary Schools: A systematic review and an acceptability and feasibility study of an ACT intervention delivered by school-based staff.

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for

the degree of:

# **Doctorate of Clinical Psychology (DClinPsy)**

South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology

Cardiff University

# **Alessandra Roberts**

# **Supervised by: Dr Victoria Samuel**

15<sup>th</sup> June 2021

## Contents

Acknowledgements
Thesis Preface
A systematic review of group-based targeted and universal mental health interventions in secondary schools in the UK9
Abstract10
Introduction11
Mental Health in UK Adolescents11
Adolescent Mental Health and the Wider Impact12
Support for Young People13
Previous Reviews14
Aims of the Current Review17
Method17
Study Selection17
Other Data Sources
Search Strategy
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria
Extraction of Data19
Assessment of Quality20
Results
Overall Quality Across Universal and Targeted Interventions
Effectiveness of Interventions
Quality Assessment
Study Characteristics
Facilitator Characteristics43
Intervention Exposure44
Fidelity
Outcome Measurement45
Replicability
Discussion
Interventions
Assessment and Outcomes50
Limitations52
Future Directions and Recommendations54

Implementation of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy Workshops for Secondary School Pup Acceptability and Feasibility of Training School Staff	oils: 68
Abstract	69
Background	69
Methods	69
Results	69
Introduction	70
ACT as a Universal Mental Health Intervention in Schools	71
Treatment Fidelity when Implementing Interventions	72
Treatment Fidelity and School-based Mental Health Interventions	74
Objectives	78
Method	79
Participants and Recruitment	79
Procedure	79
Measures	80
Results	85
Summary of Participants	85
Objective 1: Satisfaction with Workshop Training	86
Objective 2: Impact of Training on a Situational Judgement Test (CoACT-Y)	87
Objective 3: Changes in Psychological Flexibility Post-Intervention Delivery	88
Objective 4: Adherence to the Manual and Competency of Delivery	89
Objective 5: Fidelity to ACT principles, Using the ACT-FM	91
Discussion	96
References	102
Appendices	117
Appendix A – Author Guidelines for The Association of Child and Adolescent Mental Health	117
Appendix B: TIDieR Checklist Reporting Page Numbers and Details for Replication of Targeted Intervention Studies	125
Appendix C: TIDieR Checklist Reporting Page Numbers and Details for Replication of Universal Intervention Studies	126
Appendix D: Author Guidelines for the Journal of School Psychology	127
Appendix E: Ethical approval	136
Appendix F: Gatekeeping letter for schools	137
Appendix G: Information sheet for school counsellors and teachers/pastoral care staff	139
Appendix H: Consent form for school counsellors and pastoral care staff (electronic)	143
Appendix I: Debrief for school counsellors and teachers/pastoral care staff	144

Appendix J: Background questionnaire for teachers	. 146
Appendix K: Background questionnaire for school counsellors	. 148
Appendix L: Training Satisfaction Questionnaire	. 149
Appendix M: Situational judgement questionnaire: Congruent ACT responses with Young people (CoACT-Y)	. 150
Appendix N: Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy processes (CompACT) questionnaire	. 152
Appendix O: Adherence checklists for workshops 1, 2 and 3	. 153
Appendix P: ACT Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM)	. 157

#### Acknowledgements

Thank you to all the schoolteachers and counsellors who delivered the intervention despite such uncertainty through the pandemic. This would not have been possible without you, and your continual dedication and willingness to roll with every change that came up was incredible.

Thank you to Vic, who has given endless support and commitment as a research supervisor. Your feedback has been invaluable, and your knowledge and enthusiasm for ACT kept some tricky moments going when I did not know if this would still be possible. Your attention to detail is like no other, and I am much better off for it, thank you.

I have been incredibly lucky to be part of an amazing cohort of talented and caring people, who have provided laughter in the good, and tougher, times. Thank you all for your support, knowledge, heart-warming love, and distractions through the last three years. You've all made this time so great.

Thank you to Katy, you have been the best professional mentor I could have hoped for. Your knowledge, space to reflect and additional support through humour and validation has been amazing.

To Rach, Elese, Chloe, Bry, Vik, Karolina, and Hannah, I cannot thank you all enough! I love you all and would not be the person or professional without your love and encouragement continually around me. The jokes and sass help too... Also thank you to Lauren and Sarah who have provided so much escapism through exercise, food and cheerleading over the past year.

Finally, thank you to my mum and dad for always believing in me, encouraging me to keep the faith and continue going forward. I am forever grateful for the support you have given to me over the years.

#### **Thesis Preface**

The aim of this research was to review studies concerning mental health interventions which have been carried out in UK secondary schools since 2010. This research also assessed the acceptability and feasibility of training school-based professionals to deliver an intervention to secondary school students, based on the therapeutic approach of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT).

The systematic review aimed to understand the current evidence base for interventions that intend to support and improve adolescent mental health and are carried out as part of the school timetable. School-based interventions for young people can be categorised into those delivered to groups of young people who are experiencing difficulties or at risk of developing difficulties (targeted interventions), or those which are delivered to everyone regardless of need (universal interventions). Published articles from 2010 were searched across eight databases (PsycInfo, ASSIA, Scopus, Web of Science, ERIC, CINAHL, BEI and Medline), returning 1630 papers with fifteen meeting criteria for the review question.

Results highlighted the variable interventions that have been published on improving adolescent mental health and wellbeing in the UK since 2010. Ten were universally delivered and five were targeted interventions. The results reflected those of previous reviews in the UK, in that understanding the effectiveness of interventions is limited by a lack of follow-ups, with eleven studies looking at differences immediately post-intervention or three months post-intervention only. Nearly all studies reported positive improvements. However, further detail around training for those delivering the interventions, assessment of whether the interventions are delivered as intended, longer follow-ups, and consistency across studies in the measures used to assess outcomes for young people is needed from future studies. The empirical paper describes an acceptability and feasibility study assessing training for school-based staff to deliver an ACT intervention within schools, and how well this was delivered. School-based interventions can be helpful for young people's mental health, although often studies do not report whether the intervention was delivered as planned or give minimal information. The intervention was designed to be delivered in pairs made up of one schoolteacher and one school counsellor. Facilitators attended a two-day training course and delivered the three-lesson workshop hoping to improve adolescent well-being and developing skills for psychological flexibility, based on ACT. A questionnaire assessed their satisfaction with training. Another questionnaire was developed to see whether training improved their knowledge of responding to young people in ways consistent with the principles of ACT. Changes to their own levels of psychological flexibility were measured pre-training and followed up after delivering the workshops to school students. All workshops were recorded and assessed for how many of the key intervention activities were adhered to, and whether the overall delivery was consistent with the principles of ACT.

Results indicated that the training was highly acceptable to school staff and did impact on their knowledge of responding in ways consistent with ACT. However, the measure had not been validated and is interpreted with caution. School-based staff were able to deliver the workshops with high adherence to the manual (completing between 86% and 100% of key tasks). The measure of adherence to the principles of ACT was used with good effect, with high levels of agreement when comparing the scores of two raters. The content of the workshop appeared to impact some of the scores, for instance scores relating to discussion of values were highest in the final session where this was the focus of work. Scores of psychological flexibility (an overarching aim of ACT) increased for facilitators, indicating that attending training and/or delivering interventions may have additional impacts on facilitators which is an area currently unexplored. Overall, the review provides an update on the state of UK school-based mental health interventions. This includes the quality of such studies and how future research can address the limitations of these or add to the strength of the evidence base. Where possible, further information and resources for replicating these interventions are given. The empirical paper addresses a gap within the literature for assessing the implementation of a school-based ACT intervention and highlights the acceptability of a two-day virtual training course. The results showed that schoolbased staff were able to deliver the intervention with high adherence and good fidelity to the theoretical model of ACT. The research highlights how greater use of a fidelity measure across ACT interventions and establishing norms for 'high' fidelity are needed. It also gives an additional element to consider for future research in the change of a facilitator's own psychological flexibility through delivering an ACT intervention.

# A systematic review of group-based targeted and universal mental health interventions in secondary schools in the UK

Alessandra Roberts

Cardiff University

Manuscript prepared in line with the author guidelines for the journal The Association for Child and Adolescent Mental Health (Appendix A), and word count guidance for DClinPsy thesis submission in 2021.

Word count: 250 (abstract) 8,504 (main body, with amendments)

#### Abstract

#### Background

There are increasing concerns for supporting the mental health needs of young people in the UK. Schools are well-placed to provide these interventions. The last review of targeted school-based interventions in UK schools was conducted in 2010, and universal interventions were last reviewed in 2016. This systematic review aimed to evaluate targeted and universally delivered interventions within UK secondary schools since 2010.

#### Method

ASSIA; British Education Index; ERIC; CINAHL; Medline; PsycInfo; Scopus and Web of Science were searched for peer-reviewed articles published between January 2010 and March 2021. Articles were included if they described universal or targeted interventions delivered within UK mainstream secondary school settings, aimed at supporting mental health and/or emotional well-being.

#### Results

Fifteen studies met inclusion criteria. Five were targeted interventions and ten were universal. Studies included randomised and non-randomised controlled trials, pre-post interventions and mixed methods evaluation. Interventions ranged in their theoretical approach and aims. Three targeted, and nine universal interventions, reported improved outcomes for adolescents in at least one domain. This was however inconsistent across symptom type and intervention programme. Four studies assessed outcomes beyond three months. Varying outcome measures, intervention exposure and reporting quality were found. Studies often lacked information that would aid replication.

#### Conclusions

Results indicate that greater consistency in design and reporting is needed, so that schools can choose an appropriate intervention. Wide variations in interventions and a lack of information in key areas make it difficult to assess whether the intervention or other factors contributed to outcomes. Additional peer-reviewed studies within the UK are needed.

#### Key Terms

Adolescents; Intervention; Mental Health; School; UK; Well-being

#### Introduction

Adolescence can be defined as the period from the age of 10 years old into young adulthood (Orben, Tomova & Blakemore, 2020). During this time significant biological, psychosocial and emotional changes occur, through brain development and the onset of puberty (WHO, 2020). This additionally coincides with increasing independence, changing school environments and heightened emphasis on forming social relationships and identity development (Jaworska & MacQueen, 2015). The reciprocal relationship between biological and social developments can increase the risk, or serve as protective structures, for mental health and resilience during this time (Lamblin et al., 2017). Many adolescents spend much of their time within secondary school, where interventions to support adolescent mental health and emotional well-being have been implemented (Werner-Seidler et al., 2017).

#### **Mental Health in UK Adolescents**

A recent study of 28,000 adolescents in England found that 2 in 5 scored above clinical cut offs for emotional, conduct or hyperactivity problems (Deighton et al., 2019). NHS Digital (2018) reported 9% of 11 to 15-year-olds presented with an emotional disorder and 14.9% of 17 to 19-yearolds, compared to 4.1% of 5 to 10-year-olds. There is evidence to suggest that mental health difficulties are increasing amongst young people. For example, between 2017 and 2020 rates of difficulties increased within the adolescent population from one in nine, to one in six (NHS Digital, 2020). The Good Childhood Report (The Children's Society, 2020) described data from the Programme for International Student Assessment (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; OECD, 2018) which compared subjective well-being across 45 countries within Europe, plus Canada. UK 15-year-olds ranked 36<sup>th</sup>, 37<sup>th</sup> and 40<sup>th</sup> (England, Wales and Scotland respectively). Within this 2015 to 2018 reporting period, the UK was found to have the largest increase in social inequalities for young people.

Adolescence can be a time of increased social and academic pressures. A recent national report found 15-year-olds within the UK were reporting higher fears of failure and lower life satisfaction when compared to other countries (Brooks et al., 2020). Both within and outside of school, relationships with peers are of particular importance where negative experiences can impact feelings of low mood and loneliness (Schwartz-Mette et al., 2020). The Annual Bullying Survey (Ditch the Label, 2020) collected data from over 13,000 adolescents aged 12-18 in the UK, where 1 in 4 reported being bullied within the last 12 months. Public Health England (2017a) also found a concerning number of young people may engage in self-harm. Of the 15-year-olds surveyed across England, 22% reported that they had self-harmed (32% of females and 11% of males), with the majority reporting a frequency of once a month or more.

Concerns have been raised that in the context of already declining mental health amongst young people, the Covid-19 pandemic may represent a significant additional vulnerability factor (Ford, John & Gunnell, 2021). Numerous restrictions and changes have resulted from the pandemic, such as not attending school, reductions in social contact with family and friends, and limited ability to engage in positive, protective activities such as sport. A large NHS study (Kooth, 2020) found young people, when compared to the previous year, reported increased feelings of sadness (a 128% increase), sleep difficulties (161% increase), health anxiety (133% increase), loneliness (63% increase) and self-harm (27% higher). The long-term impact of the pandemic on young people's mental health is currently unknown.

#### Adolescent Mental Health and the Wider Impact

Young people reporting greater well-being tend to have higher educational achievement, social connections, reduced risk-taking behaviour and greater resilience (Campion et al., 2012). Conversely, mental health difficulties in adolescents are associated with lower academic

12

performance (Agnafors et al., 2020) and physical health concerns (McCloughen et al., 2012). Mental health difficulties in adolescence also present a risk of persisting into adulthood. For example, a longitudinal study by Caspi et al. (2020) followed a cohort from birth to the age of 45. They found that the onset of mental health disorders (i.e., depression, anxiety, schizophrenia, ADHD) occurred by 18-years-old for 59% of those studied. Johnson et al. (2018) found significant associations between adolescent depression, and depression and anxiety in adulthood. The wider societal and financial implications of adult mental health difficulties have been well documented including missing work, reduced earning potential and greater use of health services (McDaid, Park & Wahlbeck, 2019). Together the findings support the need for early intervention.

#### **Support for Young People**

Early intervention to prevent mental health difficulties, alongside access to specialist services such as Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), has been advocated to support young people's well-being and reduce the long-term economic impact on public services (Department of Health, 2015). However, accessing support can be difficult; of 338,633 referrals to CAMHS in 2017/2018, 37% were either not accepted, or discharged after a first appointment. After 12 months, 32% were still on the waiting list (Children's Commissioner, 2018). Despite increased funding since 2015 and some reductions in waiting times, there has been no change in the percentage of young people being rejected from these services (Crenna-Jennings & Hutchinson, 2020). Crenna-Jennings and Hutchinson (2020) suggest that this may be due to increased referrals and changes to the thresholds for accessing support, recommending involvement of the wider system to support these services. The Department for Education (DfE, 2018) outlined schools as well positioned to support early intervention and universal prevention approaches, as these are places where most young people attend and spend significant time. Positive perceptions of the school environment, including feeling safe and having positive relationship with staff and peers, have also been found to be potential protective factors for young people's mental health (PHE, 2017b). In recent years, governments in England, Wales, Scotland, and Northern Ireland have provided guidance for supporting mental health within school curriculums, including the provision of targeted and universal interventions (Anna Freud, n.d.; Council for the Curriculum, Examinations & Assessment, n.d; PHE, 2021; Scottish Government, 2017; Welsh Government, 2021). There are differences across the UK as to how this may be achieved and when, although all regions are obligated to include and address emotional well-being within the curriculum (DfE, 2018). Recent government guidance in England included the designation of a mental health 'lead', and additional mental health training for school staff to support pupils (DfE, 2018; PHE, 2017b). In Wales, the Curriculum for Wales Framework outlines the mandatory requirement for all pupils to receive education on mental health and wellbeing through whole-school approaches, and targeted interventions where required (Welsh Government, 2021). This is supported by the Curriculum and Assessment (Wales) Act 2021 to redesign the Welsh curriculum, alongside assessment of these changes over the next four years.

#### **Previous Reviews**

The efficacy of school-based interventions to support emotional well-being and mental health has been assessed in various systematic reviews and meta-analyses. Of sixteen systematic reviews conducted over the last ten years, thirteen were conducted across different countries, or the US alone, and not all included the UK. The focus varied from anxiety and depression (Caldwell et al., 2019; Feiss et al., 2019; Werner-Seidler et al., 2017), resilience (Dray et al., 2017; Ma et al., 2020), mindfulness (McKeering & Hwang, 2019), economic evaluation (Schmidt et al., 2020), internalising disorders (Shelmey, Harvey & Waite, 2020), mental health promotion (O'Reilly et al., 2018), social competence (Schüller & Demetriou, 2018), 'Incredible Years' interventions (Nye, Melendez-Torres & Gardner, 2019), self-regulation (Pandey et al., 2018), Health Promoting Schools framework (Langford et al., 2014) and interventions involving the school as well as communities (García-Carrión et al., 2019). Caldwell et al. (2019) found weak evidence for universally delivered, third-wave Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) interventions on reducing depressive symptoms at six to twelve months, and effects were not sustained at two years. CBT for targeted populations was found to be of greater benefit when compared to waitlist controls, however most studies did not include long-term follow-ups. For symptoms of anxiety, Feiss et al. (2019) reported that targeted interventions were found to be of greater benefit than universal approaches, although highlighted that preventative interventions are not designed for those scoring highly on clinical measures and are less likely to result in large differences post-intervention. Interventions targeting depressive symptoms were moderated by age, ethnicity, and intervention dosage, although insufficient data limited understanding these mechanisms further (Feiss et al., 2019). McKeering and Hwang (2019) noted larger effects for mindfulness-based interventions on reducing negative thinking, and smaller effects on increasing positive thinking. A lack of reporting on treatment fidelity, appropriate data collection points and information on the analysis of quantitative and qualitative aspects was highlighted (McKeering & Hwang, 2019). Whilst many of the reviews looked at randomised controlled trials only, this can be difficult within a school-based setting, potentially excluding studies with useful insight.

The above sixteen reviews were conducted across countries, with varying socioeconomic factors, barriers to implementation within schools and differences in curriculum. Funding also differs for additional mental health services, both within and outside of the school environment. Only two systematic reviews have focused on mental health interventions within a UK mainstream school setting. Cheney et al. (2014) reviewed sixteen interventions for targeted groups of pupils, published up to 2010. Mackenzie and Williams (2018) reviewed twelve universal interventions, up to 2016. Both studies used the Checklist for Measuring Quality (Downs & Black, 1998). Cheney et al. (2014) reported three overall scores from sixteen papers reviewed. Mackenzie and Williams (2018) commented only briefly on areas of study design, power, comparison groups and sample characteristics. The quality checklist sub-defines aspects of quality including external and internal validity, and further detail of how studies rated in terms of these specific areas may have been beneficial. Both studies cited issues of small sample sizes, lack of intervention comparison groups, variable outcome measures and a lack of long-term follow up, in the difficulty of drawing conclusions regarding effectiveness. A limitation of existing reviews is that none have combined targeted and universal interventions within UK mainstream schools. Such a review is pertinent as, in line with recent guidance, schools may choose to implement both types of intervention to meet differing needs (DfE, 2018).

In summary, most reviews combine studies across countries which is problematic due to the variable school curriculums, funding and wider systemic context. UK guidance discusses targeted and universal interventions for emotional well-being, allowing schools to choose what best fits. Reviews for UK-based studies were carried out some time ago; Cheney et al. (2014) reported on targeted interventions carried out before 2010, and for universal interventions, up to 2016. There was a lack of detail pertaining to the quality of included studies, for instance the scores for each paper, discussion of individual elements such as methods of assessment, and important issues of fidelity and replication were not addressed. There is no review which combines targeted and universal approaches despite both being considered essential by UK guidance, where schools are likely to require a combination to meet the differing and changing needs of their pupils. Mental health awareness and priority of adolescent wellbeing has increased in recent years as reflected in published guidance. In the last few years alone, self-reported well-being of young people has additionally shifted when compared to previous UK surveys, neighbouring countries, and during the Covid-19 pandemic. Curriculums are set to change in the UK, with increased requirements for schools to incorporate emotional well-being as a core part of the curriculum, with this being mandatory in Wales from 2022 (Welsh Government, 2021). Whilst schools will be able to select approaches that feel appropriate to their students' needs, there is an emphasis on the need for evidence-based practice. A review of the evidence for universal and targeted interventions in the UK from 2010 is therefore required with additional information regarding quality of studies, and elements relating to the replicability and implementation of such interventions.

#### Aims of the Current Review

This review aims to address the identified gap by compiling both targeted and universally delivered mental health interventions since 2010 within UK secondary schools. The review will address the following questions:

- How effective are secondary school-based interventions in the UK and how is the efficacy of these interventions being assessed?
- 2. What are the characteristics of these interventions?
- 3. What is the quality of reporting of these studies?

With these aims in mind, the review will describe the identified studies based on the following areas:

- 1. Type of mental health and wellbeing interventions (aims, theoretical underpinning).
- 2. Delivery of the interventions (method, sample, and facilitator characteristics).
- 3. Outcomes of these interventions and how they have been measured.

#### Method

#### **Study Selection**

The systematic review followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic review and Meta-Analysis Protocols (PRISMA-P) guidelines. The protocol for this review was registered in the international prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO; registration number CRD42021223942). The review set out to report the efficacy of school-based UK interventions including the study characteristics, methodology and reported barriers.

Eight electronic databases were selected based on coverage of topics relevant to the review question (ASSIA; British Education Index; ERIC; CINAHL; Medline; PsycInfo; Scopus and Web of Science).

#### **Other Data Sources**

Reference lists of identified studies were screened. Systematic reviews on mental health school-based interventions conducted across multiple countries were searched for UK-based studies.

#### Search Strategy

Search terms related to context (school-based setting), target area (mental health and emotional wellbeing), population (adolescence) and location (UK based schools only). Choice of databases and search terms were discussed with a university subject librarian over several meetings. Limits were placed on the year of publication (2010-2021) and to searching titles and abstracts. Boolean operators were utilised, and final terms were:

(school\* OR classroom\*) AND (prevent\* OR intervention\* OR program\* OR course OR initiative\*) AND (psychol\* OR "mental health" OR emotion\* OR resilien\* OR depress\* OR anxi\* OR "at\*risk" OR stress OR well being OR well-being OR trauma OR "adverse childhood experience\*") AND (adolescen\* OR child\* OR youth OR "young person\*" OR "young people\*" OR teen\* OR pupil\* OR student\*) AND ("UK school\*" OR "United Kingdom" OR "Great Britain" OR British OR Britain OR England OR Scotland OR Wales OR "Northern Ireland" OR Scottish OR Welsh OR "Northern Irish")

#### **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

Inclusion criteria were:

- Interventions carried out primarily within the school day and on school premises
- Delivered within UK schools
- Delivered in a group format (i.e. a whole year, class or group of students)
- Intended to support mental health and emotional wellbeing factors as the primary outcome
- Intervention for pupils aged 11-18 (where the mean age fell between these ages)
- Reporting quantitative data

- Peer-reviewed article
- Published from 2010

Exclusion criteria were:

- Intervention primarily aimed at physical health, substance use, health conditions or behaviour
- Reporting qualitative data only
- Where the aims or method did not meet inclusion criteria

Studies returned using the above terms were exported into EndNote. Duplicates were identified and deleted. Titles and abstracts were screened against the inclusion criteria, and a second reviewer screened 10% of papers. Full texts of 81 articles were then obtained and marked against inclusion criteria. Sixteen randomly selected articles were looked at by the second reviewer, with 100% agreement at both points. One paper provided insufficient information to inform inclusion or exclusion criteria. The author was contacted but did not respond and therefore this paper was excluded from analysis. Fifteen papers met the inclusion criteria and numbers for all stages are shown in Figure 1. The Cochrane Handbook (Higgins et al., 2021) recommends that the areas of participants, interventions and outcomes are homogeneous, to undertake a meta-analysis. Whilst some studies were found to overlap in outcome measures for instance, this was often the only overlap, with differing interventions and participants. Due to the heterogeneity and variation across studies, a meta-analysis was not carried out.

#### **Extraction of Data**

Information extracted from the included studies related to:

- 1. Study characteristics (design, method of allocation and randomisation, control group type)
- 2. Population (universal or targeted groups, sample size, age range)

- 3. Intervention (intervention type, aim of intervention, duration, method of delivery, facilitator characteristics, assessment of fidelity)
- Outcome measures (primary measures, reliability, self- and/or third-party reports, data collection points and follow-up)
- Details to support replicability as assessed by the Template for Intervention Description and Replication checklist (TIDieR; Hoffmann et al., 2014)

#### Assessment of Quality

The Quality Assessment Tool for Studies of Diverse Designs (QATSDD; Sirriyeh et al., 2012) was used to assess quality of the included intervention articles. The 16-item checklist is suitable for evaluating studies of various designs and methodologies. Criteria relate to the theory and area of research, recruitment and sample, data collection and analysis, user involvement, and critical discussion of the study. All 16 items are used for mixed methods studies, 14 items apply to quantitative studies and 14 items apply to qualitative studies. Sirriyeh et al. (2012) provide a brief description for each potential score on an item. Scores range from 0-3 for each item, and therefore may range from 0-42 for quantitative or qualitative papers, and 0-48 on mixed methods papers. Higher scores indicate more complete reporting and quality. All items are weighted equally. To compare across papers, a percentage is calculated based on how many points of the maximum possible score were obtained (i.e., for a quantitative paper, 21/42 = 50%). An independent rater used the tool to evaluate four of the included papers with good level of agreement (k = 0.821).

### Results

Fifteen peer-reviewed articles met inclusion criteria (Figure 1) and a narrative synthesis of the data is provided below. Five of the reviewed articles were targeted interventions (Table 1) and ten were universally delivered (Table 2).

#### Figure 1

# PRISMA Flow Diagram of Study Selection Process. PRISMA, Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (Page et al., 2021).



# Table 2

# Characteristics of targeted intervention studies

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcome
Brown et al. (2019)	London, England	Feasibility two-arm cluster randomised controlled trial. Control: Waitlist.	Ten schools. 16-19 years Intervention: (n=72) Control: (n=83)	CBT workshop ("DISCOVER – How to Handle Stress"): Coping with personal and academic stressors including anxiety, coursework, family pressures. CBT psychoeducation, mindfulness, thought challenging, sleep hygiene, time management and problem solving. Video vignettes, workbooks and demonstrations of techniques supported the workshop.	One-day. Telephone follow ups of 20-30 minutes were offered one week later, and at two more points within a 12-week follow-up period. Delivered by 2 clinical psychologists and 1 assistant psychologist.	Depression: MFQ Anxiety: RCADS -anxiety subscale Emotional: RCADS full scale Well-Being: PQ-LES-Q and WEMWBS Baseline and 3-month follow-up.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison; Mean(SD) Improvements for: Depression* 20.3(11.9) vs 14.8(8.9); d = 0.27 Anxiety* 51.1(12.9) vs 45.2(10.8); d = 0.25 Quality of life** 0.6(0.1) vs 0.7(0.1); d = 0.36 Emotional symptoms* 51.7(12.9) vs 45.4(10.9); d = 0.28 Well-being** 42.9(8.1) vs 47.5(8.3); d = 0.46

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Chiumento et al. (2018)	North West England	Mixed methods pre- post- design within subjects. Control: None.	One school. 11-15 years. Intervention: (N=11).	Five Ways in Haven Green Space: Designing a greenspace at school. Five main aspects covering; Connect (to those around you and the natural environment), Be Active (engage in enjoyable physical activity), Take Notice (of the world around you and of your feelings), Keep Learning (to build confidence and have fun), Give (do something nice for a friend or stranger linking with the wider community).	Two-hour lessons, once a month over six months. Two horticulturists, and a CAMH psychotherapist with existing relationship to schools.	Wellbeing check cards, MWIA; Completed over 2 hours as a group, qualitatively assessed. Other measures completed but not reported on. Pre- and post- intervention.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison; Mean(SD). Improvement for: Wellbeing M = 28 vs M = 31 <sup>a</sup> .

Table 2 continued.

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Pluess et al. (2017)	East London, England	Mixed methods, two cohort non- randomised trial. Control: PSHE lessons as usual.	One school. 11-13 years (females) Intervention: 11-12 years (n=230). Control: 12-13 years (n=208).	SPARK resilience programme; Situation, Perception, Autopilot, Reaction and Knowledge using active CBT components. Hypothetical situations; noticing reactions and knowledge gained from experiences. Cognitive distortions, modifications and skills of assertiveness and problem solving. Students discuss 'resilience muscles' e.g., social supports and reflection of previous resilience and self-efficacy. Workbook provided.	Twelve sessions over 3-4 months. Teachers trained in the approach over two days and given a guidebook with session curriculum, DVDs of videos and presentation slides, session props.	Resilience: RS Depression: CESD Pre- post- intervention, 6- and 12-month follow- up.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison; Mean(SD). Improvement for: Resilience** 120.59(25.95) vs 125.92(27.31); d = .31 Decreased at 6 months* 123.18(26.49) Increased at 12 months** 123.92(27.43) Depression* 17.53(8.28) vs 16.30(9.25); d = .20 At six months* 16.20(9.28); d =25 Decreased at 12 months 17.20(10.55)

Table 2 continued.

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcome
Stallard   et al.   (2012) a	East Midlands and South West England	Cluster randomised controlled trial. Control: Attention control; Lessons as usual.	Eight schools. 12-16 years Intervention: (n=296). Attention control: (n=308). Usual school provision: (n=242).	Resourceful adolescent programme (based on CBT principles). Aims to address coping, thinking styles and emotion-regulation strategies.	Nine modules and two booster sessions, 50- 60 minutes each, over the academic year. Intervention: Two trained facilitators and schoolteacher. Facilitators received ongoing supervision. Attention control: Two facilitators and schoolteacher delivered PHSE lessons.	Depression: SMFQ Negative thinking: CATS, personal failure subscale Self-worth and acceptance: RSE Anxiety: RCADS, anxiety subscale Feeling valued in school: PSSM Additional measures included extent of bullying, alcohol consumption, drug use, thoughts and actions of self-harm.	Post-intervention comparison across arms (Intervention, AC, TAU); Mean(SD). Changes for: Depression 8.22(6.45) vs 6.81(5.70) vs 8.50(5.88) Negative thinking 8.18(10.48) vs 10.48(10.00) vs 10.63(9.94)
						Baseline, 6- and 12- month follow-up.	Self-worth 17.39(5.34) vs 16.93(5.65) vs 16.68(5.25) Anxiety 4.67(3.05) vs 5.18(3.12) vs 5.40(2.91)

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Weeks et al. (2017)	England	Mixed methods non- randomised trial. Control: Lessons as usual, received treatment after follow- up.	One school. 11-14 years (females). Intervention (n=19). Comparison (n=9).	Bespoke intervention, informed primarily by two other CBT interventions (Cool Connections with Cognitive Behaviour Therapy, and Anxiety: Cognitive Behaviour Therapy with Children and Young People).	Six lessons, weekly. Education psychologist (developer of intervention) and teaching assistant.	Anxiety: SCAS Negative thoughts: CATS Mood: SDQ Teacher report of anxiety: SAS-TR (pre- intervention) Pre- and post- intervention.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison. No significant differences across measures. Means and standard deviations not provided post-intervention.

Note. \* significant at p<0.05 level

\* significant at p<0.01 level

<sup>a</sup> Means and/or standard deviations not reported

AC, Attention control; CAMH, Child and Adolescent Mental Health; CATS, Children's Automatic Thoughts Scale; CESD, Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; MWIA, Mental Well Being Impact Assessment; MFQ, Mood and Feeling Questionnaire; PQ-LES, Paediatric Quality of Life Enjoyment and Satisfaction; PSSM, Psychological Sense of School Membership; RCADS, Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale; RS, Resilience Scale; RSE, Rosenberg Self Esteem Scale; SAS-TR, School Anxiety Scale – Teacher Report; SCAS,SDQ, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; Spence Children's Anxiety Scale; SMFQ, Short Mood and Feelings Questionnaire; TAU, Treatment/Lessons as usual; Wellbeing check cards, a local tool based upon the 7-item Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale; WEMWBS, Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale.

# Table 3

Characteristics of universal intervention studies

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Boniwell et al. (2016)	South- East London	Non- randomised pre- post- design, mixed methods. Control: PSHE lessons as usual, separate school.	Two schools. 11-12 years Intervention: (n=96). Control: (n=68).	Personal Well-Being Lesson scripted curriculum, covering the "scientific basis of happiness" focusing on positive emotions/experiences and positive relationships. Lessons involve introducing concepts, skills, role-plays and hands-on activities. Evidence-base for these provided in teacher scripts. Delivered through PowerPoint presentations, student handouts and student well-being diaries. Whole-school approach supported by discussions with management team, presentation to all staff during a staff training day, optional workshops to teachers and optional presentations advertised to all parents.	Eighteen lessons, fortnightly. Teachers. Five days of training; two days on 'adult well-being skills' and three on teaching these skills.	Life satisfaction: SLSS and MSLSS Emotional symptoms: PANAS-C Pre- and post- intervention.	Intervention vs Control comparison; Mean(SD). Changes for: Life Satisfaction Self**: 4.79(0.69) vs 4.94(0.68) School*: 3.99(0.98) vs 4.35(0.89) Friends**: 5.19(0.79) vs 5.06(0.83) Negative affect** 1.50(0.42) vs 1.82(0.66); d = .54

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Challen et al. (2014)	England	Non- randomised trial. Control: Lessons as usual.	16 secondary schools consisting of 78 workshop groups. 11-12 years Intervention: (n = 1000). Control: (n = 1844).	UK Resilience Program (UKRP) aiming to build resilience and promote realistic thinking and adaptive coping. Both cognitive-behavioural and problem- solving skills covered, including challenging thoughts and beliefs, assertiveness, negotiation, decision making and relation. Discussions, worksheets, and games were part of the workshops.	Eighteen hours over 4-8 months. Recommended up to 15 pupils per group. Teachers: Training not specified	Depression: CDI Anxiety: RCMAS Baseline, post- intervention, 12- and 24- month follow-up.	Intervention vs Control comparison; Mean(SD). Improvement for: Depression* 8.16(7.27) vs 8.32(7.21) Not sustained at 24 months: 7.95(7.74) vs 7.34(6.98) No significant effect found for anxiety or behavioural measures at any time.

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Eisenstein et al. (2019)	England and Channel Islands, UK	Pre- and post- within subjects design. Control: None.	Seven schools, London or South- East England (n=6) and the Channel Islands (n=1). 11-12 years Intervention: (N=455).	Developed based on a literature review of mental health education for school-aged children. Five areas covered; Myths, Facts and Stigma, Staying Well, Getting Help, and Helping Others. Assessed in a mixed methods feasibility study, qualitative feedback informed the revised syllabus. Additional worksheets and workbooks were given to students, plus information about mental health.	Five 40-minute lessons. Delivered by pairs of peer mentors, supported by school staff.	Emotional and behavioural difficulties: M&MS School climate: SCS Bespoke questionnaire around key skills, key terms, confidence to talk about mental health, knowledge of information and resources, readiness to support others and general feedback. Pre- and post- intervention.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison; Mean(SD). Improvement for: Emotional difficulties**: M = 6 vs M = 5.7 <sup>a</sup> d = .09 School climate**: M = 9.3 vs M = 8.8 <sup>a</sup> d = .21 77 pupils scored above cut-off pre-intervention, 38% (n=29) moved to "normal" range post- intervention.
Huppert and Johnson (2010)	UK	Non- randomised trial. Control: Lessons as usual.	Two all-male private schools. 14 - 15 years. Intervention: (n = 78). Control: (n = 56).	Mindfulness based intervention based on a programme developed by Kabat-Zinn and colleagues. These lessons covered the overall principles of mindfulness including awareness, acceptance, and mindful practices of bodily awareness, sounds and breathing. Videos were used to demonstrate practical value. A CD with three mindfulness exercises to complete outside of the classroom were given.	Four 40-minute lessons, weekly. Religious education teachers who practiced mindfulness and expressed interest in developing pupils' practice.	Resilience: ERS Well-being: WEMWBS Mindfulness: CAMS-R Personality: TIPI Baseline and one-week post-intervention.	Intervention vs Control comparison. Improvement for: Wellbeing* <sup>a</sup>

Table 3 continued.	
--------------------	--

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Kuyken et al. (2013)	UK	Non- randomised controlled trial. Control: Lessons as usual.	Twelve schools of varying type. 12-16 years. Intervention: (n = 256). Control: (n = 266).	Mindfulness in Schools Programme (MiSP); Developed over four years with teacher and student feedback. Developed in line with mindfulness-based stress reduction, mindfulness-based cognitive therapy and reviews of school-based mental health and wellbeing programmes. Explicit teaching of skills and attitudes using interactive and experiential methods. Course booklet and CD or audio files with exercises.	Nine lessons. Teachers who had received training or were involved with programme development. All taught the programme for a minimum of one year.	Wellbeing: WEMBWS Mental Health: PSS Depression: CES-D Mindfulness practice using five questions. Pre-, post-intervention and 2 - 3-month follow- up.	Intervention vs Control comparison; Mean(SD): Depression** 14.3 (3.5) vs 15.4 (4.0) At 3 months** 14.6(3.7) vs 15.6(4.6) Wellbeing 50.1(7.7) vs 48.8(8.6) At 3 months* 50.0(7.9) vs 48.7(10.0) Stress 17.4(3.8) vs 16.8(4.7) At 3 months* 17.1(6.2) vs 17.7(7.2) Impact of practice on scores of well-being** and stress*.

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Platt et. al. (2020)	North West England	Pre- and post- within subjects. Control: None.	Fourteen schools. 11-18 years. Intervention: (n=1054).	Positive Psychology Intervention; Covering happiness, resilience, character strengths, hope, growth mindsets, gratitude, and mindfulness. Workbook to support students.	Eight lessons. Single researcher supported by undergraduate and MSc psychology students.	Well-Being: WHO-5 Hope: CHS Academic resilience: BUSS Pre- and post- intervention.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison; Mean(SD). Improvement for: Wellbeing* 12.47(5.43) vs 12.94(5.95) Hope** 20.32(6.76) vs 21.64(6.89) Resilience** 36.63(7.03) vs 37.23(6.44)
Proctor et al. (2011)	Cheshire, and Channel Islands UK	Non- randomised trial. Control: Lessons as usual.	Two schools. 12-14 years. Intervention: (n=218). Control: (n=101).	Strengths-Gym based on positive psychology principles and the 'Values In Action' classification. Discussions, activities ('Strengths Builders' and 'Strengths Challenges') and real-work activities to apply this practically. Exercises differ across year group though intended to be equivalent and age appropriate. Exercises were allowed to be flexible i.e., students to complete alone on in groups depending flexibly based teacher choice. Workbooks and handouts on character strengths for students, principles of the programme and aims of the 'builder' and 'challenges' exercises for facilitators.	Twenty-four sessions to be completed in minutes as a group, or as a whole lesson, over six months. Teacher delivered.	Well-being: SLSS Affect: PANAS Self-Esteem: RSE Life satisfaction: SLSS Pre- and post- intervention.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison; Mean(SD). Improvement for: Life satisfaction*, wellbeing, self-esteem, positive affect*, and negative affect <sup>a</sup> .

Table 3 continued.

Author	Location/ Country	Study Design	Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes
Punukollu et al. (2020)	J Scotland	Mixed- methods within subjects. Control: None.	One school. 11-17 years Intervention: (n=72).	SafeSpot intervention to promote resilience and wellbeing through awareness of mental health and coping strategies. Includes peer support through older pupils during lunchtime drop-ins. A mobile application gave personalised coping strategies, audio relaxation, access to a safety plan, contacts for crisis services and a social media stream for mental health awareness.	Within PHSE lessons. Teacher delivered.	Mood: HADS Distress: COD Pre-intervention and 3-month follow-up.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison; Mean(SD). Improvement for: Mood: 10.70(6.20 vs 9.0(5.21) 18% (n=13) showed a significant change from "clinical" to "low" or "borderline" change.
Rice et 3 al. (2015)	South East of England	Non- randomised longitudinal. Three intervention conditions. Control: Lessons as usual.	Three schools; separate intervention in each. 13-14 years. Intervention: TRY (n=50), CBT (n=53), MBCT (n=54). PHSE (n=99 over three schools).	<ul> <li>Three manualised interventions, all developed for the study based around:</li> <li>1. Thinking about Reward in Young people (TRY): CBT and behavioural activation, focusing on reward processing.</li> <li>2.Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT).</li> <li>3. Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy (MBCT).</li> </ul>	Weekly, 50 minutes during PSHE lessons. Educational Psychologists delivered.	Mood: MFQ Attitudes: DASC Baseline and nine-week follow-up.	Post-intervention comparison across arms (TRY, MBCT, CBT, TAU); Mean(SD). Changes for: Depression TRY*; 3.79(5.09) MBCT*; 6.46(6.09) CBT; 5.29(5.72) TAU; 4.93(4.77)

Author	thor Location/ Study Sample Country Design		Sample	Intervention	Delivery and Facilitators	Measures and Collection Time Points	Quantitative Outcomes		
Wigels- worth et al (2013)	England	Non- randomised quasi- experimental trial. Control: Schools not involved in SEAL (curriculum as usual).	41 secondary schools. 11-12 years. Intervention: (n=2442). Control: (n=2001).	Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL) programme. Whole-school approach promoting mental health and well-being. Assemblies, class exercises and prompts to involve the wider community are included. Four key components of: School ethos, direct teaching of skills (social skills and empathy, managing feelings and motivation), creating a supportive classroom environment and continued staff development. Flexibility in components chosen sees variability in implementation.	Whole-school approach with classroom activities. Teachers and teaching assistants delivered.	Emotional and behavioural difficulties: SDQ Two-year follow-up.	Pre-, post-intervention comparison of high-risk pupils; Mean(SD). Emotional symptoms: 5.16(2.36) vs 5.31(2.50) Behavioural symptoms: 3.67(1.91) vs 3.97(2.09)		

*Note*. \* significant at the p<0.05 level

\*\* significant at the p<0.01 level

<sup>a</sup> means and/or standard deviations not reported.

BUSS, Bolton-Uni Stride Scale; CAMS-R, Cognitive and Affective Mindfulness Scale Revised; CDI, Child Depression Inventory; CES-D, Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale; CHS, Children's Hope Scale; COD, Mitchell-Punukollu Causes of Distress Scale; DASC, Dysfunctional Attitudes Scale for Children; ERS, Ego-Resiliency Scale; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale; M&MS, Me and My School Questionnaire; MSLSS, Multidimensional Students' Life Satisfaction Scale; PANAS-C, Positive and Negative Affect Schedule for Children; PSS, Perceived Stress Scale; RCMAS, Revised Children's Manifest Anxiety Scale; RSE, Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale; SCS, School Climate Survey; SDQ, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; SLSS, Students Life Satisfaction Scale; TIPI, Ten-Item Personality Inventory; WEMWBS, Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well Being Scale; WHO-5, World-Health Organisation-Five.

# Table 4.

Quality Assessment Scores for Targeted and Universal Intervention Studies Using the Quality Assessment Tool for Studies of Diverse Designs (QATSDD)

	Targeted							Universal							
QATSDD Item	Brown et al. (2019)	Chium- ento et al. (2018)	Pleuss et al. (2017)	Stallard et al. (2012)	Weeks et al. (2017)	Boniw- ell et al. (2016)	Challen et al. (2014)	Eisenst ein et al. (2019)	Hupp- ert and John- son (2010)	Kuyken et al. (2013)	Platt et al. (2020)	Proctor et al. (2011)	Punuk- ollu et al. (2020)	Rice et al. (2015)	Wigel- sworth et al. (2013)
Explicit theoretical framework	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	1	3	3	1	2	3
Statement of aims/objectives in main body of report	3	3	2	2	3	3	2	3	2	3	3	3	3	3	2
Clear description of research setting	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3
Evidence of sample size considered in terms of analysis	3	1	0	3	1	0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3
Representative sample of target group of a reasonable size	2	1	2	3	1	1	2	3	1	2	0	3	2	1	3
Description of procedure for data collection	3	3	3	3	2	1	3	2	3	3	3	2	3	3	3
Rationale for choice of data collection tool(s)	3	2	3	1	3	1	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3
Detailed recruitment data	3	1	3	2	3	3	3	2	2	2	1	2	2	2	1
Statistical assessment of reliability and validity of measurement tool(s) (Quantitaive only)	1	0	2	0	0	3	1	1	2	1	1	2	3	2	0

			Targeted							Univ	rsal				
QATSDD Item	Brown et al. (2019)	Chium- ento et al. (2018)	Pleuss et al. (2017)	Stallar d et al. (2012)	Weeks et al. (2017)	Boniwe Il et al. (2016)	Challen et al. (2014)	Eisenst ein et al. (2019)	Hupp- ert and John- son (2010)	Kuyken et al. (2013)	Platt et al. (2020)	Proctor et al. (2011)	Punu- kollu et al. (2020)	Rice et al. (2015)	Wigel- sworth et al. (2013)
Fit between stated research question and method of data collection (Quantitative only)	3	2	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	3	2	3	1	2	3
Fit between stated research question and format and content of data collection tool e.g. interview schedule (Qualitative only)	N/a	2	2	N/a	2	2	N/a	N/a	N/a	N/a	N/a	N/a	1	N/a	N/a
Fit between research question and method of analysis (Quantitative only)	3	2	2	3	3	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	2	2	3
Good justification for analytic method selected	2	0	3	2	1	2	3	3	2	2	3	3	3	2	3
Assessment of reliability of analytic process (Qualitative only)	N/a	2	2	N/a	0	0	N/a	N/a	N/a	N/a	N/a	N/a	1	N/a	N/a
Evidence of user involvement in design	3	0	0	0	0	1	0	3	0	2	2	0	0	0	1
Strengths and limitations critically discussed	2	3	3	2	2	1	2	2	2	3	2	3	2	1	2
Percentage Score	37/42 88%	28/48 58%	36/42 86%	30/42 71%	29/48 60%	29/48 60%	33/42 79%	31/42 74%	28/42 67%	30/42 71%	28/42 67%	33/42 79%	30/48 63%	25/42 60%	33/42 79%

*Note.* Scores are given from 0-3, with higher scores indicating more complete reporting.

## Table 5

# Significant changes on primary outcome measures of mental health and wellbeing, for targeted interventions

Author	Primary Aim			Outcomes Assessed for Mental Health and Wellbeing <sup>a</sup>						
		Depression	Anxiety	Emotional Difficulties	Life Satisfaction	Behavioural Difficulties	Quality of Life	Wellbeing	Resilience	Mindfulness
Brown et al. (2019)	Depressive and anxious symptoms									
Chiumento et al. (2018)	Wellbeing							$\longleftrightarrow$		
Pluess et al. (2017)	Depressive symptoms and resilience	•							•	
Stallard et al. (2012)	Depressive symptoms	$\longleftrightarrow$	$\longleftrightarrow$						$\longleftrightarrow$	
Weeks et al. (2017)	Anxious symptoms		$\longleftrightarrow$	$\leftrightarrow$						

<sup>*a*</sup> Positive or negative changes post-intervention include significant results only
# Table 6

Significant changes on primary outcome measures of mental health and wellbeing, for universal interventions

Author	Primary Aim	Outcomes Assessed for Mental Health and Wellbeing <sup>a</sup>								
		Depression	Anxiety	Emotional Difficulties	Life Satisfaction	Behavioural Difficulties	Quality of Life	Wellbeing	Resilience	Mindfulness
Boniwell et al. (2016)	Wellbeing			1						
Challen et al. (2014)	Depressive symptoms			$\longleftrightarrow$		$ \Longleftrightarrow $				
Eisenstein et al. (2019)	Mental health			•		$\longleftrightarrow$				
Huppert and Johnson (2010)	Wellbeing							•	$ \Longleftrightarrow $	$\Leftrightarrow$
Kuyken et al. (2013)	Mental health	•						1		
Platt et. al. (2020)	Improve wellbeing									
Proctor et al. (2011)	Life satisfaction and wellbeing			$\longleftrightarrow$				$\leftrightarrow$		
Punukollu et al. (2020)	Emotional distress			$\longleftrightarrow$						
Rice et al. (2015)	Depressive symptoms	TRY: 🔶								
		CBT:								
Wigels- worth et al (2013)	Emotional and behavioural difficulties	MBC1:		$\longleftrightarrow$		$\longleftrightarrow$				

#### **Overall Quality Across Universal and Targeted Interventions**

In the last ten years, a range of school-based interventions for mental health have been published. However, given the increased focus on mental health and school intervention in the UK, the number of peer-reviewed studies is low. The reviewed studies varied greatly in their theoretical approach and the area of wellbeing aiming to support. A lack of consistency in how implementation and outcomes were assessed limit the replicability and comparisons of such studies. There were largely no long-term follow up points or active control groups which limit conclusions of effectiveness.

Details regarding recruitment of schools, pupils, and attrition rates inclusive of sample characteristics was insufficient in many studies. Mixed-methods studies would especially benefit from more detailed reporting on interviews and analysis. Positive outcomes were noted across studies. Through flexibility in intervention exposure, a lack of formal checks on exposure given and on adherence, there was an evident gap in knowledge of what dosage may be required to facilitate change.

Areas consistently weakest across study types were recruitment, attrition, procedural elements, sample characteristics, evidence of user involvement in design and the information given around qualitative methods. Targeted intervention papers critically discussed more aspects of their study design, analysis, sample and key strengths and weaknesses. Overall, studies were inconsistent in their reporting and whilst positive comparisons were seen in the majority, omission of the above details and checks limits possible conclusions.

#### **Effectiveness of Interventions**

Three targeted, and nine universal, intervention studies reported some improvement in at least one domain measured, or comparatively worse scores for those in control groups compared to baseline (excluding targeted interventions Stallard et al., 2012; Weeks et al., 2017, and universal intervention Wigelsworth et al., 2013). Only two targeted interventions (Pluess et al., 2017; Stallard et al., 2012) reported long term follow ups although used different outcome measures. Pluess et al. (2017) reported on active CBT and found sustained improvements for resilience but not depression. Stallard et al. discussed the CBT based resourceful adolescent programme and found worse outcomes for depression at 12 months. The authors discussed whether greater awareness postintervention underpinned this effect. Pluess et al. (2017) utilised a resilience programme with active CBT components and Stallard et al. used a traditional CBT intervention. Of targeted interventions, both Brown et al. (2019) and Pluess et al. (2017) scored well on overall quality (88% and 86% respectively). Brown et al. (2019) demonstrated good effect sizes (d = 0.25 to 0.46) at a three-month follow-up. Pluess et al. (2017) showed improvements in resilience scores at 12 months. Whilst depressive symptoms had sustained an improvement at 6 months (d = 0.20), this was not found at 12 months although the control group scored significantly worse compared to baseline.

The two universal studies to not find sustained or improved outcomes (Challen et al., 2014; Wigelsworth et al., 2013) were the only ones to report on outcomes beyond a three-month period. The three interventions reporting up until three months all demonstrated improvements at the final timepoint on various measures of well-being (Kuyken et al., 2013; QATSDD score 71%), mood (Punukollu et al., 2020; QATSDD score 63%) and depressive symptoms in one intervention only (TRY; Rice et al., 2015; QATSDD score 60%). This is interesting given that students in universal interventions are likely to score within non-clinical ranges of outcome measures and therefore hold less scope for improvements to be seen (Mackenzie & Williams, 2018). The use of controls in seven of the ten universal studies reviewed however do help to support their effectiveness, although scores were low generally and similar to study controls (Table 3). However, there was a lack of longterm follow up across most studies. If universal interventions aim to reduce the risk of developing difficulties, comparisons with the control cohort overtime would support the testing of these interventions and their preventative efficacy.

#### Quality Assessment

The Quality Assessment Tool for Studies of Diverse Designs (QATSDD; Sirriyeh et al., 2012) was used to rate studies as shown in Table 4. For targeted interventions, overall scores ranged from 58% to 88% (M = 72.6, SD = 12.58) with two papers scoring above 80% (Brown et al., 2019; Pluess et al., 2017) and one below 60% (Chiumento et al., 2018). Across the ten universal intervention papers, scores ranged from 60% to 79% (M = 69.90, SD = 7.26). Five studies scored above 70% (Challen et al., 2014; Eisenstein et al., 2019; Kuyken et al., 2013; Proctor et al, 2011; Wigelsworth et al., 2013) and two scored 60% (Boniwell et al., 2016; Rice et al., 2015). Additional details regarding quality are given in the relevant sections pertaining to assessment of intervention design and analysis.

## **Study Characteristics**

#### Study design

Characteristics of included articles are detailed in Table 1 and Table 2. Of the targeted interventions, two were randomised control trials (Brown et al., 2019; Stallard et al., 2012) and three were non-randomised (Chiumento et al., 2018; Pluess et al., 2017; Weeks et al., 2017). All three non-randomised studies utilised a mixed methods approach. Chiumento et al. (2018) was the only targeted intervention that did not include a comparison group. Brown et al. (2019) used a waitlist comparison who were subsequently given the intervention. Stallard et al. (2012) used an attentional control, plus lessons as usual.

Evidence of service user involvement within targeted intervention studies was only reported in Brown et al. (2019) where the intervention was co-produced with adolescents. Five universal interventions had some degree of service user involvement (Boniwell et al., 2016; Eisenstein et al., 2019; Kuyken et al., 2013; Platt et al., 2020; Wigelsworth et al., 2013). Eisenstein et al. (2019) held co-production sessions with adolescents and Kuyken et al. (2013) had devised the intervention over four years with 200 teachers and over 2,000 young people but did not detail how students had been involved in these changes. Boniwell et al. (2016) stated teacher involvement but gave no further information.

Scores were variable on demonstrating a representative sample of the target population. For a representative sample to be shown, both details of the target population and demographic data were needed. Two targeted intervention studies did not give moderate or complete information to assess this (Chiumento et al., 2018; Weeks et al., 2017) and neither did four universal studies (Boniwell et al., 2016; Huppert and Johnson, 2010; Platt et al., 2020; Rice et al., 2015).

#### Sample Size

Only two targeted interventions gave explicit consideration of the sample size required for their analysis to be sufficiently powered (Brown et al., 2019; Stallard et al., 2012), and two universal interventions (Challen et al., 2014; Wigelsworth et al., 2013). Of all fifteen studies, nine did not report any information for this area (60%) and two demonstrated some consideration such as acknowledging the limitations of a small sample (Chiumento et al., 2018; Weeks et al., 2017). Several studies were piloting interventions which may have impacted their inclusion of such details (Brown et al., 2019, Chiumento et al., 2018, Boniwell et al., 2016, Kuyken et al., 2013, Punukollu et al., 2020).

Information on recruitment including method were largely good with only two papers missing substantial information, namely on attrition (Chiumento et al., 2018; Platt et al., 2020). Complete information was reported by five papers, three targeted interventions (Brown et al., 2019; Pluess et al., 2017; Weeks et al., 2017) and two universal studies (Boniwell et al., 2016; Challen et al., 2014). These included the number originally recruited and those who did not return measures, with additional information such as differences in demographic data where possible. Only Brown et al. (2019) recruited through self-referral or students encouraged by their teachers and was facilitated with the oldest age group reviewed in this paper (sixth form students). Most of the studies gathered limited demographic data at baseline which may have provided insight into discrepancies between intervention and control participants in the rates of attrition and whether samples were significantly different in these areas. Proctor et al. (2011) cited a failure of some teachers to hand out questionnaires as a large part of attrition, while Eisenstein et al. (2019) reported that 53% of students returned both the pre-, and post-intervention questionnaires (n = 455) although it is unclear what factors may have contributed to this.

## **Data Collection**

Complete information was recorded if there were explicit details for each stage of gathering data and how this was done, such as giving paper questionnaires at the end of an intervention lesson or who facilitated data collection. All but one targeted intervention fulfilled this. Weeks et al. (2017) gave moderate information which included when measures were completed, who completed a focus group, and not contacting comparison group, but did not detail how measures were administered or collected and whether researchers or school staff were part of this process. Universal intervention studies were generally awarded the highest score although Eisenstein et al. (2019) and Proctor et al. (2013) required additional information in the above areas, with Boniwell et al. (2016) giving minimal details.

# **Types of Intervention**

Interventions aimed to prevent worsening emotional symptoms, or to promote and improve well-being, resilience, and mindfulness. Four out of five targeted interventions were underpinned by CBT principles. Universal interventions showed wider variability and greater focus on positive psychology and mindfulness theories. All targeted intervention studies reported an explicit theoretical framework. Pluess et al. (2017) and Stallard et al. (2012) gave broad aims and objectives, while the other targeted interventions reported explicit objectives within the body of the paper. Two universal intervention papers provided limited reference to the theoretical framework (Kuyken et al., 2013; Punukollu et al., 2020). Details of aims and objectives were broad, but not explicit, in Challen et al. (2014), Huppert and Johnson (2010) and Wigelsworth et al. (2013) and all others were explicit. Of the four targeted interventions using CBT principles, these were targeting stress management and anxiety (Brown et al., 2019; Weeks et al., 2017), coping and regulation (Stallard et al., 2012) and resilience (Pluess et al., 2017). Chiumento et al. (2018) drew on ideas from therapeutic horticulture, attention restoration and stress reduction theories, focusing on well-being for those with emotional, social and behavioural difficulties. Of the ten universally delivered interventions, positive psychology theories underpinned three of these (Boniwell et al., 2016; Platt et al., 2020; Proctor et al., 2011) and mindfulness two (Huppert & Johnson, 2010; Kuyken, et al., 2013). One was underpinned by cognitive behavioural and social problem-solving (Challen et al., 2014) and another by social and emotional aspects of learning (SEAL; Wigelsworth et al., 2013). Rice et al. (2015) compared three interventions of Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy, CBT focusing on reward processing and behavioural activation, and traditional CBT. Eisenstein et al. (2019) drew on mental health education and peer support literature. One article was unclear (Punukollu et al., 2020).

#### **Facilitator Characteristics**

Two of the targeted interventions involved schoolteachers (Pluess et al., 2017; Stallard et al., 2012). Pluess et al. (2017) provided two days of training with a guidebook and curriculum materials. Stallard et al. (2012) imply that external facilitators delivered the intervention and received training and supervision, while teachers supported classroom management. However, the extent of teacher involvement was not reported. Interventions were otherwise delivered by programme developers or trained allied health professionals (Brown et al., 2019; Chiumento et al., 2018; Weeks et al., 2017).

Training for facilitators of universal interventions ranged from two days for peer educators (Eisenstein, 2019), and for teachers, five days (Boniwell et al., 2016) to ten days (Challen et al., 2014). Kuyken et al. (2013) delivered the mindfulness intervention through teachers who had either helped to develop the programme or were given training. Numbers in each group and length of training was not detailed. One intervention was facilitated by an educational psychologist with

additional training (Rice et al., 2015). Five studies did not report on training (Huppert & Johnson, 2010; Platt et al., 2020; Proctor et al., 2011; Punukollu et al., 2020; Wigelsworth et al., 2013).

#### **Intervention Exposure**

Of targeted interventions, exposure ranged from weekly sessions for six weeks (Weeks et al., 2017) to twelve hours of intervention over four months (Pluess et al., 2017) or six months (Chiumento et al., 2018). Brown et al. (2019) was conducted over a one full day. While all took place within the school, Chiumento et al. (2018) facilitated the intervention in a horticultural school space.

Universal interventions varied from four 40-minute sessions, once per week (Huppert and Johnson, 2010) to 24 sessions over six months (Proctor et al., 2011). Proctor et al. (2011) detailed that the activities could be flexible in length and estimated 50% of lessons would be carried out (see *Fidelity*). Wigelsworth et al. (2013) evaluated a whole-school approach which was also problematic in quantifying exposure. Boniwell et al. (2016) and Challen et al. (2014) both delivered 18 lessons of intervention. Boniwell et al. (2016) reported these as fortnightly, and Challen et al. (2014) cited curriculum and timetabling differences across schools, with variable frequency (i.e., 18 hours of lessons could be split into twelve 90-minute lessons).

# Fidelity

Three of five targeted interventions reported details regarding fidelity which was mostly described in terms of completed manualised components. Brown et al. (2019) asked workshop facilitators to rate if tasks were delivered. Pluess et al. (2017) observed a subset of teachers on completed tasks and children's engagement but was not formally assessed. Stallard et al. (2012) report scoring whether core tasks were covered in 5% (n=36) of provided classes. None reported results in terms of the extent to which facilitators were faithful to the content.

Three of ten universal interventions reported details of assessing implementation. Challen et al. (2014) used a quality score for each facilitator based on whether the number of pupils in a

workshop exceeded guidance, how many hours were dedicated to the workshops compared to the minimum hours required, and scores given by the trainers on their impressions of workshop facilitators during training. Rice et al. (2015) stated facilitators received supervision to aid fidelity. Supplementary information stated an independent rater assessed adherence of 'early', and 'late', intervention sessions although how many were rated was not reported. A checklist was created for this assessment across adherence, and facilitator and adolescent engagement although items were not reported. Proctor et al. (2011) reported that teachers recorded completion of the 24 lessons outlined, with a range of 3-12 lessons completed within the six-month period. This was not expanded on with respect to impact on outcomes or whether certain activities were included more often than others. Across studies, little information was provided regarding fidelity.

## **Outcome Measurement**

# **Quantitative Data**

Wigelsworth et al. (2013) reported using one measure, thirteen studies used between two and four measures, and Stallard et al. (2012) described five main outcome measures across emotional symptoms and feelings towards school, with additional questions including bullying and substance use.

There was little overlap between studies in the outcome measures used, which may reflect the diversity of interventions. The Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (WEMBS) was the most reported, in four studies. The Mood and Feelings Questionnaire was used in three studies, of which one used the short version. The Centre for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) appeared in two studies, as did the Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale, the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire and Student Life Satisfaction Scale. Four studies reported using additional bespoke measures (Eisenstein et al., 2019, Kuyken et al., 2013; Punukollu et al., 2020; Stallard et al., 2012). Chiumento et al. (2018) interviewed teachers post-intervention but did not report on the aim or results of this. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (teacher version), and two more childfocused methods, were stated but not described, nor reported on. Only one study (Weeks et al., 2017) reported the use of a third-party measure however this was used pre-intervention, and post-intervention for one participant only.

Fit between the research question and method of data collection for quantitative methods was assessed as adequate or higher across all but one study (Punukollu et al., 2020) which used an unvalidated measure not assessing outcomes, and only one measure assessing anxiety and depression symptoms without referring to its suitability for a younger population. Universal intervention papers were more likely to report an assessment of reliability for outcomes measures, at each time-point. However, reporting on the reliability and validity of measurement tools was generally poor across both types of studies. Three out of five targeted studies did not report any information (Chiumento et al., 2018; Stallard et al., 2012; Weeks et al., 2017), and five out of ten universal studies either reported no information or did not assess the reliability within their sample (Challen et al., 2014; Eisenstein et al., 2019; Kuyken et al., 2013; Platt et al., 2020; Wigelsworth et al., 2013).

All studies reported moderate or complete information on method of analysis for quantitative data. Those scoring highest provided greater reference to the aims, sample (e.g., size and attrition) and if there were limitations, for both targeted (Brown et al., 2019; Stallard et al., 2012; Weeks et al., 2017) and universal interventions (Proctor et al., 2015; Wigelsworth et al., 2013). For justification of the analytical method chosen, those scoring highest referred to the literature and whether data met assumptions for specific tests. Universal intervention studies fulfilled this more often (60%) compared to targeted intervention studies (20%). Overall, this was reported moderately or completely in all studies, excluding Chiumento et al. (2018) and Weeks et al. (2017).

Two targeted interventions measured outcomes only at pre- and post-intervention (Chiumento et al., 2018; Weeks et al., 2017), Brown et al. (2019) up to three months later, while Pluess et al. (2017) and Stallard et al. (2012) completed six and twelve month follow ups. Five of the ten universal interventions did not assess outcomes beyond one-week post-intervention (Boniwell et al., 2016; Eisenstein et al., 2019; Huppert & Johnson, 2018; Platt et al., 2020; Proctor et al., 2018). Three studies collection data up to three months post-intervention (Kuyken et al., 2013; Punukollu et al., 2020; Rice et al., 2015). Challen et al. (2014) conducted a 12 and 24 month follow up and Wigelsworth et al. (2013) conducted a two-year follow-up.

Across this area, the targeted interventions performing consistently higher were Brown et al. (2019) and Pluess et al. (2017), although Brown et al. (2019) did require further assessment of the reliability of measurements used within their sample. For universal interventions, Proctor et al. (2011) gave moderate or complete information across all areas. Challen et al. (2014) and Wigelsworth et al. (2013) achieved this in all but one area, receiving a lower score for a lack of detail on the reliability and validity of measurement tools used.

## **Qualitative Data**

Five studies utilised a mixed-methods approach for assessing outcomes. Chiumento et al. (2018) used a modified qualitative wellbeing impact assessment with students to assess outcomes. Pluess et al. (2017) and Punukollu et al. (2020) interviewed teachers using a focus group and semistructured interviews, respectively. Boniwell et al. (2016) conducted semi-structured interviews with four students, two teachers and a headteacher. Weeks et al. (2017) conducted semi-structured interviews with school staff and pupils, and a focus group for parents, although numbers within each group were not reported. Only Pluess et al. (2017) detailed the full questions used.

Scores were low for the QATSDD on questions relating to qualitative elements. There was insufficient information rather than observed methodological issues with the choice of data collection and analysis. For example, Punukollu et al. (2020) reported hour long interviews without and only reported on two questions making it hard to assess its appropriateness. In detailing the assessment of reliability for qualitative methods, no studies reported complete information (e.g., several raters and assessment of agreement), and two studies did not report any information (Boniwell et al., 2016; Weeks et al., 2017).

#### Replicability

The TIDieR checklist (Hoffmann et al., 2014) was used to assess and report on where information can be found within each intervention paper for the relevant item (e.g., rationale, materials, adaptations). Full details for each paper are in Appendix B and C. A score of completeness for reporting was calculated for each paper, and for each individual checklist item. For both intervention types, the amount of detail was variable and while page numbers reporting information for an item are given, this often included some but not all aspects of an item. For example, reporting on facilitator profession but not on training was common. All papers reported the name of the intervention and provided some rationale.

Within targeted intervention studies, all studies gave some details around the setting, facilitators, mode of delivery and dosage. Information around the intervention materials were detailed in two studies (Brown et al., 2019; Pluess et al., 2017) and activities in three (Brown et al., 2019; Chiumento et al., 2018; Pluess et al., 2017). Additional information for materials, where reported, are detailed in Appendix B and C. None of the targeted studies reported planned or actual modifications, one reported planned fidelity checks (Pluess et al., 2017) and two reported actual checks (Pluess et al., 2017; Stallard et al., 2012). Overall, papers ranged from reporting on 50% to 83% of items with Pluess et al. (2017) scoring highest.

For the ten universal approaches, partial or complete information were found in most studies regarding setting (70%), facilitators (90%), mode of delivery (80%), intervention activities (80%) and dosage (80%). Some materials were briefly described or gave minimal examples and only four studies provided information to where materials could be accessed (Challen et al., 2014; Proctor et al., 2011; Punukollu et al., 2020; Wigelsworth et al., 2013). One study reported on planned adaptations (Punukollu et al., 2020) and one reported on actual modifications (Platt et al., 2020). For assessing implementation, only two studies reported planned fidelity checks (Rice et al., 2015; Wigelsworth et al., 2013) and two on actual fidelity (Challen et al., 2014; Wigelsworth et al., 2013). Overall reporting of items ranged from 33% to 83%, with four reporting 67%, one reporting 75% and another reporting 83%. The lowest scoring paper did reference an additional source but did not include key information about the intervention within the paper or appendices itself (Punukollu et al., 2020).

## Discussion

The aim of this review was to summarise the state of evidence for group-based mentalhealth interventions, taking place within the school day in the UK. This is first of such reviews to be conducted on both targeted and universal intervention types. Evidence relating to the interventions, assessment, and outcomes were reviewed. Additional areas of fidelity, replication and inclusion of such details for school-based staff and researchers were included which is novel for UK-based studies to date.

## Interventions

Across the fifteen studies included, ten were universally delivered and may reflect a shift towards preventative mental health in recent years. Of the targeted intervention studies, intervention sample sizes ranged from 11 to 296. The areas of focus also varied considerably, for example, young people with high-risk for depression, anxiety, and those demonstrating social and emotional difficulties. Universal interventions tended to include larger samples (N = 134 – 2844) and most included those in early adolescence. As wellbeing is reported to significantly decrease between 11 and 14 this may be an opportune time to intervene (NHS Digital, 2018). Across all studies, facilitators ranged from school staff, educational psychologists, and external health professionals. There was little detail around training and supervision given despite its importance (O'Reilly et al., 2018). Two universal interventions described flexibility to intervention delivery length (Proctor et al., 2011; Wigelsworth et al., 2013) which may be helpful for school staff who are faced with many pressures (DfE, 2018). However, stricter assessment of these types of interventions were needed to understand dosage in relation to outcomes and what may be required for schools wishing to implement these interventions. Methods to assess fidelity to treatment protocols were often not cited and are needed to aid understanding of whether an intervention itself was effective or if certain external factors and variable delivery impact on outcomes (Bruhn et al., 2015; Reinke et al., 2021). Studies did not assess teacher or facilitator variables, which include a teacher's own levels of burnout that can be an important factor, impacting on amount of intervention delivery (Swift et al., 2017).

## **Assessment and Outcomes**

There was a lack of consistency in outcome measures used despite interventions having overlapping aims in terms of reducing symptoms of depression, anxiety and well-being, and improving well-being, although this reflects other reviews of school-based mental health interventions (Werner-Seidler et al., 2017). Utilising the same outcome measures deemed appropriate for an adolescent population would support the comparisons of such interventions, and different approaches across similar settings. Many studies reported improvements on measures although eleven only collected data post-intervention, or within a three-month follow-up, and the efficacy reported is undermined by a lack of knowledge on sustainment. Only two of the ten universal intervention studies reported beyond a three-month period which is noteworthy considering the aims of these are often preventative, where cohort comparisons overtime would better support results. Of these two universal interventions, improvements were either not sustained (Challen et al., 2014) or not found (Wigelsworth et al., 2013). Whilst reporting quality was generally found to be higher for these two studies, and reported longer follow ups, they were also two studies which were flexible in the amount of intervention exposure given and did not consider this in analysis of outcomes observed. The lack of comparisons groups using alternative interventions limits the conclusions that can be drawn about an interventions effect on students

versus placebo (Boot et al., 2013). Two targeted interventions completed longer follow-ups, both six and twelve months (Pluess et al., 2017; Stallard et al., 2012) where improvements were seen. Pluess et al. (2017) highlighted comparatively worse scores from baseline for those who did not receive an intervention, with high reporting quality, one of few papers to consider measuring adherence of facilitators to the protocol and the highest degree of information for replicability (of a targeted intervention) as measured by the TIDieR checklist. This may indicate that the SPARK resilience programme is a viable targeted intervention for schools to deliver. Brown et al. (2019) also provided three-month follow-ups with good effect sizes across all measures, the highest quality assessment score across all studies, and an adequate degree of replicability for the 'DISCOVER' workshop.

Eisenstein et al. (2019) scored relatively highly on the QATSDD (74%), with five intervention lessons and good sample size, although only measured outcomes post-intervention. Challen et al. (2014) also scored high overall (79%) although did not show significant improvements, assessing the UK Resilience Program. Due to variable intervention exposure and a lack of assessment of implementation, it is difficult to ascertain whether any improvements occurred for some groups and not others. This was the same for Wigelsworth et al. (SEAL programme; 2013) and Proctor et al. ('Strengths Gym'; 2011).

Due to the described limitations, it may be that the interventions are efficacious although require further study whilst addressing missing information and longer follow-up points to give greater strength to their evidence base. Schools may wish to carry out one of the reviewed interventions in conjunction with guidance set out by the Mentally Healthy Schools website (Anna Freud, n.d) and specific, shorter guidance on the measurement of such outcomes (Demkowicz et al., 2020). This includes third-party measures which were not reported in the reviewed studies although could provide additional information or help mitigate potential effects of social desirability within self-report measures, and insight required for reporting one's own symptoms (Althubaiti, 2016; Björklund et al., 2014).

## Limitations

This review aimed to review all quantitative and mixed-methods studies conducted since 2010. Limiting articles to those which have been peer-reviewed may lead to effective interventions not being included in this review. Teachers may additionally lack the resources to publish on interventions they have carried out due to extensive workloads, a lack of access to academic papers which are commonplace in other settings and a need for greater links between academics and school settings, despite being well placed to highlight the practicalities and insight for such interventions (Firth, 2016). The exclusion of qualitative studies is common when looking at the impact of interventions on outcomes to support a cohesive review (O'Reilly et al., 2018; Werner-Seidler et al., 2017). In the current review a clear outcome was identified, focusing on outcome data, considering the evidence for effectiveness and quality of recent UK studies. Within the above literature search, two qualitative UK studies were found but did not address the research question. However, qualitative data can enhance a rich understanding of the processes involved (Booth, 2016) and may have been helpful to include if available.

The QATSDD was chosen as one of few tools to assess studies of varying designs. There are limitations of the QATSDD such as the equal weighting of items where sample size may be seen of greater importance compared to user involvement, items not included regarding bias and randomisation, and greater clarity required on the differences between scoring criteria (Fenton et al., 2015). Lower scores may also reflect the length of the paper according to journal allowances, where further information may not have been possible. It is noted that mixed methods studied scored lower generally and may reflect a bias of the tool to quantitative methods as highlighted by Fenton et al. (2015). Recently, a revised tool (QuaDS; Harrison et al., 2021) was devised. Revisions include further examples for criteria and adaptations to wording for clarity, however the tool had not undergone a Delphi methodology to be registered and could not be used at the time of the review. A combination of tools could have been used to address some of the QATSDD limitations, however combining measures can make it difficult to interpret scores across papers. One of the few other tools for mixed methods quality appraisal such as the Mix Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT; Hong et al., 2018) could have been used, which comprises two screening questions for all types of studies and five additional questions depending on the study type, however it was not felt to highlight the detail which the QATSDD shows.

As this review drew together all intervention types and formats, it is difficult to draw conclusions regarding optimal, approaches for schools to consider when selecting an intervention to meet their students' needs. The diversity of designs and samples also prohibited the ability to conduct a meta-analysis, which could be particularly useful for targeted interventions, which included smaller samples. Whilst this is a limitation of the review, there is an additional lack of peerreviewed research within the area to be able to draw on comparisons, and to provide comprehensive conclusions on best approaches for the variable aims schools may want to address. Of the reviewed universal interventions, scores were already low (not within clinical ranges) and as such improvements could only be minimal, and Whilst research has shown that mental health may impact on educational and other outcomes (Agnafors et al., 2020; McDaid, Park & Wahlbeck, 2019), all but one reviewed study included such outcomes. Future UK studies should seek to include outcomes which assess educational outcomes such as attendance and attainment and monitor the use of other services. Other measures could include triangulating information with teacher and parent measures, measures may not add significant time to those required by students, although may need to consider valid third-party measures that are efficient and (e.g., those found on the Child Outcomes Research Consortium and Mentally Healthy Schools; Anna Freud, n.d). It is also important that these measures are sensitive to the time pressures of those completing them. Following these beyond post-intervention to monitor long-term changes would be particularly helpful in the evaluation of universal interventions, where scores on outcome measures are often below clinical cut-offs and aims are to reduce the development of significant difficulties or see comparatively

better outcomes on their use of other services or educational achievement and observations of others.

# **Future Directions and Recommendations**

As schools' focus on well-being is set to increase with upcoming curriculum changes, there are increasing requirements for schools to implement either targeted or universal interventions based on assessed need and available resources. Some of the reviewed interventions allowed flexibility within implementation. Whilst such flexibility may be beneficial for staff working within pressurised school systems, research is needed to evaluate and compare the impact of variation on outcomes. For those designing interventions, utilising consistent measures, larger samples, increasing follow-up lengths, assessing implementation, and using the TIDieR checklist (Hoffman et al., 2014) would support an evidence base that is better suited for meta-analyses to demonstrate effectiveness, if found.

There are continued developments and new interventions being carried out within UK schools, evidenced by those being published in the last few years. Several recent protocols were found, and although likely impacted by the events of Covid-19, may increase the pool of interventions and evidence within the UK over the next couple years. However, the evidence for such interventions within the UK school context is limited by the overall variability of approaches published, across a small sample of studies. Whilst those that collected data at longer time points did not see sustained results at two years, those findings are from only two of fifteen reviewed studies. It would be important for schools, and other researchers, to continue to add to the evidence of UK-based school interventions with the above considerations in mind, so that a larger peer-reviewed knowledge base can be gathered for supporting young people's well-being at a time of such change during the Covid-19 pandemic and as the impact of this time on young people's mental health becomes clearer.

#### References

Agnafors, S., Barmark, M., & Sydsjö, G. (2020). Mental health and academic performance: a study on selection and causation effects from childhood to early adulthood. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-020-01934-5</u>

Althubaiti, A. (2016). Information bias in health research: definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, 211. https://doi.org/10.2147/jmdh.s104807

Anna Freud. (n.d). Whole-school approach. Retrieved from

https://www.mentallyhealthyschools.org.uk/whole-school-approach/

- Björklund, K., Liski, A., Samposalo, H., Lindblom, J., Hella, J., Huhtinen, H., Ojala, T., Alasuvanto, P.,
  Koskinen, H.-L., Kiviruusu, O., Hemminki, E., Punamäki, R.-L., Sund, R., Solantaus, T., &
  Santalahti, P. (2014). "Together at school" a school-based intervention program to promote socio-emotional skills and mental health in children: study protocol for a cluster randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 1042. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-14-1042</u>
- Boniwell, I., Osin, E. N., & Martinez, C. (2016). Teaching happiness at school: Non-randomised controlled mixed-methods feasibility study on the effectiveness of Personal Well-Being Lessons. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *11*(1), 85–98.
   https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2015.1025422

Boot, W. R., Simons, D. J., Stothart, C., & Stutts, C. (2013). The Pervasive Problem With Placebos in Psychology. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *8*(4), 445–454.

- Brooks, F., Klemera, E., Chester, K., Magnusson, J. & Spencer, N. (2020). HBSC England National Report: Findings from the 2018 HBSC study for England. Hatfield, England: University of Hertfordshire. Retrieved from <u>http://hbscengland.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/HBSC-England-National-Report-2020.pdf</u>
- Brown, J. S. L., Blackshaw, E., Stahl, D., Fennelly, L., Mckeague, L., Sclare, I., & Michelson, D. (2019).
  School-based early intervention for anxiety and depression in older adolescents: A feasibility randomised controlled trial of a self-referral stress management workshop programme ("DISCOVER"). *Journal of Adolescence*, *71*, 150–161.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.11.009
- Bruhn, A. L., Hirsch, S. E., & Lloyd, J. W. (2015). Treatment Integrity in School-Wide Programs: A Review of the Literature (1993–2012). *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, *36*(5), 335–349. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-015-0400-9
- Caldwell, D. M., Davies, S. R., Hetrick, S. E., Palmer, J. C., Caro, P., López-López, J. A., Gunnell, D.,
   Kidger, J., Thomas, J., French, C., Stockings, E., Campbell, R., & Welton, N. J. (2019). School based interventions to prevent anxiety and depression in children and young people: a
   systematic review and network meta-analysis. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *6*(12), 1011–1020.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(19)30403-1">https://doi.org/10.1016/s2215-0366(19)30403-1</a>
- Campion, J., Bhui, K., & Bhugra, D. (2012). European Psychiatric Association (EPA) guidance on prevention of mental disorders. *European Psychiatry*, *27*(2), 68–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2011.10.004</u>
- Caspi, A., Houts, R. M., Ambler, A., Danese, A., Elliott, M. L., Hariri, A., Harrington, H., Hogan, S., Poulton, R., Ramrakha, S., Rasmussen, L. J. H., Reuben, A., Richmond-Rakerd, L., Sugden, K., Wertz, J., Williams, B. S., & Moffitt, T. E. (2020). Longitudinal Assessment of Mental Health

Disorders and Comorbidities Across 4 Decades Among Participants in the Dunedin Birth Cohort Study. *JAMA Network Open*, *3(4)*, e203221.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3221

- Challen, A. R., Machin, S. J., & Gillham, J. E. (2014). The UK Resilience Programme: A School-Based Universal Nonrandomized Pragmatic Controlled Trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 82*(1), 75-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034854</u>
- Cheney, G., Schlosser, A., Nash, P., & Glover, L. (2014). Targeted group-based interventions in schools to promote emotional well-being: A systematic review. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 19(3), 412-438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104513489565</u>

Children's Commissioner. (November 2018). *Children's mental health briefing: A briefing by the Office of the Children's Commissioner for England*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/childrens-</u> <u>mental-health-briefing-nov-2018.pdf</u>

Chiumento, A., Mukherjee, I., Chandna, J., Dutton, C., Rahman, A., & Bristow, K. (2018). A haven of green space: learning from a pilot pre-post evaluation of a school-based social and therapeutic horticulture intervention with children. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5661-9

Council for the Curriculum, Examinations & Assessment. (n.d). *Wellbeing and Mental Health in the Northern Ireland Curriculum*. Retrieved from <u>https://ccea.org.uk/learning-</u> <u>resources/wellbeing-hub/wellbeing-and-mental-health-northern-ireland-curriculum</u>

Crenna-Jennings, W & Hutchinson, J. (2020). *Access to child and adolescent mental health services in 2019*. Retrieved from <u>https://epi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/Access-to-CAMHS-in-2019\_EPI.pdf</u>

Deighton, J., Lereya, S. T., Casey, P., Patalay, P., Humphrey, N., & Wolpert, M. (2019). Prevalence of mental health problems in schools: poverty and other risk factors among 28 000 adolescents in England. British Journal of Psychiatry, 215(3), 565-567.

https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.2019.19

- Demkowicz, O., Ritchie, B., Ashworth, E., Tait, N., Miles, H., Panayiotou, M., Patalay, P., Burrell, K., & Deighton, J. (2020). *Mental health questionnaire research with children and young people in schools: Recommendations for good practice*. Evidence Based Practice Unit. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ucl.ac.uk/evidence-based-practice-unit/sites/evidence-based-practice-</u> <u>unit/files/facilitating\_school-based\_questionnaire\_completion\_final.pdf</u>
- Department for Education. (2018). Government Response to the Consultation on Transforming Children and Young People's Mental Health Provision: A Green Paper and Next Steps. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_</u> <u>data/file/664855/Transforming\_children\_and\_young\_people\_s\_mental\_health\_provision.pd</u> <u>f</u>
- Department of Health. (2015). Future in mind Promoting, protecting and improving our children and young people's mental health and wellbeing. NHS England.
- Ditch the Label. (2020). *The Annual Bullying Survey 2020: The Annual Benchmark of Bullying in the United Kingdom, with an Additional Focus on Mental Wellbeing.* Retrieved from https://www.ditchthelabel.org/research-papers/the-annual-bullying-survey-2020/
- Downs, S. H., & Black, N. (1998). The feasibility of creating a checklist for the assessment of the methodological quality both of randomised and non-randomised studies of health care interventions. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *52*(6), 377–384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.52.6.377</u>

Dray, J., Bowman, J., Campbell, E., Freund, M., Wolfenden, L., Hodder, R. K., Mcelwaine, K., Tremain,
D., Bartlem, K., Bailey, J., Small, T., Palazzi, K., Oldmeadow, C., & Wiggers, J.. (2017).
Systematic Review of Universal Resilience-Focused Interventions Targeting Child and
Adolescent Mental Health in the School Setting. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *56*(10), 813–824. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.07.780">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.07.780</a>

Eisenstein, C., Zamperoni, V., Humphrey, N., Deighton, J., Wolpert, M., Rosan, C., Bohan, H., Kousoulis, A. A., Promberger, M. & Edbrooke-Childs, J. (2019). Evaluating the Peer Education Project in secondary schools. *Journal of Public Mental Health, 18*(1), 58-65. <u>https://10.1108/jpmh-07-2018-0048</u>

- Feiss, R., Dolinger, S. B., Merritt, M., Reiche, E., Martin, K., Yanes, J. A., Thomas, C. M., & Pangelinan, M. (2019). A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of School-Based Stress, Anxiety, and Depression Prevention Programs for Adolescents. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence, 48*(9), 1668–1685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-019-01085-0</u>
- Fenton, L., Lauckner, H., & Gilbert, R. (2015). The QATSDD critical appraisal tool: comments and critiques. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, *21*(6), 1125–1128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jep.12487</u>
- Firth, J., (2016). Research engagement for the school teacher and its role in the education community. *Education in the North, 23*(2), 161-166.
- Ford, T., John, A., & Gunnell, D. (2021). Mental health of children and young people during pandemic. *BMJ*, n614. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n614</u>
- García-Carrión, R., Villarejo-Carballido, B., & Villardón-Gallego, L. (2019). Children and Adolescents Mental Health: A Systematic Review of Interaction-Based Interventions in Schools and Communities. *Frontiers in Psychology, 10.* <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00918</u>

- Harrison, R., Jones, B., Gardner, P., & Lawton, R. (2021). Quality assessment with diverse studies
   (QuADS): an appraisal tool for methodological and reporting quality in systematic reviews of mixed- or multi-method studies. *BMC Health Services Research*, 21(1).
   https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06122-y
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M. J., Welch, V. A. (2021)
  Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.2 (updated February 2021). Available from <u>www.training.cochrane.org/handbook</u>
- Hoffmann, T. C., Glasziou, P. P., Boutron, I., Milne, R., Perera, R., Moher, D., Altman, D. G., Barbour,
  V., Macdonald, H., Johnston, M., Lamb, S. E., Dixon-Woods, M., Mcculloch, P., Wyatt, J. C.,
  Chan, A.-W., & Michie, S. (2014). Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention
  description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. *BMJ*, *348*(mar07 3), g1687–g1687.
  https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.g1687
- Hong, Q. N., Fàbregues, S., Bartlett, G., Boardman, F., Cargo, M., Dagenais, P., Gagnon, M.-P.,
   Griffiths, F., Nicolau, B., O'Cathain, A., Rousseau, M.-C., Vedel, I., & Pluye, P. (2018). The
   Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) version 2018 for information professionals and
   researchers. *Education for Information*, *34*(4), 285–291. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3233/efi-180221">https://doi.org/10.3233/efi-180221</a>
- Huppert, F. A., & Johnson, D. M. (2010). A controlled trial of mindfulness training in schools: The importance of practice for an impact on well-being. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 5(4), 264–274. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439761003794148
- Jaworska, N. & MacQueen, G. (2015). Adolescence as a unique developmental period. *Journal Psychiatry Neuroscience*, 40(5), 291–293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/jpn.150268</u>
- Johnson, D., Dupuis, G., Piche, J., Clayborne, Z., & Colman, I. (2018). Adult mental health outcomes of adolescent depression: A systematic review. *Depression and Anxiety*, *35*(8), 700–716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22777</u>

Kooth. (June, 2020). Week 14: How Covid-19 is Affecting The Mental Health of Children and Young People. Retrieved from <u>https://xenzone.com/wp-</u> content/uploads/2020/06/CYP\_Infographic\_110620-CSE\_V5.pdf

- Kuyken, W., Weare, K., Ukoumunne, O. C., Vicary, R., Motton, N., Burnett, R., Cullen, C., Hennelly, S.,
   & Huppert, F. (2013). Effectiveness of the Mindfulness in Schools Programme: nonrandomised controlled feasibility study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 203(2), 126–131.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.126649">https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.113.126649</a>
- Lamblin, M., Murawski, C., Whittle, S., & Fornito, A. (2017). Social connectedness, mental health and the adolescent brain. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *80*, 57–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.010
- Langford, R., Bonell, C. P., Jones, H. E., Pouliou, T., Murphy, S. M., Waters, E., Komro, K. A., Gibbs, L.
   F., Magnus, D., & Campbell, R. (2014). The WHO Health Promoting School framework for
   improving the health and well-being of students and their academic achievement. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd008958.pub2">https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd008958.pub2</a>
- Ma, L., Zhang, Y., Huang, C., & Cui, Z. (2020). Resilience-oriented cognitive behavioral interventions for depressive symptoms in children and adolescents: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 270, 150–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.03.051</u>
- Mackenzie, K., & Williams, C. (2018). Universal, school-based interventions to promote mental and emotional well-being: what is being done in the UK and does it work? A systematic review.
   BMJ Open, 8(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-022560</u>
- McCloughen, A., Foster, K., Huws-Thomas, M., & Delgado, C. (2012). Physical health and wellbeing of emerging and young adults with mental illness: An integrative review of international

literature. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing, 21(3), 274-288.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1447-0349.2011.00796.x

McDaid, D., Park, A-L., & Wahlbeck, K. (2019). The economic case for the prevention of mental illness. *Annual Review of Public Health.* 40(1), 373-389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-013629</u>

Mckeering, P., & Hwang, Y.-S. (2019). A Systematic Review of Mindfulness-Based School Interventions with Early Adolescents. *Mindfulness*, *10*(4), 593–610. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0998-9

NHS Digital. (2018). *Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2017.* Retrieved from <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-</u> <u>children-and-young-people-in-england/2017/2017</u>

NHS Digital. (2020). *Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2020: Wave 1 follow up to the 2017 survey*. Retrieved from <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-</u> <u>information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-</u> england/2020-wave-1-follow-up

- Nye, E., Melendez-Torres, G. J., & Gardner, F. (2019). Mixed methods systematic review on effectiveness and experiences of the Incredible Years Teacher Classroom Management programme. *Review of Education*, 7(3), 631–669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3145</u>
- O'Reilly, M., Svirydzenka, N., Adams, S., & Dogra, N. (2018). Review of mental health promotion interventions in schools. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *53*(7), 647–662. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-018-1530-1</u>
- OECD. (2019). PISA 2018 Results (Volume III): What School Life Means for Students' Lives. PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris. Available from <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/acd78851-en</u>

- Orben, A., Tomova, L., & Blakemore, S.-J.. (2020). The effects of social deprivation on adolescent development and mental health. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, *4*(8), 634–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30186-3
- Page, M. J., Mckenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., Shamseer, L., Tetzlaff, J. M., Akl, E. A., Brennan, S. E., Chou, R., Glanville, J., Grimshaw, J. M., Hróbjartsson, A., Lalu, M. M., Li, T., Loder, E. W., Mayo-Wilson, E., Mcdonald, S., ... Moher, D. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Systematic Reviews*, *10*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-021-01626-4</u>
- Pandey, A., Hale, D., Das, S., Goddings, A.-L., Blakemore, S.-J., & Viner, R. M. (2018). Effectiveness of universal self-regulation–based interventions in children and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA pediatrics, 172(6), 566-575.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.0232

- Pitchforth, J., Fahy, K., Ford, T., Wolpert, M., Viner, R. M., & Hargreaves, D. S. (2019). Mental health and well-being trends among children and young people in the UK, 1995–2014: analysis of repeated cross-sectional national health surveys. *Psychological Medicine*, 49(08), 1275-1285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291718001757</u>
- Platt, I. A., Kannangara, C., Tytherleigh, M., & Carson, J. (2020). The Hummingbird Project: A Positive Psychology Intervention for Secondary School Students. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02012</u>
- Pluess, M., Boniwell, I., Hefferon, K., & Tunariu, A. (2017). Preliminary evaluation of a school-based resilience-promoting intervention in a high-risk population: Application of an exploratory two-cohort treatment/control design. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(5), e0177191. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177191

Public Health England. (2021). Promoting children and young people's emotional health and wellbeing: A whole school and college approach. Retrieved from <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment</u> <u>data/file/958151/Promoting\_children\_and\_young\_people\_s\_emotional\_health\_and\_wellbei</u> <u>ng\_a\_whole\_school\_and\_college\_approach.pdf</u>

Public Health England. (2017a). Intentional self-harm in adolescence: An analysis of data from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey for England, 2014. Retrieved from https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment data/file/621068/Health\_behaviour\_in\_school\_age\_children\_self-harm.pdf

Public Health England. (2017b). Secondary school staff get mental health 'first aid' training. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/news/secondary-school-staff-get-mental-health-first-aid-training</u>

Proctor, C., Tsukayama, E., Wood, A. M., Maltby, J., Eades, J. F., & Linley, P. A. (2011). Strengths Gym:
The impact of a character strengths-based intervention on the life satisfaction and wellbeing of adolescents. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *6*(5), 377–388.
https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2011.594079

Punukollu, M., Burns, C., & Marques, M. (2020). Effectiveness of a pilot school-based intervention on improving scottish students' mental health: a mixed methods evaluation. *International Journal of Adolescence and Youth*, *25*(1), 505–518.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2019.1674167

Reinke, W. M., Herman, K. C., Thompson, A., Copeland, C., Mccall, C. S., Holmes, S., & Owens, S. A.. (2021). Investigating the Longitudinal Association Between Fidelity to a Large-Scale Comprehensive School Mental Health Prevention and Intervention Model and Student Outcomes. School Psychology Review, 50(1), 17–29.

https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966x.2020.1870869

- Rice, F., Rawal, A., Riglin, L., Lewis, G., Lewis, G., & Dunsmuir, S. (2015). Examining reward-seeking, negative self-beliefs and over-general autobiographical memory as mechanisms of change in classroom prevention programs for adolescent depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 186, 320–327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.07.019</u>
- Schmidt, M., Werbrouck, A., Verhaeghe, N., Putman, K., Simoens, S., & Annemans, L. (2020).
   Universal Mental Health Interventions for Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review of Health Economic Evaluations. *Applied Health Economics and Health Policy*, 18(2), 155–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40258-019-00524-0
- Schüller, I., & Demetriou, Y. (2018). Physical activity interventions promoting social competence at school: A systematic review. *Educational Research Review*, 25, 39–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.09.001
- Schwartz-Mette, R. A., Shankman, J., Dueweke, A. R., Borowski, S., & Rose, A. J. (2020). Relations of friendship experiences with depressive symptoms and loneliness in childhood and adolescence: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin, 146*(8), 664–700. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000239
- Sclare, I., Michelson, D., Malpass, L., Coster, F., & Brown, J. (2015). Innovations in Practice: DISCOVER CBT workshops for 16-18-year-olds: development of an open-access intervention for anxiety and depression in inner-city youth. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 20(2), 102–106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/camh.12060</u>

Scottish Government. (2017). *Mental Health Strategy 2017-2027.* Retrieved from <a href="https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-">https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-</a>

plan/2017/03/mental-health-strategy-2017-2027/documents/00516047-pdf/00516047pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00516047.pdf

- Shelemy, D. L., Harvey, D. K., & Waite, D. P. (2020). Meta-analysis and systematic review of teacherdelivered mental health interventions for internalizing disorders in adolescents. *Mental Health & Prevention*, *19*, 200182. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mhp.2020.200182</u>
- Sirriyeh, R., Lawton, R., Gardner, P., & Armitage, G. (2012). Reviewing studies with diverse designs: the development and evaluation of a new tool. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, *18*(4), 746–752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2753.2011.01662.x</u>
- Stallard, P., Sayal, K., Phillips, R., Taylor, J. A., Spears, M., Anderson, R., Araya, R., Lewis, G., Millings, A., & Montgomery, A. A. (2012). Classroom based cognitive behavioural therapy in reducing symptoms of depression in high risk adolescents: pragmatic cluster randomised controlled trial. *BMJ*, 345(oct05 4), e6058–e6058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e6058</u>
- Swift, L. E., Hubbard, J. A., Bookhout, M. K., Grassetti, S. N., Smith, M. A., & Morrow, M. T. (2017). Teacher factors contributing to dosage of the KiVa anti-bullying program. *Journal of School Psychology*, 65, 102–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2017.07.005</u>
- The Children's Society. (2020). *The Good Childhood Report 2020*. Retrieved from
  <a href="https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-11/Good-Childhood-Report-2020.pdf">https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-11/Good-Childhood-Report-2020.pdf</a>
- Weeks, C., Hill, V., & Owen, C. (2017). Changing thoughts, changing practice: examining the delivery of a group CBT-based intervention in a school setting. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *33*(1), 1–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2016.1217400</u>

Werner-Seidler, A., Perry, Y., Calear, A. L., Newby, J. M., & Christensen, H. (2017). School-based depression and anxiety prevention programs for young people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *51*, 30–47.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.10.005

- Welsh Government. (2021). Framework on embedding a whole-school approach to emotional and mental well-being. Retrieved from <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/framework-on-embedding-a-whole-school-approach-to-emotional-and-mental-well-being.pdf</u>
- Wigelsworth, M., Humphrey, N., & Lendrum, A. (2013). Evaluation of a School-wide Preventive
   Intervention for Adolescents: The Secondary Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL)
   Programme. School Mental Health, 5(2), 96–109. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12310-012-9085-</u>

World Health Organisation. (2020). Adolescent health and development. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/westernpacific/news/q-a-detail/adolescent-health-and-development

# Implementation of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy Workshops for Secondary School Pupils: Acceptability and Feasibility of Training School Staff

Alessandra Roberts

**Cardiff University** 

Manuscript prepared in line with the author guidelines for the Journal of School Psychology (Appendix D), and word count guidance for DClinPsy thesis submission in 2021.

Word count: 250 (abstract) 8,397 (main body, with amendments)

#### Abstract

#### Background

Supporting the mental health of adolescents within the UK is a priority, with schools increasingly mandated to provide interventions. Despite its importance, reporting the training of intervention providers and assessment of implementation is often missing in intervention studies. This paper reports on the acceptability and feasibility of training school-based staff to facilitate an acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) intervention for adolescents. This was assessed through satisfaction with training and impact on knowledge, adherence to the intervention protocol, fidelity to principles of ACT, and changes in facilitators' psychological flexibility over time.

## Methods

Fourteen school-based staff (seven teachers and seven school counsellors) attended training. Interventions were delivered in pairs, with six pairs delivering the three-lesson workshops. Eighteen workshops were assessed. The Training Satisfaction Questionnaire was used post-training. A situational judgement questionnaire on using ACT principles with young people was created and administered pre- and post-training. Adherence to manualised components was assessed via a checklist, and fidelity to the principles of ACT using the ACT Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM). A validated measure was used to assess for changes in psychological flexibility overtime.

### Results

High satisfaction of training was found, alongside increased correct responses on the situational judgement test. Adherence to key intervention components ranged from 86% to 100%. Assessment of fidelity to ACT principles was consistently good, demonstrating the intervention is likely to be underpinned by ACT. However, variations were affected by facilitator's delivery and content of the sessions. Scores in psychological flexibility were higher across both professional groups at the follow-up point.

#### Keywords

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy; Adolescence; Fidelity; Implementation; Mental health; Psychological flexibility; School

## Introduction

A growing number of young people within the UK are reporting difficulties with their mental health, with one in six adolescents assessed experiencing significant difficulties, compared to one in nine three years prior (NHS Digital, 2018; NHS Digital, 2020; Pitchforth et al., 2019). Reported increases in social inequalities for young people were largest in the UK when compared to 45 other countries between 2015 and 2018 (The Children's Society, 2020). Concerns over adolescent mental health have increased further within the context of the Covid-19 pandemic. For example, compared to the previous year, Kooth (2020) found that young people reported increasing difficulties in several areas including sleep (by 161%), health anxiety (by 133%), loneliness (by 63%) and self-harm (rising 27%). Adegboye et al. (2021) found that during the pandemic, young people who were already vulnerable experienced heightened anxiety, and overall mental health difficulties rose from 61% to 69%.

The impact of adolescent mental health difficulties is significant; lower emotional well-being of adolescents has been associated with poorer academic achievement, as well as subsequent adult mental health difficulties (Agnafors et al., 2020; Johnson et al., 2020). In a cohort study, Caspi et al. (2020) found that the onset of mental health difficulties occurred prior to the age of 18 years old for 59% of adults. Adult mental health difficulties impact areas including financial earnings and increased use of health systems, and with many difficulties presenting in young people, investment in early prevention is essential (McDaid et al., 2019).

As young people spend a significant proportion of their time in schools, school-based approaches have been promoted as a viable location for such interventions (Anna Freud, n.d.;

Department for Education, DfE, 2018; World Health Organization, 2021). Schools have the advantage of potentially reducing stigma and can provide promotion of mental health awareness and support through curriculum activities and wider whole school approaches (DfE, 2018; Gulluver et al., 2010). Recently, UK government guidance has stipulated that mental health curriculum and interventions are mandatory, whether delivered universally or for targeted groups (DfE, 2019; Scottish Government, 2017; Welsh Government, 2021).

# ACT as a Universal Mental Health Intervention in Schools

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT; Hayes 1999) may be particularly suited to a universal intervention within the school curriculum. ACT has been developed as a transdiagnostic intervention, suited to young people and the school environment through its emphasis on the commonality of experiencing distress and noticing our own relationship to these experiences. This can be helpful for mental health difficulties across diagnoses, pre-clinical symptoms, and situations such as exam stress (Gillard et al., 2018; Fang & Ding., 2020b). An overarching aim of ACT is to improve the psychological flexibility of individuals, such that individuals can act in line with their values, despite distressing or undesired experiences (Hayes et al., 2006). The use of metaphors, values-based activities and mindfulness exercises are used to facilitate this learning and practice of psychological flexibility (Livheim et al., 2015). Psychological flexibility can be thought of as underpinned by six core processes; acceptance (openness to experiences, including difficult feelings), cognitive defusion (ability to gain distance from cognitions, recognise them as thoughts rather than facts), being present (non-judgemental contact with the current moment), self as context (the self which notices and experiences the thoughts and feelings, and allows flexibility in the view of oneself across situations), values (qualities an individual wants to display, that are never 'achieved' but acted in line with moment to moment) and committed action (acting in line with values despite difficult experiences, when able to) (Hayes et al., 2012). For therapists, R. Harris (2009) details the importance of engaging in their own practice to support ways of relating to their

own thoughts and experiences, psychological flexibility, and ability to support clients with greater efficacy and experiential knowledge. Levels of psychological flexibility may also impact on how able someone is to engage with another, show empathy and relate despite uncomfortable or differing feelings (Levin et al., 2016).

A review of ACT-based interventions with young people by Swain et al. (2015) highlighted methodological issues which included small sample sizes and a lack of active controls. However, results were deemed promising for its use with this population. Reviews by E. Harris and Samuel (2020) and Fang and Ding (2020a) concluded that ACT interventions, when compared to treatment as usual or waitlist controls, showed reductions in mental health and behavioural difficulties but did not significantly differ from CBT interventions. Harris and Samuel (2020) commented that whilst studies demonstrated clear rationales, details of the research setting and choice of outcome measures, most studies did not include calculations of power analyses, service user involvement in study design or follow-up outcome measures. Fang and Ding (2020a) also reported limitations due to the need for larger sample sizes, greater description of treatment as usual, and assessment of facilitator adherence to the manual.

Within schools, ACT interventions have been carried out with varying aims and results. Some studies found no significant effects on emotional symptom outcomes (Burckhardt et al., 2017; Van der Gucht et al., 2017) while others found positive effects on anxiety (Livheim et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2020) psychological flexibility (Fang & Ding, 2020a; Smith et al., 2020), reducing overall emotional symptoms (Bernal-Manrique et al., 2020; Takahashi et al., 2020) and stress (Livheim et al., 2015).

#### **Treatment Fidelity when Implementing Interventions**

Within a school environment, delivery of the same intervention may vary and impact the outcomes observed for students (Reinke et al., 2020). School systems are complex and can pose challenges to standardised delivery through staffing levels, physical space and engagement from
staff (Patalay et al., 2016). Understanding the effectiveness of an intervention, and the underlying mechanisms of change, can be affected by how researchers have assessed this (Bruhn et al., 2015; Miller & Rollnick, 2014). When it is not known whether an intervention was delivered consistently or as intended, significant or non-significant results could relate to the intervention itself or other factors (Bellg et al., 2004; Gersten et al., 2005; Kerns et al., 2021). Assessment of treatment fidelity has therefore been recognised as a key area of research to ensure clarity in the interpretation of intervention results, the processes underpinning these results, and in helping to design future intervention studies (Bellg et al., 2004; Bhattacharyya et al., 2009).

Treatment fidelity can be defined as the extent to which an intervention is enacted as intended (Gresham, 1989). However, the aspects of treatment fidelity which are measured can vary and may include (a) adherence to the treatment protocol; (b) fidelity to the theoretical model in which the intervention draws upon; (c) whether it was delivered in a competent manner; and (d) amount of exposure (Bruhn et al., 2015; Nezu & Nezu, 2008; Sanetti & Kratochwill, 2009; Schoenwald & Garland, 2013). For example, a facilitator may have delivered all required components of an intervention (adherence) and demonstrated skills relating to the underlying approach (fidelity to the theory) but done so in a rushed manner with little time for engagement (competence), and only delivered half of the sessions required (exposure).

Within this paper the term fidelity will reflect the literature and be defined as follows:

- treatment fidelity (the overall area of measuring fidelity)
- adherence (fidelity to the intervention manual)
- competence (skilled delivery)
- fidelity to the model (congruence with the theoretical model which the intervention is based upon)

The terms integrity and fidelity are used interchangeably within the literature (Bruhn et al., 2015). Studies vary in whether they are referring to one or more of the above aspects (Cross & West,

2011; Moir et al., 2018; Schulte et al., 2009). Adherence to treatment manuals is seen as essential (Hagermoser-Sanetti & Luh., 2020) and often the only measure of 'fidelity' referenced within intervention studies (Kerns et al., 2021; Pluess et al., 2017; Rice et al., 2015; Werner-Seidler et al., 2017). Treatments which are consistent with proposed theoretical frameworks have also been found to demonstrate stronger associations with outcomes (Resnick et al., 2005). Plumb and Vilardaga (2010) highlight the importance of measuring both fidelity to the manual and fidelity to the theoretical model it is based upon. This is to better understand the mechanisms underlying effectiveness and help separate what makes one approach effective when compared to another.

To ensure treatment fidelity, standardised training for facilitators, delivery of treatment through defined performance criteria, enactment of treatment skills and ongoing supervision have been highlighted as important (Bellg et al., 2004). It is important to consider the acceptability and satisfaction of training for facilitators (Sekhon et al., 2017), along with acquisition of knowledge or skills (Bellg et al., 2004). These factors can impact on the intentions to implement an intervention (Renko et al., 2020), transfer to subsequent practice and positively impact commitment and engagement (Mansour et al., 2017; Memon et al., 2016). Training can be assessed through tests of knowledge or situational judgements (Patterson & Driver, 2018). Situational judgement tests describe an interpersonal situation and offer potential responses to the event. Participants may be required to choose the most appropriate option or rate them from 'most' to 'least' appropriate (Webster et al., 2020). Situational judgement tests can represent situations trainees are likely to face (Graupe et al., 2020) and have been shown as useful for measuring performance post-training (Patterson & Driver, 2018; Patterson et al., 2016; Taylor et al., 2016; Webster et al., 2020).

#### **Treatment Fidelity and School-based Mental Health Interventions**

Despite teachers often playing a key role in the implementation of school interventions, the training for facilitators of school-based interventions is an under-reported area of research, and the potential impact on student outcomes is unknown (Lander et al., 2017). Shelemy et al. (2019)

interviewed teachers around supporting pupils' mental health. Teachers expressed wanting interactive training containing realistic scenarios, and questions to assess understanding were seen as helpful. A lack of implementation detail can make it difficult to understand factors contributing to the progress (or the lack of) in student outcomes and present a barrier to replication (Bruhn et al., 2015; Fang and Ding, 2020a). Significant results could be due to the intervention being delivered appropriately but not being effective, effective when adapted by facilitators, or not being delivered as intended (Hagermoser-Sanetti & Luh, 2020).

When assessing feasibility of implementation, adherence to intervention manuals are often evaluated using a checklist of components considered key to the intervention (Werner-Seidler et al., 2017). These may rely on facilitators' self-report, independent observation, or, ideally, both (Bruhn et al., 2015; Keller-Margulis, 2012; Plumb & Vilardaga, 2010). Schulte et al. (2009) also discuss the importance of noting adaptations of the intervention protocol. Durlak et al. (2011) reviewed 213 universally delivered school-based programmes for social and emotional learning. They reported that 43% (n=91) of reviewed studies did not report whether the intervention was implemented as intended, 22% reported significant problems and 35% reported no problems. Durlak et al. (2011) found implementation problems were strongly associated with student outcomes and limited the areas to which gains were seen across academic, behavioural, social and emotional indicators. Werner-Seidler et al. (2017) reviewed 81 school-based anxiety and depression prevention programmes and found that 41% (n = 33) did not report on assessments of fidelity, while others included assessment by independent raters on adherence using audio or visual recordings (23%), and 17% used self-report checklists. McKeering and Hwang (2019) reviewed mindfulness-based interventions and found that only three of eleven studies reported on treatment fidelity. Of these, one measured adherence and competence, one measured adherence only, and the third asked for facilitators to reflect on their performance and for potential improvements to the intervention.

The above reviews highlight the variable methods and difficulties of assessing treatment fidelity when delivering school-based interventions across approaches, and the overall paucity of reporting.

### Assessing Fidelity to ACT

Within the broader ACT intervention literature, assessing fidelity to the principles of ACT have been measured in various ways. Shawyer et al. (2017) developed a measure (ACT for Psychosis Adherence and Competence Scale; APACS) to assess integrity of an ACT intervention for psychosis. Plumb and Vilardaga (2010) developed a measure for an ACT intervention for those diagnosed with obsessive compulsive disorder. Due to length and complexity, or condition-specific nature of existing ACT fidelity measures, O'Neill et al. (2019b) developed a fidelity measure for ACT interventions that could be used across conditions and interventions (the ACT Fidelity Measure; ACT-FM). A Delphi methodology was used to develop the measure, with professionals asked to review an initial draft of 42 items based on existing literature and knowledge. The items related to one of four areas: general ACT therapeutic stance, openness, awareness, and engagement. Professionals were asked to comment on the measure's content validity, observability in practice and whether to include the item. The resultant ACT-FM measures both ACT consistent and ACT inconsistent behaviours. This is based on the literature which notes the importance of recording deviations from fidelity to the model (Plumb & Vilardaga, 2010). An inconsistent item is not necessarily the antithesis of a consistent item. For example, a consistent item of: "Therapist uses present moment focus methods...to increase awareness of the moment", versus an inconsistent item in the same subdomain of: "Therapist introduces mindfulness...as means to control or diminish or distract from unwanted thoughts". The ACT-FM measure contains 25 items over the four domains and has demonstrated good inter-rater reliability (K= 0.73), although further testing is required in contexts such as group-based interventions (C. Graham, personal communication, November 27, 2020).

### Assessing Treatment Fidelity within School-Based ACT Interventions

Szabo and Dizon (2016) discuss some of the facilitators for successful implementation of an ACT intervention within the school setting. This includes enabling school staff the time to learn and understand ACT (e.g., using experiential methods), ensuring materials are appropriate for the students' age and ability, with adaptations to materials where needed, and recognising the importance of understanding the school context and culture.

Assessment of satisfaction with training, adherence to the intervention manual, and measurement of fidelity to the underlying model are not generally reported within the seven schoolbased ACT studies described above (Bernal-Manrique et al., 2020; Fang & Ding, 2020a; Livheim et al., 2015; Takahashi et al., 2020; Van der Gucht et al., 2017). Burckhardt et al. (2017) designed a fidelity measure for the purpose of their study, but due to technical issues were unable to collect data. Smith et al. (2020) reported that the second facilitator's role was to support adherence to the protocol, however this was not reported as systematically assessed, fidelity to the principles of ACT were not discussed and no further details were given. To the authors knowledge, no published papers have measured facilitator's psychological flexibility within implementation.

## InTER-ACT

This paper concerns a three session ACT-based programme called In-school Training in Emotional Resilience: with ACT (InTER-ACT; Samuel et al., 2021). The intervention was developed by two clinical psychologists with significant experience in the area and regular clinical practice using ACT. InTER-ACT aims to increase psychological flexibility to improve adolescent's abilities to navigate stressful and challenging experiences. A pilot of the intervention (InTER-ACT), delivered by the developers, was carried out in one English secondary school (E. Harris, 2020). Subsequently, the workshop content was refined in response to feedback from young people, teachers, and the facilitators. A training programme was then developed to enable the workshops to be delivered by school staff and broaden the programme's reach. The two-day training course involved experiential

77

exercises, and the workshops themselves encouraged facilitators to bring their own examples, reflections and intentions on acting in line with their identified values. The finalised programme involves three hour-long workshops entitled: Thoughts are Just Thoughts; Pause, Observe, Describe and Taking Steps Towards What Matters. The revised intervention is designed to be delivered in a pair comprising a member of teaching staff (e.g., teacher or pastoral care member of staff), along with a school counsellor. This paper focuses on training for the first cohort of school staff, and their subsequent delivery of the InTER-ACT programme.

### The Current Study

This paper will assess the acceptability and feasibility of training school staff to deliver the InTER-ACT programme. Satisfaction and acceptability of the training will be assessed, along with treatment adherence and fidelity to the ACT theoretical framework. Student outcomes, satisfaction, and qualitative feedback through interviews with school-based facilitators are assessed and described separately.

# Objectives

The objectives of this study are as follow:

- to evaluate satisfaction and acceptability of the workshop training;
- to ascertain if training improves knowledge of using ACT principles with young people;
- to assess psychological flexibility of facilitators overtime;
- to assess adherence to the treatment manual;
- to assess fidelity to ACT principles, piloting the ACT-FM measure.

#### Method

#### **Participants and Recruitment**

Participants were dyads of one school counsellor paired with a schoolteacher or pastoral care member of staff. For the schoolteacher role, professionals were required to have a qualification in teaching or spend a significant proportion of their role in a teaching capacity. For school counsellors, a qualification in counselling, or significant experience within a pastoral role supporting mental health was required. Both were assessed during recruitment stages. School-based professionals were recruited opportunistically between the academic year of 2019/20. Information sheets were sent to interested headteachers and/or pastoral care teams (Appendix F and G). Participants were recruited through a school charity counselling service in England, identification of nearby schools where these school counsellors had agreed to take part, and personal links. Through the counselling service, five counsellors and their respective schools agreed to take part. Six additional schools were identified and contacted, two of these were through personal links who were able to provide both a schoolteacher and counsellor. Three did not reply. One school agreed to take part but were unable to provide a counsellor due to funding. Therefore, dyads from seven schools signed up and received training.

#### Procedure

# Training

Prior to training, the three workshops were sent as Microsoft PowerPoint presentation slides. Each slide contained verbatim facilitation transcripts to ensure consistency in delivery. A script for a specific mindfulness exercise was provided separately. Multiple bespoke illustrations and a bespoke animation (Your ACT Auntie, 2020) were developed in collaboration with an experienced children's illustrator and included throughout the presentations to support the material and aid engagement. Handouts for a valued-based activity were also provided to all facilitators to distribute to the students. Training was delivered over two days by the two clinical psychologists who developed the InTER-ACT programme and supported by two trainee clinical psychologists. Training was delivered virtually due to Covid-19 restrictions. Day one of the training included theoretical information and experiential methods to expose workshop facilitators to ACT theory and skills. Day two consisted of watching pre-recorded videos of the full workshop programme, role-played by the workshop developers. After this, dyads worked in pairs in virtual 'break out rooms' to practice the workshop content, interspersed with discussions as a whole group. One facilitator was unable to attend the training and was given a recording of both days. Their facilitating partner was accompanied by a trainee clinical psychologist during training to practice content.

Participants were sent a website link to complete the measures at the beginning and end of training, with consent forms and debrief information included (Appendix H and I). A follow-up link containing one measure of psychological flexibility was sent via email six weeks after the last delivered workshop. Facilitators were encouraged, but not required, to practice ACT throughout the study.

### Measures

### **Background Information**

Demographic questions related to age range, gender and professional role were completed by participants prior to the training (Appendix J and K). Additional questions related to previous knowledge of ACT and training, general mental health training, years of experience in role, amount of time teaching students and in what format (i.e., group or 1:1).

### **Objective 1: Satisfaction with Workshop Training**

The Training Satisfaction Rating Scale (Holgado-Tello et al., 2006) is a 12-item Likert scale questionnaire chosen as a validated outcome measure and was administered post-training (Appendix L). Total scores range from 12 to 60 (each item rated 1 to 5), where higher scores indicate

higher satisfaction. Holgado-Tello et al. (2006) reported the reliability of the TSRS with a Cronbach alpha of 0.89. Crohnbach's alpha for the current sample (N = 14) was 0.81. An additional free text box was included to allow for qualitative comments.

#### **Objective 2: Impact of Training on a Situational Judgement Test**

A 9-item situational judgement questionnaire (Congruent ACT responses with Young People; CoACT-Y) was created by the research team and discussed with professionals in the field. The measure included situations facilitators may face with students and gave three possible responses, of which one was 'ACT consistent' (Appendix M). A score of 1 was given to each ACT consistent response chosen, resulting in possible scores from 0 to 9, with higher scores representing higher ACT consistent responses. This was assessed pre- and post-training.

## **Objective 3: Changes in Psychological Flexibility Post-Intervention Delivery**

The Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy processes (CompACT; Francis, Dawson, & Golijani-Moghaddam, 2016) is a 23-item questionnaire measuring core ACT processes (Appendix N). Higher scores are associated with greater psychological flexibility. This questionnaire was administered prior to training and six weeks after delivering the workshops to assess whether attending training and delivering the workshops may have impacted the facilitators' own psychological flexibility. Cronbach's alpha for the total score was assessed as 0.91 for an adult, non-clinical sample (Francis et al., 2016). For this sample (N = 12), Cronbach's alpha at time one was 0.90, and at time two 0.93. Francis et al. (2016) demonstrated good convergent validity with an established measure of ACT processes. Lower scores on the CompACT, indicating a greater level of psychological inflexibility, were associated with poorer outcomes on measures of wellbeing, health, and greater levels of distress.

#### **Objective 4: Adherence to the Manual and Competency of Delivery**

All InTER-ACT workshops were audio recorded through encrypted devices or a secure online platform. Cameras were turned off where online video calling software was used. Two devices were often used to capture audio of both the facilitators and students, to give context to facilitator responses, and given the social distancing measures in schools during the data collection period. Where school staff's personal devices were used, an end-to-end encrypted messaging service was utilised to send recordings after the session and recordings were immediately deleted from devices. The research team and programme developers were available to all staff informally to answer questions before and after the training. A scheduled question and answer session was offered online several weeks after the training but was only accessed by one participant.

Adherence was measured in terms of exposure to the intervention (frequency and length) and content of workshops delivered. Adherence to the manualised content was measured through a checklist, devised for this specific intervention, and based upon components deemed key to the intervention (Plumb & Vilardaga, 2010). Additional components were included for their centrality to the overall delivery and understanding of key processes (Sanetti et al., 2014). For example, some checklist items related to sections of psychoeducation, such as information to learn about mindfulness, prior to engaging in a mindfulness practice. Each workshop had its own checklist, divided into seven overall components with a description of exercises or key points to cover, as outlined within the scripted manual. Scores were rated on a three-point scale of 0 (missing or no evidence), 1 (partially delivered) or 2 (fully delivered).

Competence was measured on three items of: facilitator engagement, responsiveness and overall competence. Facilitator engagement was scored from 0 (e.g., no evidence of attempts to engage students or respond), 1 (some attempts to engage students and respond) or 2 (regular attempts to engage students and respond). All adherence and competence scores were rated by the author, and a proportion (33%) checked with an independent rater. Adaptations or deviations were

82

noted qualitatively to aid refinement of future workshops (O'Donnell, 2008; Schulte et al., 2009). The overall possible score for each workshop on content was 14, and for overall delivery 20. Percentage scores were calculated for content adherence, and competency described separately. The full checklist can be seen in Appendix O. Inter-rater reliability was found to be high for the six sessions rated by the author and an independent researcher on adherence to the protocol ( $\kappa = 1$ ) and when combining this with the competence ratings for the overall score ( $\kappa = 0.939$ ).

# **Objective 5: Fidelity to ACT Principles, Using the ACT-FM**

The ACT-FM (O'Neill et al., 2019b) was used to assess fidelity of the delivery of the intervention to the underlying principles of ACT (Appendix P). Within the measure 25 items are split across four domains of: Therapist Stance; Open Response Style; Aware Response Style and Engaged Response Style. Each domain further splits into 'ACT consistent' and 'ACT inconsistent' items with a relevant description (O'Neill et al., 2019a). For example, an ACT consistent item within the domain of 'Open response style' is: "Therapist gives the client opportunities to notice how they interact with their thoughts and/or feelings (e.g., whether avoidant or open)". An ACT inconsistent item for the same domain is: "Therapist encourages the client to 'think positive' or to substitute negative for positive thoughts as a treatment goal". Each score for the 25 items reflects the consistency of a certain behaviour with "no evidence", "rarely enacts", "sometimes..." and "consistently...". Facilitation of the workshops were split into two roles, for facilitators to decide in their pairs which they would prefer and could change for each workshop. Each role had different exercises and discussions to lead, and therefore differing opportunities to demonstrate behaviours related to the ACT-FM sub-domains. Discussion with one of the developers of the measure took place after coding several workshops (C. Graham, personal communication, November 27, 2020). The discussion included a check on interpretation of items and discussion of its use in a group-based context.

The full duration of all eighteen workshops were coded by the author using the ACT-FM. A single integrated score for each item on the ACT-FM was graded according to the combined delivery

of both facilitators. An inter-rater reliability check was carried out by an independent rater deemed to have sufficient experience in ACT. For this process, two sessions from each different type of workshop were selected using randomisation software for a total of six intervention sessions (33%). These sessions amounted to almost five hours of recordings (all workshops totalled 13.5 hours). Discussion between the raters took place after two workshops had been coded (Plumb & Vilardaga, 2010). Inter-rater reliability improved following discussion (0.72 vs 0.96). Intra-rater reliability was calculated for six workshops and showed no differences.

There were only two instances of a discrepancy for scoring ACT *inconsistent* behaviours. Discrepancies of ACT *consistent* behaviours centred around the frequency of behaviours given the short time frame of a lesson and when an action could be coded across several items. The item of "The therapist lectures the client e.g., gives advice, tries to convince the client, etc." was discussed in the context of how there may be some elements of the classroom environment that lead to a more 'lecturing' style.

# Analysis

Analyses only included participants who gave responses at both time points (i.e. paired cases). Data was analysed using SPSS (version 26). Initial analyses generated descriptive statistics and conducted checks of normal distribution. This was a feasibility study with small sample size. Categorical data and school adherence scores are presented numerically and as a percentage. Assessment of the training satisfaction scores were compared to the original study for reliability, and similar research to compare the mean score. For the situational judgement questionnaire administered pre- and post-training, data was not normally distributed and negatively skewed towards the maximum score. Therefore, a non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was performed to assess differences between roles. Pre- and post-training scores are presented as cases graphically. Data for the CompACT, looking to assess facilitators psychological flexibility pre-training and at a

later follow-up point, met assumptions of normality for parametric testing. Levene's test indicated equal variances (F = .534, p = .659) and a 2x2 mixed ANOVA was conducted.

### Results

# **Summary of Participants**

Seven pairs of staff attended the two-day training. Analysis pre- and post-training includes all seven pairs. Six pairs both identified as females, one pair both identified as males. One of the female pairs were unable to deliver the intervention due to restrictions around Covid-19. Therefore, six pairs delivered the intervention and completed the follow up measure of psychological flexibility. Demographics are shown in Table 1.

Amongst the seven teachers, the subjects taught varied. All had taught for a minimum of one year, with four teaching six or more years. Previous training in mental health varied for each participant with no overlap in approach. Only one teacher had heard of ACT prior to the training and none had received training in ACT.

Within the school counsellors, six reported background data. These six all took part in delivery of the workshops. Two reported being in their role for under a year, three for 1-5 years and one for 6-10 years. Five school counsellors reported "always" working 1:1 with students and one reported working 1:1 and with groups/classes in equal amounts. Four counsellors reported hearing of ACT prior to training. Of these four, three had received some training in ACT previously; two for three hours and one person had received sixteen hours.

# Table 1

Demographic		F	Role			
		Teacher	School Counsellor	Overall Sample		
N		6	6	12		
Age	25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64	2 1 3 0	1 3 1 1	3 (25%) 4 (33%) 4 (33%) 1 (8%)		
Ν		7	7	14		
Gender	Female Male	6 1	6 1	12 (86%) 2 (14%)		
Duration in profession	<1 year 1-5 years 6-10 years 10+ years	0 3 3 1	2 4 1 0	2 (14%) 7 (50%) 4 (29%) 1 (7%)		
ACT Related						
Aware of ACT	Yes No Unsure	1 6 0	5 1 1	6 (43%) 7 (50%) 1 (7%)		
Prior Training in ACT	Yes No	0 7	3 4	3 (21%) 11 (79%)		

Demographics and Awareness of ACT of school-based staff attending training

*N.B.* One teacher and one counsellor did not give details of their age. This pair did not go on to deliver the intervention.

# **Objective 1: Satisfaction with Workshop Training**

The Training Satisfaction Rating Scale (Holgado et al., 2006) was used as a quantitative measure of satisfaction. The mean satisfaction score was high, out of a possible score of 60 (M = 54.07, SD = 3.75). This is comparable to another study of training on treatment implementation (Beidas, 2012) where those with the most comprehensive training reported higher scores (M = 55.5, SD = 4.7). Within the free text box, comments given were largely positive and indicated high levels of acceptability relating to the training delivery (ability to practice content in separate "rooms" on a virtual platform; high quality training presentation), content (interest in the content; including

videos of intervention delivery; high quality materials provided; various learning activities; applying content to their own experiences) and supporting confidence for future delivery (ability to discuss; seek reassurance). Suggested improvements were to have the training in person (n=3), and one person did not feel the practice time was necessary.

## **Objective 2: Impact of Training on a Situational Judgement Test (CoACT-Y)**

A 9-item questionnaire was designed for the purpose of this study to measure knowledge of ACT congruent responses when supporting young people. This was completed by participants preand post-training. Scores were out of a maximum possible of nine, with higher scores thought to reflect knowledge of ACT congruent responses. The data did not meet assumptions of normality. Data was skewed towards the maximum possible score for counsellors pre-training, and both teachers and counsellors post-training.

Pre-training, two counsellors scored the maximum possible of nine, and three school counsellors and one schoolteacher scored eight out of nine. Post-training four counsellors and five teachers scored the maximum possible, and two counsellors and one teacher scored eight. There was no significant difference between teacher and counsellor scores pre-training (U = 35.00,  $N_1 = 7$ ,  $N_2 = 7$ , p = .209) or post-training (U = 21.00,  $N_1 = 7$ ,  $N_2 = 7$ , p = .710). The data for all cases are presented in Figure 1 and 2.

## Figure 1



Teacher Scores on the CoACT-Y, Pre- and Post-Training.

# Figure 2

School Counsellor Scores on the CoACT-Y, Pre- and Post-Training



# **Objective 3: Changes in Psychological Flexibility Post-Intervention Delivery**

The CompACT (Francis et al., 2016) was administered prior to training and six-weeks after delivering the final workshop to indicate levels of psychological flexibility. Total scores are shown in Figure 3. A 2 x 2 mixed ANOVA was performed on the total CompACT score for schoolteachers and counsellors, pre-training and at follow-up. The mean score across both roles (N=12) was higher at

the second time point (*M*=94.58, *SD*=22.03 vs *M*=107.25, *SD*=18.87). The main effect of the withinsubjects factor of 'time' was significant, F(1, 10) = 30.59, p < .001. The main effect of the betweensubjects factor of 'role' was not significant, F(1, 10) = 1.05, p = .33, nor was the interaction of time and role, F(1, 10) = 2.56, p = .14.

# Figure 3

Mean CompACT Scores Pre-Training and Six Weeks Post-Intervention.



*Note:* Maximum possible score = 138. Error bars are the standard deviation.

# **Objective 4: Adherence to the Manual and Competency of Delivery**

Within the training, school staff were asked to run the workshops no more than two weeks apart, no more than one workshop per week, and delivered within a five-week period overall. All six schools demonstrated 100% adherence in this respect. The length of a standard lesson period varied across schools with some able to hold 1-hour lessons and some 50-minutes. The duration of time used to deliver the workshops ranged from 34 to 61 minutes overall (M = 44.50, SD = 6.86). Only one school delivered a workshop for longer than 50 minutes and did so for each of the three workshops. Workshop one ranged from 39 to 54 minutes (M = 45.33, SD = 5.68), workshop two from 42 to 61 minutes (M = 47.83, SD = 7.22) and workshop three from 34 to 51 minutes (M = 40.33, SD = 6.38). Adherence to the manual was generally found to be high, with all eighteen workshops completing between 86% and 100% of key components. Four out of eighteen workshops delivered 86% of key components, ten delivered 93%, and four delivered 100%. Table 2 shows these scores by school. Adaptations included expanding on examples, giving additional information that was consistent with the content and referring to previous material. Deviations included giving inconsistent information and omitting key exercises. No school omitted an entire key topic for any of the workshops. One school played an incorrect video where an advert relating to ACT was shown in its place. One instance was observed of audio not working for a video, where the audio was background music. There was no consistent pattern observed in which exercises or discussions were missed or deviated from.

### Table 2

# Percentage of key components delivered by school

		School					
Workshop	Α	В	С	D	E	F	
Workshop 1	93%	86%	93%	100%	86%	93%	-
Workshop 2	100%	100%	93%	93%	86%	93%	
Workshop 3	100%	93%	93%	93%	86%	86%	

For scores of facilitator delivery, there was a maximum possible score of six for facilitator engagement, responsiveness, and overall competence (a maximum score of two for each; Appendix O). Scores are shown in Table 3. Two out of the six schools scored the maximum possible for each workshop. Only one school scored less than four out of six which occurred in two out of their three workshops.

## Table 3

	School						
Workshop	Α	В	С	D	E	F	
Workshop 1	6	6	4	5	2	5	
Workshop 2	6	6	6	5	4	5	
Workshop 3	6	6	4	6	2	4	

Scores on facilitator delivery of engagement, responsiveness, and overall delivery

Note. Maximum score = 6

# **Objective 5: Fidelity to ACT principles, Using the ACT-FM**

Workshops were assessed in terms of their fidelity to ACT related principles as outlined within the ACT-FM (O'Neill et al., 2019a). Each of the four different sub-domains has a maximum possible score of 9 (indicating regular enaction of all the principles within the domain) and total scores of ACT *consistent* observations are out of a maximum 36, as are *inconsistent* observations.

Overall scores are shown in Table 4. For total ACT *consistent* scores, the first workshop ranged from 21 to 30 out of 36 (M = 25.67, SD = 3.30), the second from 20 to 30 (M = 26.33, SD = 3.20) and third from 26 to 29 (M = 27.50, SD = 0.96). For ACT *inconsistent* items, higher scores represent greater instances of behaviours *inconsistent* with the principles of ACT, out of a possible 36. Scores for the first workshop, across all schools, ranged from 0 to 7 (M = 2.83, SD = 2.67), the second ranged from 0 to 5 (M = 2.17, SD = 1.95) and the third workshop from 0 to 4 (M = 1.50, SD = 1.38). One school had no ACT *inconsistent* responses across all workshops (School F), and another school had none across two workshops (School A). One school accounted for 33% of ACT *inconsistent* scores (School E) and had two relatively low scores for ACT *consistent* items in the first and second workshop. Whilst their ACT *consistent* score were in line with scores of other schools for the third workshop, the score for ACT *inconsistent* items was still above average. A Spearman's rank-order correlation was conducted to assess the relationship between *consistent* and *inconsistent* scores in workshops. There was a significant negative correlation between ACT *consistent* and *inconsistent* scores ( $r_s(18) = -.59$ , p = .010).

Overall scores for each sub-domain, across each workshop, are shown in Figure 4, 5 and 6. Each has a possible score of 9 (higher scores indicating greater ACT *consistent* or *inconsistent* delivery. Across all eighteen workshops, there was only one instance of a score above two in a single sub-domain for ACT *inconsistent* delivery. ACT *inconsistent* responses were evident across all sub-domains although less so within 'Open Response Style', and 'Engaged Response Style'. Examples of ACT *inconsistent* responses for the Open Response Style sub-domain were "I was worried...so I told myself it'll be okay...just think positive thoughts" and "if we can learn to control our thoughts...". An example scored under the 'Aware Response Style' sub-domain was "so mindfulness can help us to get rid of these difficult feelings" or agreeing with student examples of using distraction from difficult feelings rather than noticing or exploring the workability of such strategies.

For each school, an average score was calculated for *consistent* and *inconsistent* items, as well the pairs average CompACT score. A Spearman's rank-order correlation was conducted to assess the relationship between these. There was no significant correlation between the average CompACT score and average ACT *consistent* score ( $r_s(6) = .66$ , p = ..156) or average CompACT score and average ACT *consistent* score ( $r_s(6) = .66$ , p = ..156) or average CompACT score and average ACT *inconsistent* score ( $r_s(6) = ..725$ , p = ..103).

Sub-domain scores varied according to the aim of the workshop. For instance, the final workshop spent a significant proportion of time discussing values and value-based action, compared to the first two workshops. Therefore, scores on the values based 'Engaged Response' sub-domain were lower for the first two workshops across all schools (Workshop 1: M = 1.67, SD = 1.25; Workshop 2: M = 2.5, SD = 1.26) and higher on the last (M = 7.83, SD = 0.69). The second workshop (Pause, Observe Describe) included discussion and exercises based around mindfulness, and as such scores were also higher on those items within the ACT-FM (largely 'Aware Response Style'). Higher scores on domains for *consistent* observations came from facilitators' personal style and responses

92

to pupils' answers and discussions, even if they were not manualised to be covered within that workshop. For example, expanding on the script for leading discussions around noticing thoughts, and combining this with workability towards achieving values, whilst accepting the existence of difficult emotions. Overall, time spent going over the recap of the previous workshop, reflecting on key messages, exercises and strategies, and giving time for extra discussions generally, resulted in higher scores on the ACT-FM.

# Table 4

Total scores for 'ACT consistent' and 'ACT inconsistent' criteria using the ACT-FM.

		School					
		A	В	С	D	E	F
Lesson 1 Thoughts are Just Thoughts	ACT Consistent	30	21	28	25	22	28
	ACT Inconsistent	0	7	1	5	4	0
Lesson 2 Pause, Observe, Describe	ACT Consistent	29	26	30	27	20	26
	ACT Inconsistent	4	1	0	3	5	0
Lesson 3 Taking Steps Towards What Matters	ACT Consistent	26	27	28	28	27	29
	ACT Inconsistent	0	2	1	2	4	0

Note. Total scores can range from 0-36.

# Figure 4



Average scores across schools on the four ACT-FM sub-domains for Workshop 1.

Note. Error bars shown the standard error of the mean.

# Figure 5

Average scores across schools on the four ACT-FM sub-domains for Workshop 2.



Note. Error bars shown the standard error of the mean.

# Figure 6

Average scores across schools on the four ACT-FM sub-domains for Workshop 3.



*Note.* Errors bars show the standard error of the mean.

#### Discussion

This study aimed to assess the acceptability and feasibility of training school-based staff to deliver an intervention for secondary school pupils, which aimed to increase psychological flexibility and resilience to daily challenges and feelings. Training satisfaction was assessed using a validated measure and comments post-training. The study also assessed the impact of training on knowledge of ACT-consistent responses when considering situations with students. Feasibility of implementing the intervention was assessed through adherence to the workshop manual, fidelity to ACT-related principles, and delivery of the intervention within the intended overall timeframe and timetable constraints. Potential change in facilitators' own psychological flexibility at follow-up was also measured. Results and conclusions will feed into the revision of future training and use of the intervention.

Training satisfaction scores indicated high acceptability alongside many positive qualitative comments. However, a small number of school staff said they would have preferred face-to-face training, rather than virtual. Training was also assessed using a situational judgement test, developed to assess skill acquisition post-training. School counsellors were more likely to report previous knowledge and awareness of ACT which may account for their higher scores when compared to teachers initially. Overall, there were higher scores post-training where nine (out of fourteen) facilitators scored the highest possible mark, and three scored eight out of a possible nine, suggesting that the training led to increased knowledge of ACT congruent responses. Given that several school counsellors scored highly pre-training, the results may indicate that the current questions are most appropriate for those with limited experience and requires further refinement. Skill acquisition and satisfaction may have been different if face-to-face training had been possible and a comparison of face-to-face training in the future may be helpful.

As one of the most cited and foundational aspects of measuring fidelity within the literature (Moir, 2018; Werner-Seidler et al., 2017), adherence to the treatment manual was measured for all

workshops. The checklist was created to reflect the core components of the intervention relating to ACT principles and necessary psychoeducation (Plumb & Vilardaga, 2010; Sanetti et al., 2014). Adherence to the manual was high, with little variation across schools and workshops. This could have been due to some facilitators seeming to have workshop scripts with them during the delivery. If intervention delivery was continued over longer periods, adherence may improve with practice, or conversely with facilitators becoming more confident with the material, greater deviations from the manual may be observed (Bruhn et al., 2015). Booster training sessions and feedback from training providers could support greater adherence over time (Hagermoser-Sanetti & Luh., 2020). In future, the checklist could be given to facilitators for a multi-informant method, to provide a comparison between independent and self-ratings (Bruhn et al., 2015; Keller-Margulis, 2012) and to potentially serve as a reminder for facilitators of the key components to cover. It may be useful to understand how much adherence to the protocol contributes to the variance in fidelity to the underlying theoretical principles as measured by the ACT-FM (O'Neill et al., 2019a), through a larger sample.

Assessment of fidelity to the principles of ACT (using the ACT-FM, O'Neill et al., 2019a) benefitted from discussion between raters, as suggested within the literature (Plumb & Vilardaga, 2010). Clarity was sought on how items may relate to a school lesson, given the constraints on time and learning context of a classroom (i.e., that not all children will be able to discuss responses in depth and how a 'teaching' style may be rated). There was also discussion with regards to the predefined content of the workshops, such that some sub-domains were scored low simply because they did not reflect the topic of that workshop. A manualised classroom-based group intervention is less likely to enable integrated coverage of the full range of ACT processes compared to the fluidity a one-to-one therapeutic session allows. This may present the need for revisions to the ACT-FM for group-based interventions, or for the development of differentiated norms for group-interventions, where a 'high fidelity' score range may differ. However, the measure was deemed user-friendly, and demonstrated variation across workshops, schools, and sub-domains. Scores highlighted the workshops' underlying principles to ACT which is important for ensuring its distinction from other interventions and as an evidence-based intervention (Plumb & Vilardaga, 2010). Higher scores on ACT *consistent* items appeared to correlate with lower scores on *inconsistent* items and implies that those who can more consistently demonstrate behaviours in line with the principles of ACT, may be less likely to bring in ideas and experience from other training, that is inconsistent with ACT. It may also reflect facilitators' understanding of the ACT model and confidence in applying the approach. It may be beneficial to assess this periodically alongside delivering the workshops in the future.

Overtime, facilitators' own psychological flexibility increased. Attending training, and/or the process of delivering the workshops, may have led to an increase in the personal use of ACT skills by the school-based facilitators. It may also be that this process facilitated an increased awareness of the ACT approaches facilitators already engaged in and therefore rated themselves higher. Further exploration of this would be beneficial, especially as it is missing from the literature and not a routinely assessed as a potential factor on the outcomes for recipients. This could include additional data collection points, qualitative exploration, and would require a larger sample.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

The strengths of this paper include the exploration of acceptability of training for schoolbased staff on training satisfaction and skill acquisition, which is often missing from intervention studies an important aspect to implementing and replicating interventions (Bellg et al., 2004). The assessment of training satisfaction was high, which is positive as satisfaction can have positive associations with commitment, transfer of learning and subsequent engagement in work (Mansour et al., 2017; Memon et al., 2016; Renko et al., 2020). Provision of the training in an online format, which was initiated pragmatically in response to the Covid-19 pandemic, may provide a useful method for training a larger sample, and ensuring consistency (Bellg et al., 2004), while being costeffective and practical for those delivering the training.

Treatment fidelity has often not been reported in school-based intervention studies and when it has, it is often on adherence to the protocol only (Werner-Seidler et al., 2017). Feasibility of

implementation was explored across several facets including procedural delivery, adherence to the protocol, facilitator competence and fidelity to the theoretical principles (Bellg et al., 2004; Bruhn et al., 2015; Hagermoser-Sanetti & Luh, 2020). Assessing fidelity within ACT studies has been highlighted as poor (Öst, 2014) and measures for adherence to the model often evaluated using intervention specific checklists which precludes comparison across interventions (O'Neill et al., 2019). This is the first known instance of the ACT-FM being used for a group-based intervention and demonstrated the usability of the tool for settings that have distinct factors from individual therapeutic sessions. The importance of discussion between raters for such novel use was carried out with considerable improvement to inter-rater reliability scores, highlighting the benefit for inter-rater checks to fidelity assessment of future intervention studies. This study also highlighted where the ACT-FM may require adjustment for interventions that employ more than one facilitator.

Finally, the change in facilitators' own psychological flexibility is an area that is rarely assessed within the literature (Luoma & Vilardaga, 2013) and in its relation to recipient outcomes. Scores significantly changed, drawing attention to the impact on facilitators of interventions in an area currently unexplored. Given the mediating role which psychological flexibility can have between an ACT intervention and outcomes for adults (Lin et al., 2018; Twohig et al., 2015) it may have additional benefits for facilitators and be important for those working within schools where difficulties including high workloads and stress are prevalent (Travers, 2017) which would benefit from further study. It may be that the transdiagnostic nature of an ACT intervention (Gillard et al., 2018) allows this applicability and potential uptake of relevant strategies not just for those receiving the intervention, but also for those delivering it (R. Harris, 2009). It may also be that facilitator practice of material impacted outcomes of psychological flexibility and may have impacted other outcomes too. Future studies could measure this in relation to both facilitator adherence and psychological flexibility, as well as student outcomes.

The CoACT-Y was created for the purpose of this study as there is currently no alternative measure for assessing ACT congruent actions in relation to working with young people. The existing equivalent measure, the ACT Knowledge Questionnaire (Luoma & Vilardaga, 2013) was developed for use with clinicians. The complexity of terminology and theory within the tool was not considered to match the focus of the current training (i.e., developing ACT congruent skills and ways of responding, rather than learning theory or specific terminology). Whilst there was pragmatic justification for use of the CoACT-Y, the validity of the measure has not been assessed, and the results must be considered cautiously. It will be important that the measure is validated prior to future use which could involve consultation with additional experts within the field via a Delphi panel study approach (Trevelyan & Robinson, 2015), where experts in the field are consulted over several 'rounds'; eliciting item content and refining these, and cognitive interviewing exploring participants' reasoning when responding (Wolcott et al., 2020). Experts may include both professionals within the field and intended participants, where the latter would support comprehensive content validity (Anthoine et al., 2014). Anthoine et al. (2014) found that adequate sample sizes for validation are often not outlined or vary considerably, although studies reviewed had a mean ratio of 28 participants per item. Some recommended larger numbers for validation and statistical analysis through confirmatory, or exploratory, factor analysis (Charter, 1999) and this will need to be considered in the next steps. The measure was administered post-training, but not at a follow-up point, which may have been helpful for assessing whether scores remained consistent and its relationship to aspects of implementation. It is also important to note that whilst scores on situational judgment tests can be predictive of future performance (Patterson et al., 2016; Webster et al., 2020), responses may reflect social desirability, which can be affected by whether questions ask the respondent what they 'would' or 'should' do (Tiffin et al., 2020).

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, measurement of fidelity relied solely on audio recordings. Missing observation of visual cues and behaviours and may have impacted ratings. This is also true for competence ratings, including responsiveness and engagement. Therefore, indicators relating to quality and fidelity of delivery may have been missed. Whilst the CompACT (Francis et al., 2016) demonstrated change over time, additional data collection points could help track the pattern and maintenance of this effect. Perceived systemic support from leadership figures may be an important contributing factor to implementation (Hudson et al., 2020) although was not measured. Using the Usage Rating Profile – Intervention (URP-I; Briesch et al., 2013) for example, may have highlighted other key factors to consider when implementing on a wider scale such as support from headteachers (Beets et al., 2008). However, the largest limitation is the sample size for the current study and as such all analysis is exploratory, and any conclusions are tentative requiring a wider evaluation.

# Conclusion

Overall, this study demonstrated a successful exploration of the acceptability and feasibility of training school-based staff to deliver a universal mental health intervention in schools. Future research into the feasibility and efficacy of this intervention may wish to assess aspects of fidelity directly in relation to student outcomes. This would support knowledge of how adherent facilitators may need to be to evoke change, and the relation to other indicators such as facilitator competence. The assessment tools used appeared to be appropriate for future iterations of the intervention although the situational judgement questionnaire would need to be validated. Further investigation is now needed with larger samples to fully assess the relationship between different aspects of fidelity and adherence within the delivery of this intervention, and alongside student outcome data.

#### References

Adegboye, D., Williams, F., Collishaw, S., Shelton, K., Langley, K., Hobson, C., Burley, D., & Van Goozen, S. (2021). Understanding why the COVID-19 pandemic-related lockdown increases mental health difficulties in vulnerable young children. *JCPP Advances*, 1(1).

https://doi.org/10.1111/jcv2.12005

Agnafors, S., Barmark, M., & Sydsjö, G. (2020). Mental health and academic performance: a study on selection and causation effects from childhood to early adulthood. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-020-01934-5</u>

Anna Freud. (n.d). Whole-school approach. Retrieved from

https://www.mentallyhealthyschools.org.uk/whole-school-approach/

- Beets, M. W., Flay, B. R., Vuchinich, S., Acock, A. C., Li, K.-K., & Allred, C. (2008). School Climate and Teachers' Beliefs and Attitudes Associated with Implementation of the Positive Action
   Program: A Diffusion of Innovations Model. *Prevention Science*, 9(4), 264–275.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-008-0100-2">https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-008-0100-2</a>
- Beidas, R. S., Edmunds, J. M., Marcus, S. C., & Kendall, P. C. (2012). Training and Consultation to
   Promote Implementation of an Empirically Supported Treatment: A Randomized
   Trial. *Psychiatric Services*, *63*(7), 660–665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201100401</u>
- Bellg, A. J., Borrelli, B., Resnick, B., Hecht, J., Minicucci, D. S., Ory, M., Ogedegbe, G., Orwig, D., Ernst, D., Czajkowski, S., & Treatment Fidelity Workgroup of the NIH Behavior Change Consortium. (2004). Enhancing Treatment Fidelity in Health Behavior Change Studies: Best Practices and Recommendations From the NIH Behavior Change Consortium. *Health Psychology, 23(5),* 443–451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0278-6133.23.5.443</u>

Bernal-Manrique, K. N., García-Martín, M. B., & Ruiz, F. J. (2020). Effect of acceptance and commitment therapy in improving interpersonal skills in adolescents: A randomized waitlist control trial. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *17*, 86–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.06.008</u>

Bhattacharyya, O., Reeves, S., & Zwarenstein, M. (2009). What is implementation research?:
Rationale, concepts, and practices. *Research on Social Work Practice*, *19*(5), 491–
502. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731509335528</u>

Briesch, A. M., Chafouleas, S. M., Neugebauer, S. R., & Riley-Tillman, T. C. (2013). Assessing influences on intervention implementation: Revision of the Usage Rating Profile-Intervention. *Journal of School Psychology*, *51*(1), 81–96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2012.08.006

- Bruhn, A. L., Hirsch, S. E., & Lloyd, J. W. (2015). Treatment Integrity in School-Wide Programs: A
   Review of the Literature (1993–2012). *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, *36*(5), 335–349.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-015-0400-9">https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-015-0400-9</a>
- Burckhardt, R., Manicavasagar, V., Batterham, P. J., Hadzi-Pavlovic, D., & Shand, F. (2017).
   Acceptance and commitment therapy universal prevention program for adolescents: a feasibility study. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, *11*(1).
   https://doi.org/10.1186/s13034-017-0164-5
- Caspi, A., Houts, R. M., Ambler, A., Danese, A., Elliott, M. L., Hariri, A., Harrington, H., Hogan, S.,
   Poulton, R., Ramrakha, S., Rasmussen, L. J. H., Reuben, A., Richmond-Rakerd, L., Sugden, K.,
   Wertz, J., Williams, B. S., & Moffitt, T. E. (2020). Longitudinal Assessment of Mental Health
   Disorders and Comorbidities Across 4 Decades Among Participants in the Dunedin Birth

Cohort Study. JAMA Network Open, 3(4), e203221.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3221

Charter, R. A. (1999). Sample Size Requirements for Precise Estimates of Reliability, Generalizability, and Validity Coefficients. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *21*(4), 559– 566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1076/jcen.21.4.559.889</u>

Cross, W., & West, J. (2011). Examining implementer fidelity: conceptualising and measuring adherence and competence. *Journal of Children's Services*, *6*(1), 18–33. https://doi.org/10.5042/jcs.2011.0123

Department for Education. (2018). Government Response to the Consultation on Transforming Children and Young People's Mental Health Provision: A Green Paper and Next Steps. <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_</u> <u>data/file/664855/Transforming\_children\_and\_young\_people\_s\_mental\_health\_provision.pd</u> <u>f</u>

Department for Education. (2019). Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and Health Education Statutory guidance for governing bodies, proprietors, head teachers, principals, senior leadership teams, teachers.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_ data/file/908013/Relationships\_Education\_Relationships\_and\_Sex\_Education\_RSE\_and Health\_Education.pdf

Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The Impact of Enhancing Students' Social and Emotional Learning: A Meta-Analysis of School-Based Universal Interventions. *Child Development*, *82*(1), 405–432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-</u> 8624.2010.01564.x Fang, S., & Ding, D. (2020a). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of acceptance and commitment therapy for children. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 15, 225–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.01.007

- Fang, S., & Ding, D. (2020b). The efficacy of group-based acceptance and commitment therapy on psychological capital and school engagement: A pilot study among Chinese adolescents. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *16*, 134–143. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.04.005</u>
- Francis, A. W., Dawson, D. L., & Golijani-Moghaddam, N. (2016). The development and validation of the Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy processes (CompACT). *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *5*(3), 134–145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2016.05.003</u>

Graupe, T., Fischer, M. R., Strijbos, J.-W., & Kiessling, C. (2020). Development and piloting of a
 Situational Judgement Test for emotion-handling skills using the Verona Coding Definitions
 of Emotional Sequences (VR-CoDES). *Patient Education and Counseling*, *103*(9), 1839–1845.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2020.04.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2020.04.001</a>

Gersten, R., Fuchs, L. S., Compton, D., Coyne, M., Greenwood, C., & Innocenti, M. S. (2005). Quality Indicators for Group Experimental and Quasi-Experimental Research in Special Education. *Exceptional Children*, *71*(2), 149–164.

https://doi.org/10.1177/001440290507100202

Gillard, D., Flaxman, P., & Hooper, N. (2018). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: Applications for Educational Psychologists within Schools. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *34*(3), 272– 281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02667363.2018.1446911</u> Gresham, F. M. (1989). Assessment of treatment integrity in school consultation and prereferral intervention. *School Psychology Review*, 18(1),37–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.1989.12085399

- Gulliver, A., Griffiths, K. M., & Christensen, H. (2010). Perceived barriers and facilitators to mental health help-seeking in young people: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*, 10(1), 113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-244x-10-113</u>
- Hagermoser-Sanetti L. M., & Luh, H. J. (2020). Treatment Fidelity in School-Based Intervention. In: A. Reschly, A. Pohl, & Christenson S. (Eds.), *Student Engagement*. Springer (pp. 77-87), Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-37285-9\_4
- Harris, E. (2020). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for child and adolescent mental well-being: A systematic review and an acceptability and feasibility study of a universal intervention.
   [Doctoral dissertation, Cardiff University]. ORCA. <u>http://orca.cf.ac.uk/125161/</u>
- Harris, E. & Samuel, V. (2020). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: A Systematic Literature Review of Prevention and Intervention Programs for Mental Health Difficulties in Children and Young People. *Journal of Cognitive Psychotherapy 34*(4), 280-305.

http://doi.org/10.1891/JCPSY-D-20-00001

- Harris, R. (2009). ACT made simple: An Easy-to-Read Primer on Acceptance and Commitment Therapy. New Harbringer Publications, Inc.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: An Experiential Approach to Behavior Change. New York: Guilford Press.
- Hayes, S. C., Luoma, J. B., Bond, F. W., Masuda, A., & Lillis, J. (2006). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: Model, processes and outcomes. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44(1), 1–25.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.06.006">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.06.006</a>

 Hayes, S. C., Pistorello, J., & Levin, M. E. (2012). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy as a Unified Model of Behavior Change. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *40*(7), 976–1002. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000012460836

Hudson, K. G., Lawton, R., & Hugh-Jones, S. (2020). Factors affecting the implementation of a whole school mindfulness program: a qualitative study using the consolidated framework for implementation research. *BMC Health Services Research*, *20*(1).

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-4942-z

- Holgado Tello, F. P., Chacón Moscoso, S., Barbero García, I., & Sanduvete Chaves, S. (2006). Training Satisfaction Rating Scale. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 22(4), 268–279.
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759.22.4.268">https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759.22.4.268</a>
- Johnson, D., Dupuis, G., Piche, J., Clayborne, Z., & Colman, I. (2018). Adult mental health outcomes of adolescent depression: A systematic review. *Depression and Anxiety*, *35*(8), 700–716. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.22777</u>
- Keller-Margulis, M. A. (2012). Fidelity of implementation framework: A critical need for response to intervention models. *Psychology in the Schools*, 49(4), 342–352. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.21602</u>
- Kerns, S. E. U., Perrine, C. M., Sedlar, G., Peterson, R., & Monroe-Devita, M. (2021). Keeping the Faith While Keeping It Real: Practical, Empirical Approaches to Evaluating Treatment
   Fidelity. *Global Implementation Research and Applications*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s43477-021-00012-5</u>
- Kooth. (2020). Week 14: How Covid-19 is Affecting The Mental Health of Children and Young People. Retrieved from <u>https://xenzone.com/wp-</u> content/uploads/2020/06/CYP\_Infographic\_110620-CSE\_V5.pdf

- Lander, N., Eather, N., Morgan, P. J., Salmon, J., & Barnett, L. M. (2017). Characteristics of Teacher
   Training in School-Based Physical Education Interventions to Improve Fundamental
   Movement Skills and/or Physical Activity: A Systematic Review. *Sports Medicine*, *47*(1), 135–161. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0561-6">https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-016-0561-6</a>
- Levin, M. E., Luoma, J. B., Vilardaga, R., Lillis, J., Nobles, R., & Hayes, S. C. (2016). Examining the role of psychological inflexibility, perspective taking, and empathic concern in generalized prejudice. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *46*(3), 180–191.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12355

Lin, J., Klatt, L-I., Mccracken, L. M., & Baumeister, H. (2018). Psychological flexibility mediates the effect of an online-based acceptance and commitment therapy for chronic pain: an investigation of change processes. *Pain*, *159*(4), 663–672.

https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000001134

- Livheim, F., Hayes, L., Ghaderi, A., Magnusdottir, T., Högfeldt, A., Rowse, J., Turner, S., Hayes, S. C., & Tengström, A. (2015). The Effectiveness of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for
   Adolescent Mental Health: Swedish and Australian Pilot Outcomes. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *24*(4), 1016–1030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-014-9912-9</u>
- Luoma, J. B., & Vilardaga, J. P. (2013). Improving Therapist Psychological Flexibility While Training
  Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: A Pilot Study. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, 42(1), 1–
  8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16506073.2012.701662</u>
- Mansour, J., Naji, A., & Leclerc, A. (2017). The Relationship between Training Satisfaction and the Readiness to Transfer Learning: The Mediating Role of Normative Commitment. *Sustainability*, *9*(5), 834. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su9050834</u>
- McDaid, D., Park, A-L., & Wahlbeck, K. (2019). The economic case for the prevention of mental illness. *Annual Review of Public Health.* 40(1), 373-389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-013629</u>
- McDaniel, M. A., List, S. K., & Kepes, S. (2016). The "Hot Mess" of Situational Judgment Test Construct Validity and Other Issues. *Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, 9(1), 47–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/iop.2015.115</u>
- McKeering, P., & Hwang, Y.-S. (2019). A Systematic Review of Mindfulness-Based School Interventions with Early Adolescents. *Mindfulness*, *10*(4), 593–610. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-018-0998-9</u>
- Memon, M. A., Salleh. R. & Baharom, M. N. R. (2016). The link between training satisfaction, work
   engagement and turnover intention. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40(6),
   407-429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/EJTD-10-2015-0077</u>
- Miller, W. R., & Rollnick, S. (2014). The effectiveness and ineffectiveness of complex behavioral interventions: Impact of treatment fidelity. *Contemporary Clinical Trials*, 37(2), 234–241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cct.2014.01.005</u>
- Moir, T. (2018). Why Is Implementation Science Important for Intervention Design and Evaluation Within Educational Settings?. Frontiers in Education, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2018.00061
- Nezu, A. M., & Nezu, C. M. (2008). Evidence-based outcome research: A practical guide to conducting randomized controlled trials for psychosocial interventions. Oxford University Press.

NHS Digital. (2018). *Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2017*. Retrieved from <a href="https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2017/2017">https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-england/2017/2017</a>

NHS Digital. (2020). *Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2020: Wave 1 follow up to the 2017 survey*. Retrieved from <u>https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-</u> <u>information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-</u> <u>england/2020-wave-1-follow-up</u>

O'Donnell, C. L. (2008). Defining, conceptualizing, and measuring fidelity of implementation and its relationship to outcomes in K-12 curriculum intervention research. Review of Educational Research, 78, 33– 84.

O'Neill, L, Latchford, G., McCracken, L. M. & Graham, C. D. (2019a). The Acceptance and Commitment Therapy Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM) Form.

https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.17855.46244

O'Neill, L., Latchford, G., McCracken, L. M., & Graham, C. D. (2019b). The development of the Acceptance and Commitment Therapy Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM): A Delphi study and field test. Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science, 14, 111-118.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2019.08.008

Öst, L.-G. (2014). The efficacy of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *61*, 105–121.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2014.07.018

Patalay, P., Giese, L., Stanković, M., Curtin, C., Moltrecht, B., & Gondek, D. (2016). Mental health provision in schools: priority, facilitators and barriers in 10 European countries. *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 21(3), 139–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/camh.12160</u> Patterson F. & Driver R. (2018). Situational Judgement Tests (SJTs). In: F. Patterson, L. Zibarras (Eds.), Selection and Recruitment in the Healthcare Professions (pp.79-112). Palgrave Macmillan, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-94971-0\_4</u>

- Patterson, F., Zibarras, L., & Ashworth, V. (2016). Situational judgement tests in medical education and training: Research, theory and practice: AMEE Guide No. 100. *Medical Teacher*, 38(1), 3–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/0142159x.2015.1072619</u>
- Pitchforth, J., Fahy, K., Ford, T., Wolpert, M., Viner, R. M., & Hargreaves, D. S. (2019). Mental health and well-being trends among children and young people in the UK, 1995–2014: analysis of repeated cross-sectional national health surveys. *Psychological Medicine*, 49(08), 1275-1285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291718001757</u>
- Pluess, M., Boniwell, I., Hefferon, K., & Tunariu, A. (2017). Preliminary evaluation of a school-based resilience-promoting intervention in a high-risk population: Application of an exploratory two-cohort treatment/control design. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(5), e0177191.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0177191

- Plumb, J. C., & Vilardaga, R. (2010). Assessing treatment integrity in acceptance and commitment therapy: Strategies and suggestions. *International Journal of Behavioral Consultation and Therapy*, 6(3), 263-295. <u>http://doi.org/10.1037/h0100912</u>
- Reinke, W. M., Herman, K. C., Thompson, A., Copeland, C., Mccall, C. S., Holmes, S., & Owens, S. A.
  (2021). Investigating the Longitudinal Association Between Fidelity to a Large-Scale
  Comprehensive School Mental Health Prevention and Intervention Model and Student
  Outcomes. School Psychology Review, 50(1), 17–29.

https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966x.2020.1870869

- Renko, E., Knittle, K., Palsola, M., Lintunen, T., & Hankonen, N. (2020). Acceptability, reach and implementation of a training to enhance teachers' skills in physical activity promotion. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09653-x</u>
- Resnick, B., Bellg, A. J., Borrelli, B., De Francesco, C., Breger, R., Hecht, J., Sharp, D. L., Levesque, C., Orwig, D., Ernst, D., Ogedegbe, G., & Czajkowski, S. (2005). Examples of implementation and evaluation of treatment fidelity in the BCC studies: Where we are and where we need to go. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *29*(2), 46–54.

https://doi.org/10.1207/s15324796abm2902s\_8

- Rice, F., Rawal, A., Riglin, L., Lewis, G., Lewis, G., & Dunsmuir, S. (2015). Examining reward-seeking, negative self-beliefs and over-general autobiographical memory as mechanisms of change in classroom prevention programs for adolescent depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 186, 320–327. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2015.07.019</u>
- Samuel, V., Constable, C., Harris, E. & Channon, S. (2021). *Developing a Brief Universal Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) Programme for Secondary School Pupils: The InTER-ACT Programme.* [Manuscript submitted for publication].
- Sanetti, L. M. H., & Kratochwill, T. R. (2009). Toward developing a science of treatment integrity: Introduction to the special series. *School Psychology Review*, *38(4)*, 445–459.
- Sanetti, L. M. H., Chafouleas, S. M., Fallon, L. M., & Jaffrey, R. (2014). Increasing Teachers' Adherence to a Classwide Intervention Through Performance Feedback Provided by a School-Based Consultant: A Case Study. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, 24(3), 239–260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2014.923734</u>
- Schoenwald, S. K., & Garland, A. F. (2013). A review of treatment adherence measurement methods. *Psychological Assessment*, *25*(1), 146–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029715</u>

Schulte, A. C., Easton, J. E., & Parker, J. (2009). Advances in Treatment Integrity Research:
 Multidisciplinary Perspectives on the Conceptualization, Measurement, and Enhancement of
 Treatment Integrity. School Psychology Review, 38(4), 460–475.

Scottish Government. (2017). *Mental Health Strategy 2017-2027*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-</u> <u>plan/2017/03/mental-health-strategy-2017-2027/documents/00516047-pdf/00516047-</u> <u>pdf/govscot%3Adocument/00516047.pdf</u>

Sekhon, M., Cartwright, M., & Francis, J. J. (2017). Acceptability of healthcare interventions: an overview of reviews and development of a theoretical framework. *BMC Health Services Research*, 17(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2031-8</u>

Shawyer, F., Farhall, J., Thomas, N., Hayes, S. C., Gallop, R., Copolov, D., & Castle, D. J. (2017). Acceptance and commitment therapy for psychosis: Randomised controlled trial. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *210*(2), 140–148. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.116.182865</u>

Shelemy, L., Harvey, K., & Waite, P. (2019). Supporting students' mental health in schools: what do teachers want and need?. *Emotional and Behavioural Difficulties*, 24(1), 100–116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13632752.2019.1582742</u>

Smith, K. J., Oxman, L. N., & Hayes, L. (2020). ACT for adolescents: Impact of a pilot group intervention on psychological wellbeing. *Journal of Psychologists and Counsellors in Schools*, 30(2), 248–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/jgc.2019.33</u>

Swain, J., Hancock, K., Dixon, A., & Bowman, J. (2015). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy for children: A systematic review of intervention studies. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, 4(2), 73–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2015.02.001</u>  Szabo, T. G., & Dixon, M. R. (2016). Contextual behavioral science and education. In R. D. Zettle, S. C.
 Hayes, D. Barnes-Holmes & A. Biglan (Eds.), *The Wiley handbook of contextual behavioral* science (pp. 422–458). Wiley Blackwell.

Takahashi, F., Ishizu, K., Matsubara, K., Ohtsuki, T., & Shimoda, Y. (2020). Acceptance and commitment therapy as a school-based group intervention for adolescents: An open-label trial. *Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science*, *16*, 71–79.
 <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.03.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2020.03.001</a>

Taylor, N., Mehra, S., Elley, K., Patterson, F., & Cousans, F. (2016). The value of situational judgement tests for assessing non-academic attributes in dental selection. *British Dental Journal*, 220(11), 565–566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bdj.2016.406</u>

The Children's Society. (2020). *The Good Childhood Report 2020*. Retrieved from
<a href="https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-11/Good-Childhood-Report-2020.pdf">https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/2020-11/Good-Childhood-Report-2020.pdf</a>

- Travers, C. (2017). Current Knowledge on the Nature, Prevalence, Sources and Potential Impact of Teacher Stress. In *Connecting Healthcare Worker Well-Being, Patient Safety and Organisational Change* (pp. 23–54). Connecting Healthcare Worker Well-Being, Patient Safety and Organisational Change. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53053-6\_2</u>
- Trevelyan, E. G., & Robinson, P. N. (2015). Delphi methodology in health research: how to do it? *European Journal of Integrative Medicine*, 7(4), 423–428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eujim.2015.07.002</u>
- Twohig, M. P., Vilardaga, J. C. P., Levin, M. E., & Hayes, S. C. (2015). Changes in psychological flexibility during acceptance and commitment therapy for obsessive compulsive

disorder. Journal of Contextual Behavioral Science, 4(3), 196–202.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcbs.2015.07.001

Van Der Gucht, K., Griffith, J. W., Hellemans, R., Bockstaele, M., Pascal-Claes, F., & Raes, F. (2017). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) for Adolescents: Outcomes of a Large-Sample, School-Based, Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial. *Mindfulness*, 8(2), 408–416.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-016-0612-y

- Webster, E. S., Paton, L. W., Crampton, P. E. S., & Tiffin, P. A. (2020). Situational judgement test validity for selection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Medical Education*, 54(10), 888–902. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/medu.14201</u>
- Welsh Government. (2021). Framework on embedding a whole-school approach to emotional and mental well-being. Retrieved from <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2021-03/framework-on-embedding-a-whole-school-approach-to-emotional-and-mental-well-being.pdf</u>
- Werner-Seidler, A., Perry, Y., Calear, A. L., Newby, J. M., & Christensen, H. (2017). School-based depression and anxiety prevention programs for young people: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *51*, 30–47.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.10.005

- Wolcott, M. D., Lobczowski, N. G., Zeeman, J. M., & Mclaughlin, J. E. (2020). Situational judgment test validity: an exploratory model of the participant response process using cognitive and think-aloud interviews. *BMC Medical Education*, 20(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-020-02410-z</u>
- World Health Organization. (2021). Report of the first Virtual Meeting of the External Advisory Group (EAG) for the development of Global Standards for Health Promoting Schools and their

implementation guidance. Retrieved from

https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240011069

Your ACT Auntie. (2020). *Why are our thoughts often so negative?!* [Video]. YouTube.

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0BF1hJaNtms

# Appendices

### Appendix A – Author Guidelines for The Association of Child and Adolescent Mental Health

1. Contributions from any discipline that further clinical knowledge of the mental life and behaviour of children are welcomed. Papers need to clearly draw out the clinical implications for mental health practitioners. Papers are published in English. As an international journal, submissions are welcomed from any country. Contributions should be of a standard that merits presentation before an international readership. Papers may assume any of the following forms: Original Articles; Review Articles; Innovations in Practice; Narrative Matters; Debate Articles.

CAMH considers the fact that services are looking at treating young adults up until the age of 25, with the evidence that brains continue to develop until the age of 25, as well as the fact that a lot of issues that affect young adults and students are also relevant and topical to older adolescents. CAMH offers a discretionary approach and will take into consideration papers that extend into young adulthood, if they are pertinent developmentally to the younger population and contribute further to a developmental perspective across adolescence and early adult years.

Authors are asked to remember that CAMH is an international journal and therefore clarification should be provided for any references that are made in submitted papers to the practice within the authors' own country. This is to ensure that the meaning is clearly understandable for our diverse readership. Authors should make their papers as broadly applicable as possible for a global audience.

**Original Articles**: Original Articles make an original contribution to empirical knowledge, to the theoretical understanding of the subject, or to the development of clinical research and practice.

**Review Articles**: These papers offer a critical perspective on a key body of current research relevant to child and adolescent mental health. The journal requires the pre-registration of review protocols on any publicly accessible platform (e.g. The International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews, or PROSPERO).

**Innovations in Practice**: These papers report on any new and innovative development that could have a major impact on evidence-based practice, intervention and service models.

**Narrative Matters**: These papers describe important topics and issues relevant to those working in child and adolescent mental health but considered from within the context and framework of the Humanities and Social Sciences.

**Debate Articles:** These papers express opposing points of view or opinions, highlighting current evidence-based issues, or discuss differences in clinical practice

2. Submission of a paper to *Child and Adolescent Mental Health* will be held to imply that it represents an original submission, not previously published; that it is not being considered for publication elsewhere; and that if accepted for publication it will not be published elsewhere without the consent of the Editors.

Manuscripts should be submitted online. For detailed instructions please go
 http://mc.manuscriptcentral.com/camh\_journal and check for existing account if you have
 submitted to or reviewed for the journal before, or have forgotten your details. If you are new to the

journal *create a new account*. Help with submitting online can be obtained from the Editorial Office at ACAMH (email: <u>publications@acamh.org</u>)

4. Authors' professional and ethical responsibilities

# Disclosure of interest form

All authors will be asked to download and sign a full Disclosure of Interests form and acknowledge this and sources of funding in the manuscript.

#### Ethics

Authors are reminded that the *Journal* adheres to the ethics of scientific publication as detailed in the *Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct* (American Psychological Association, 2010). These principles also imply that the piecemeal, or fragmented publication of small amounts of data from the same study is not acceptable. The Journal also generally conforms to the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICJME) and is also a member and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

#### Informed consent and ethics approval

Authors must ensure that all research meets these ethical guidelines and affirm that the research has received permission from a stated Research Ethics Committee (REC) or Institutional Review Board (IRB), including adherence to the legal requirements of the study county. Within the Methods section, authors should indicate that 'informed consent' has been appropriately obtained and state the name of the REC, IRB or other body that provided ethical approval. When submitting a manuscript, the manuscript page number where these statements appear should be given.

#### Preprints

CAMH will consider for review articles previously available as preprints. Authors may also post the submitted version of a manuscript to a preprint server at any time. Authors are requested to update any pre-publication versions with a link to the final published article. Please find the Wiley preprint policy <u>here</u>.

#### Note to NIH Grantees

Pursuant to NIH mandate, Wiley-Blackwell will post the accepted version of contributions authored by NIH grant-holders to PubMed Central upon acceptance. This accepted version will be made publicaly available 12 months after publication. For further information, see <a href="http://www.wiley.com/go/nihmandate">www.wiley.com/go/nihmandate</a>.

# Recommended guidelines and standards

The Journal requires authors to conform to CONSORT 2010 (see <u>CONSORT Statement</u>) in relation to the reporting of randomised controlled clinical trials; also recommended is the <u>Extensions of the</u> <u>CONSORT Statement</u> with regard to cluster randomised controlled trials). In particular, authors must include in their paper a flow chart illustrating the progress of subjects through the trial (CONSORT diagram) and the CONSORT checklist. The flow diagram should appear in the main paper, the checklist in the online Appendix. Trial registry name, registration identification number, and the URL for the registry should also be included at the end of the methods section of the Abstract and again in the Methods section of the main text, and in the online manuscript submission. Trials must be registered in one of the ICJME-recognised trial registries:

Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry Clinical Trials Netherlands Trial Register ISRCTN Registry UMIN Clinical Trials Registry Manuscripts reporting systematic reviews or meta-analyses will only be considered if they conform to the **PRISMA Statement**. We ask authors to include within their review article a flow diagram that illustrates the selection and elimination process for the articles included in their review or meta-analysis, as well as a completed PRISMA Checklist. The journal requires the pre-registration of review protocols on any publicly accessible platform (e.g. The International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews, or PROSPERO).

The Equator Network is recommended as a resource on the above and other reporting guidelines for which the editors will expect studies of all methodologies to follow. Of particular note are the guidelines on qualitative work <a href="http://www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/evolving-guidelines-for-publication-of-qualitative-research-studies-in-psychology-and-related-fields">http://www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/evolving-guidelines-for-publication-of-qualitative-research-studies-in-psychology-and-related-fields</a> and on quasi-experimental <a href="http://www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/the-quality-of-mixed-methods-studies-in-health-services-research">http://www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/the-quality-of-mixed-methods-studies-in-health-services-research</a> and mixed method designs <a href="http://www.equator-network-or/reporting-guidelines/the-quality-of-mixed-methods-studies-in-health-services-research">http://www.equator-network.org/reporting-guidelines/the-quality-of-mixed-methods-studies-in-health-services-research</a> and mixed method designs <a href="http://www.equator-network-or/reporting-guidelines/guidelines-for-conducting-and-reporting-mixed-research-in-the-field-of-counseling-and-beyond">http://www.equator-network-or/reporting-guidelines/guidelines/the-quality-of-mixed-research-in-the-field-of-counseling-and-beyond</a>

# CrossCheck

An initiative started by *CrossRef* to help its members actively engage in efforts to prevent scholarly and professional plagiarism. The journal to which you are submitting your manuscript employs a plagiarism detection system. By submitting your manuscripts to this journal you accept that your manuscript may be screened for plagiarism against previously published works.

5. Manuscripts should be double spaced and conform to the house style of *CAMH*. The title page of the manuscript should include the title, name(s) and address(es) of author(s), an abbreviated title (running head) of up to 80 characters, a correspondence address for the paper, and any ethical information relevant to the study (name of the authority, data and reference number for approval) or a statement explaining why their study did not require ethical approval.

*Summary:* Authors should include a structured Abstract not exceeding 250 words under the subheadings: Background; Method; Results; Conclusions.

*Key Practitioner Message:* Below the Abstract, please provide 1-2 bullet points answering each of the following questions:

- What is known? What is the relevant background knowledge base to your study? This may also include areas of uncertainty or ignorance.
- What is new? What does your study tell us that we didn't already know or is novel regarding its design?
- What is significant for clinical practice? Based on your findings, what should practitioners do differently or, if your study is of a preliminary nature, why should more research be devoted to this particular study?

Keywords: Please provide 4-6 keywords use MeSH Browser for suggestions

6. Papers submitted should be concise and written in English in a readily understandable style, avoiding sexist and racist language. Articles should adhere to journal guidelines and include a word count of their paper; occasionally, longer article may be accepted after negotiation with the Editors.

7. Authors who do not have English as a first language may choose to have their manuscript professionally edited prior to submission; a list of independent suppliers of editing services can be found at <u>http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/english\_language.asp</u>. All services are paid for

and arranged by the author, and use of one of these services does not guarantee acceptance or preference for publication.

8. Headings: Original articles should be set out in the conventional format: Methods, Results, Discussion and Conclusion. Descriptions of techniques and methods should only be given in detail when they are unfamiliar. There should be no more than three (clearly marked) levels of subheadings used in the text.

9. All manuscripts should have an Acknowledgement section at the end of the main text, before the References. This should include statements on the following:

*Study funding:* Please provide information on any external or grant funding of the work (or for any of the authors); where there is no external funding, please state this explicitly.

*Contributorships*: Please state any elements of authorship for which particular authors are responsible, where contributorships differ between author group. (All authors must share responsibility for the final version of the work submitted and published; if the study include original data, at least one author must confirm that he or she had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data in the study and the accuracy of the data analysis). Contributions from others outside the author group should also be acknowledged (e.g. study assistance or statistical advice) and collaborators and study participants may also be thanked.

*Conflicts of interest:* Please disclose any conflicts of interest of potential relevance to the work reported for each of the authors. If no conflicts of interest exist, please include an explicit declaration of the form: "The author(s) have declared that they have no competing or potential conflicts of interest".

10. For referencing, *CAMH* follows a slightly adapted version of APA Style <u>http:www.apastyle.org/</u>. References in running text should be quoted showing author(s) and date. For up to three authors, all surnames should be given on first citation; for subsequent citations or where there are more than three authors, 'et al.' should be used. A full reference list should be given at the end of the article, in alphabetical order.

References to journal articles should include the authors' surnames and initials, the year of publication, the full title of the paper, the full name of the journal, the volume number, and inclusive page numbers. Titles of journals must not be abbreviated. References to chapters in books should include authors' surnames and initials, year of publication, full chapter title, editors' initials and surnames, full book title, page numbers, place of publication and publisher.

11. Tables: These should be kept to a minimum and not duplicate what is in the text; they should be clearly set out and numbered and should appear at the end of the main text, with their intended position clearly indicated in the manuscript.

12. Figures: Any figures, charts or diagrams should be originated in a drawing package and saved within the Word file or as an EPS or TIFF file.

See <u>http://authorservices.wiley.com/bauthor/illustration.asp</u> for further guidelines on preparing and submitting artwork. Titles or captions should be clear and easy to read. These should appear at the end of the main text.

13. Footnotes should be avoided, but end notes may be used on a limited basis.

# **Data Sharing and Supporting Information**

CAMH encourages authors to share the data and other artefacts supporting the results in the paper by archiving them by uploading it upon submission or in an appropriate public repository. Examples of possible supporting material include intervention manuals, statistical analysis syntax, and experimental materials and qualitative transcripts.

1. If uploading with your manuscript please call the file 'supporting information' and reference it in the manuscript.

2. Please note supporting files are uploaded with the final published manuscript as supplied, they are not typeset.

3. On publication your supporting information will be available alongside the final version of the manuscript online.

4. If uploading to a public repository please provide a link to supporting material and reference it in the manuscript. The materials must be original and not previously published. If previously published, please provide the necessary permissions. You may also display your supporting information on your own or institutional website. Such posting is not subject to the journal's embargo date as specified in the copyright agreement. Supporting information is made free to access on publication.

Full guidance on Supporting Information including file types, size and format is available on the <u>Wiley Author Service</u> website.

For information on Sharing and Citing your Research Data see the Author Services website here.

# **Original Articles**

Original Articles make an original contribution to empirical knowledge, to the theoretical understanding of the subject, or to the development of clinical research and practice. Adult data is not usually accepted for publication unless it bears directly on developmental issues in childhood and adolescence.

Your Original Article should be no more than 5,500 words including tables, figures and references.

# **Review Articles**

Research Articles offer our readers a critical perspective on a key body of current research relevant to child and adolescent mental health and maintain high standards of scientific practice by conforming to systematic guidelines as set out in the **PRISMA statement**. These articles should aim to inform readers of any important or controversial issues/findings, as well as the relevant conceptual and theoretical models, and provide them with sufficient information to evaluate the principal arguments involved. All review articles should also make clear the relevancy of the research covered, and any findings, for clinical practice.

Your Review Article should be no more than 8,000 words excluding tables, figures and references and no more than 10,000 including tables, figures and references.

# **Innovations in Practice**

Innovations in Practice promote knowledge of new and interesting developments that have an impact on evidence-based practice, intervention and service models. These might have arisen through the application of careful, systematic planning, a response to a particular need, through the continuing evolution of an existing practice or service, or because of changes in circumstances

and/or technologies. Submissions should set out the aims and details of the innovation including any relevant mental health, service, social and cultural contextual factors, and give a close, critical analysis of the innovation and its potential significance for the practice of child and adolescent mental health.

Due to the short length of this article type, your Innovations in Practice article should be no more than 2,200 words including tables, figures and references and contain no more than 8 references.

# Narrative Matters: The Medical Humanities in CAMH

These articles are both submissions and directly commissioned papers. They will be peer-reviewed. The articles should be on a humanities topic relevant to those working in child and adolescent mental health. The topics can include but are not restricted to: aspects of child mental health service history; representations of abnormal mental states or mental illness in children and teenagers in film, literature or drama; depictions of child mental health clinicians within popular culture; ethical dilemmas in the speciality. Interest and originality are valued. If in doubt, please contact the section editor: <u>Gordon.Bates@covwarkpt.nhs.uk</u>. The essays should be between 1500 and 2000 words and written for an audience of child mental health professionals. For publishing reasons, there is an upper limit of 8 references for the article. Additional references may be given in the text if necessary.

#### **Debate Articles**

Our debate articles express opposing points of view or opinions, highlighting current evidence-based issues, or discuss differences in clinical practice. Although discussion of evidence is welcome, these articles generally do not include primary data. The evidence on which your arguments are based and how that was sourced should be explicit and referenced, and the quality of your evidence made clear.

Due to the short length of this article type, your Debate article should be no more than 1,000 words and contain no more than 8 references. If in doubt, please contact the section editor Rachel.Elvins@mft.nhs.uk

#### **Manuscript Processing**

*Peer Review Process:* All material submitted to CAMH is only accepted for publication after being subjected to external scholarly peer review, following initial evaluation by one of the Editors. Both original and review-type articles will usually be single-blind reviewed by a minimum of two external referees and only accepted by the decision Editor after satisfactory revision. Any appeal of an editorial decision will first be considered by the initial decision Editor, in consultation with other Editors. Editorials and commissioned editorial opinion articles will usually be subject to internal review only, but this will be clarified in the published Acknowledgement section. Editorial practices and decision making will conform to COPE <a href="http://publicationethics.org/resources/guidelines">http://publicationethics.org/resources/guidelines</a> and ICMJE <a href="http://icmje.org/">http://icmje.org/</a> best practice.

# Proofs

Authors will receive an e-mail notification with a link and instructions for accessing HTML page proofs online. Page proofs should be carefully proofread for any copyediting or typesetting errors. Online guidelines are provided within the system. No special software is required, all common browsers are supported. Authors should also make sure that any renumbered tables, figures, or references match text citations and that figure legends correspond with text citations and actual figures. Proofs must be returned within 48 hours of receipt of the email. Return of proofs via e-mail is possible in the event that the online system cannot be used or accessed.

Offprints: Free access to the final PDF offprint of your article will be available via Wiley's Author

Services only. Please therefore sign up for <u>Author Services</u> if you would like to access your article PDF offprint and enjoy the many other benefits the service offers. Should you wish to purchase additional copies of your article, please visit <u>http://offprint.cosprinters.com/cos/bw/</u> and follow the instructions provided. If you have queries about offprints please email:<u>offprint@cosprinters.com</u>.

*Copyright:* If your paper is accepted, the author identified as the corresponding author for the paper will receive an email prompting them to log into Author Services where, via the Wiley Author Licensing Service (WALS), they will be able to complete a license agreement on behalf of all co-authors of the paper.

# **Correction to Authorship**

In accordance with <u>Wiley's Best Practice Guidelines on Research Integrity and Publishing Ethics</u> and the <u>Committee on Publication Ethics' guidance</u>, *CAMH* will allow authors to correct authorship on a submitted, accepted, or published article if a valid reason exists to do so. All authors – including those to be added or removed – must agree to any proposed change. To request a change to the author list, please complete the <u>Request for Changes to a Journal Article Author List Form</u> and contact either the journal's editorial or production office, depending on the status of the article. Authorship changes will not be considered without a fully completed Author Change form. Correcting the authorship is different from changing an author's name; the relevant policy for that can be found in <u>Wiley's Best Practice Guidelines</u> under "Author name changes after publication."

# Wiley's Author Name Change Policy

In cases where authors wish to change their name following publication, Wiley will update and republish the paper and redeliver the updated metadata to indexing services. Our editorial and production teams will use discretion in recognizing that name changes may be of a sensitive and private nature for various reasons including (but not limited to) alignment with gender identity, or as a result of marriage, divorce, or religious conversion. Accordingly, to protect the author's privacy, we will not publish a correction notice to the paper, and we will not notify co-authors of the change. Authors should contact the journal's Editorial Office with their name change request.

# **Article Preparation Support**

<u>Wiley Editing Services</u> offers expert help with English Language Editing, as well as translation, manuscript formatting, figure illustration, figure formatting, and graphical abstract design – so you can submit your manuscript with confidence. Also, check out our resources for <u>Preparing Your</u> <u>Article</u> for general guidance about writing and preparing your manuscript.

# **Article Promotion Support**

<u>Wiley Editing Services</u> offers professional video, design, and writing services to create shareable video abstracts, infographics, conference posters, lay summaries, and research news stories for your research – so you can help your research get the attention it deserves.

# For authors who do not choose open access

If the open access option is not selected, the corresponding author will be presented with the Copyright transfer Agreement (CTA) to sign. The terms and conditions of the CTA can be previewed in the Copyright FAQs <u>here</u>.

#### For authors choosing open access

If the open access option is selected, the corresponding author will have a choice of the following Creative Commons License Open Access Agreements (OAA):

Creative Commons Attribution License OAA

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License OAA

Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License OAA

To preview the terms and conditions of these Open Access Agreements please visit the Copyright FAQs <u>here</u> and click <u>here</u> for more information.

If you select the open access option and your research is funded by certain Funders [e.g. The Wellcome Trust and members of the Research Councils UK (RCUK) or the Austrian Science Fund (FWF)] you will be given the opportunity to publish your article under a CC-BY license supporting you in complying with your Funders requirements.

For more information on this policy and the journal's compliant self-archiving policy please click <u>here</u>.

# Liability

Whilst every effort is made by the publishers and editorial board to see that no inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or statement appears in this journal, they wish to make it clear that the data and opinions appearing in the articles and advertisements herein are the sole responsibility of the contributor or advertiser concerned. Accordingly, the publishers, the editorial board and editors, and their respective employees, officers and agents accept no responsibility or liability whatsoever for the consequences of any such inaccurate or misleading data, opinion or statement.

# Appendix B: TIDieR Checklist Reporting Page Numbers and Details for Replication of Targeted Intervention Studies

largeted intervention Paper						
TIDier Item	Brown et al. (2019)	Chiumento et al. (2018)	Pluess et al. (2017)	Stallard et al. (2012)	Weeks et al. (2017)	Total (by checklist item)
1. Name of intervention	150	2	2	2	4	100%
2. Rationale	152-153	2	2	2	3-4	100%
3. Materials	153	-	5-6ª	-	-	40%
4. Intervention activities	153 <sup>b</sup>	3	5-6	-	-	60%
5. Facilitator	153	2	5	2	5	100%
6. Mode of delivery	153	1, 3	5	2	5	100%
7. Setting	153	3	5	2	5, 10	100%
8. Dosage	153	2	5	2	5	100%
9. Planned adaptations	-	-	-	-	-	0%
10. Modifications	-	-	-	-	-	0%
11. Planned fidelity checks	-	-	6	-	-	20%
12. Actual fidelity checks	-	-	6	3	-	40%
Total	67%	58%	83%	67%	50%	
(by paper)						

**Targeted Intervention Paper** 

<sup>a</sup> The original intervention guide referenced has since been adapted and further information can be found at <u>https://partnershipforchildren.org.uk/what-we-do/programmes-for-schools/spark-resilience.html</u>; <sup>b</sup> Further information can be found in an earlier trial of the intervention (Sclare et al., 2015)

					Universal Inte	ervention Paper					
TIDier Item	Boniwell et al. (2016)	Challen et al. (2014)	Eisenstein et al. (2019)	Huppert et al. (2010)	Kuyken et al. (2013)	Platt et al. (2020)	Proctor et al. (2011)	Punukollu et al. (2020)	Rice et al. (2015)	Wigelsworth et al. (2013)	Total (by checklist item)
1. Name of intervention	87	76	59	266	126	4	379	507	321	98	100%
2. Rationale	86	76	58-59	264-267	126-127	2-4	377-379	507	321	97-98	100%
3. Materials	87	77	59	267	126	-	383ª	_b	Appendix	<b>101</b> <sup>c</sup>	70%
4. Intervention activities	88-89	Appendix <sup>d</sup>	59	267	-	4-5	382-383ª	_b	321-322; Appendix	<b>101</b> <sup>c</sup>	80%
5. Facilitator	87	78	59	266	127	5	383	-	321; Appendix	101	90%
6. Mode of delivery	86	77-78	-	267	127	4	383	507	321	-	80%
7. Setting	86	78	-	267	127	4	382-383	-	321	-	70%
8. Dosage	86	78	59	267	126-127	4-5	383	-	321	-	80%
9. Planned adaptations	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	513	-	-	10%
10. Modifications	-	-	-	-	-	5	-	-	-	-	10%
11. Planned fidelity checks	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	322; Appendix	100	20%
12. Actual fidelity checks	-	82-84	-	-	-	-	-	-	322; Appendix	-	20%
Total (by paper)	67%	75%	50%	67%	58%	67%	67%	33%	83%	50%	

#### Appendix C: TIDieR Checklist Reporting Page Numbers and Details for Replication of Universal Intervention Studies

<sup>a</sup>Materials have since been adapted and can be purchased ("Strengths Gym: Build and exercise your strengths"); <sup>b</sup> Further information and resources can be found at <u>https://safespot.org.uk;</u> <sup>c</sup> Further information and resources can be found at <u>http://sealcommunity.org/category/member-resources/classroom-activities-and-resources-secondary</u>; <sup>d</sup> Further information can be found at <u>https://ppc.sas.upenn.edu/research/resilience-children</u>.

# Appendix D: Author Guidelines for the Journal of School Psychology

#### Article structure

## Subdivision - unnumbered sections

Divide your article into clearly defined sections. Each subsection is given a brief heading. Each heading should appear on its own separate line. Subsections should be used as much as possible when cross-referencing text: refer to the subsection by heading as opposed to simply 'the text'.

#### Introduction

State the objectives of the work and provide an adequate background, avoiding a detailed literature survey or a summary of the results.

#### Material and methods

Provide sufficient details to allow the work to be reproduced by an independent researcher. Methods that are already published should be summarized, and indicated by a reference. If quoting directly from a previously published method, use quotation marks and also cite the source. Any modifications to existing methods should also be described.

#### Experimental

Provide sufficient details to allow the work to be reproduced by an independent researcher. Methods that are already published should be summarized, and indicated by a reference. If quoting directly from a previously published method, use quotation marks and also cite the source. Any modifications to existing methods should also be described.

#### Theory/calculation

A Theory section should extend, not repeat, the background to the article already dealt with in the Introduction and lay the foundation for further work. In contrast, a Calculation section represents a practical development from a theoretical basis.

# Results

Results should be clear and concise.

#### Discussion

This should explore the significance of the results of the work, not repeat them. A combined Results and Discussion section is often appropriate. Avoid extensive citations and discussion of published literature.

#### Conclusions

The main conclusions of the study may be presented in a short Conclusions section, which may stand alone or form a subsection of a Discussion or Results and Discussion section.

# Appendices

If there is more than one appendix, they should be identified as A, B, etc. Formulae and equations in appendices should be given separate numbering: Eq. (A.1), Eq. (A.2), etc.; in a subsequent appendix, Eq. (B.1) and so on. Similarly for tables and figures: Table A.1; Fig. A.1, etc.

#### Essential title page information

• *Title.* Concise and informative. Titles are often used in information-retrieval systems. Avoid abbreviations and formulae where possible.

• Author names and affiliations. Please clearly indicate the given name(s) and family name(s) of

each author and check that all names are accurately spelled. You can add your name between parentheses in your own script behind the English transliteration. Present the authors' affiliation addresses (where the actual work was done) below the names. Indicate all affiliations with a lowercase superscript letter immediately after the author's name and in front of the appropriate address. Provide the full postal address of each affiliation, including the country name and, if available, the email address of each author.

• *Corresponding author.* Clearly indicate who will handle correspondence at all stages of refereeing and publication, also post-publication. This responsibility includes answering any future queries about Methodology and Materials. Ensure that the e-mail address is given and that contact details are kept up to date by the corresponding author.

• **Present/permanent address.** If an author has moved since the work described in the article was done, or was visiting at the time, a 'Present address' (or 'Permanent address') may be indicated as a footnote to that author's name. The address at which the author actually did the work must be retained as the main, affiliation address. Superscript Arabic numerals are used for such footnotes.

# Abstract

A concise and factual abstract is required. The abstract should state briefly the purpose of the research, the principal results and major conclusions. An abstract is often presented separately from the article, so it must be able to stand alone. For this reason, References should be avoided, but if essential, then cite the author(s) and year(s). Also, non-standard or uncommon abbreviations should be avoided, but if essential they must be defined at their first mention in the abstract itself.

#### Keywords

Immediately after the abstract, provide a maximum of 6 keywords, using American spelling and avoiding general and plural terms and multiple concepts (avoid, for example, 'and', 'of'). Be sparing with abbreviations: only abbreviations firmly established in the field may be eligible. These keywords will be used for indexing purposes.

#### **Abbreviations**

Define abbreviations that are not standard in this field in a footnote to be placed on the first page of the article. Such abbreviations that are unavoidable in the abstract must be defined at their first mention there, as well as in the footnote. Ensure consistency of abbreviations throughout the article.

#### Acknowledgements

Collate acknowledgements in a separate section at the end of the article before the references and do not, therefore, include them on the title page, as a footnote to the title or otherwise. List here those individuals who provided help during the research (e.g., providing language help, writing assistance or proof reading the article, etc.).

#### Formatting of funding sources

List funding sources in this standard way to facilitate compliance to funder's requirements:

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health [grant numbers xxxx, yyyy]; the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, WA [grant number zzzz]; and the United States Institutes of Peace [grant number aaaa].

It is not necessary to include detailed descriptions on the program or type of grants and awards. When funding is from a block grant or other resources available to a university, college, or other research institution, submit the name of the institute or organization that provided the funding.

If no funding has been provided for the research, please include the following sentence:

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

# Units

Follow internationally accepted rules and conventions: use the international system of units (SI). If other units are mentioned, please give their equivalent in SI.

# Math formulae

Please submit math equations as editable text and not as images. Present simple formulae in line with normal text where possible and use the solidus (/) instead of a horizontal line for small fractional terms, e.g., X/Y. In principle, variables are to be presented in italics. Powers of e are often more conveniently denoted by exp. Number consecutively any equations that have to be displayed separately from the text (if referred to explicitly in the text).

# Footnotes

Footnotes should be used sparingly. Number them consecutively throughout the article. Many word processors can build footnotes into the text, and this feature may be used. Otherwise, please indicate the position of footnotes in the text and list the footnotes themselves separately at the end of the article. Do not include footnotes in the Reference list.

# Artwork

# Electronic artwork

**General points** 

- Make sure you use uniform lettering and sizing of your original artwork.
- Embed the used fonts if the application provides that option.

• Aim to use the following fonts in your illustrations: Arial, Courier, Times New Roman, Symbol, or use fonts that look similar.

- Number the illustrations according to their sequence in the text.
- Use a logical naming convention for your artwork files.
- Provide captions to illustrations separately.
- Size the illustrations close to the desired dimensions of the published version.
- Submit each illustration as a separate file.
- Ensure that color images are accessible to all, including those with impaired color vision.

A detailed guide on electronic artwork is available.

You are urged to visit this site; some excerpts from the detailed information are given here. Formats

If your electronic artwork is created in a Microsoft Office application (Word, PowerPoint, Excel) then please supply 'as is' in the native document format.

Regardless of the application used other than Microsoft Office, when your electronic artwork is finalized, please 'Save as' or convert the images to one of the following formats (note the resolution requirements for line drawings, halftones, and line/halftone combinations given below): EPS (or PDF): Vector drawings, embed all used fonts.

TIFF (or JPEG): Color or grayscale photographs (halftones), keep to a minimum of 300 dpi.

TIFF (or JPEG): Bitmapped (pure black & white pixels) line drawings, keep to a minimum of 1000 dpi. TIFF (or JPEG): Combinations bitmapped line/half-tone (color or grayscale), keep to a minimum of 500 dpi.

Please do not:

- Supply files that are optimized for screen use (e.g., GIF, BMP, PICT, WPG); these typically have a low number of pixels and limited set of colors;
- Supply files that are too low in resolution;
- Submit graphics that are disproportionately large for the content.

## Color artwork

Please make sure that artwork files are in an acceptable format (TIFF (or JPEG), EPS (or PDF), or MS Office files) and with the correct resolution. If, together with your accepted article, you submit usable color figures then Elsevier will ensure, at no additional charge, that these figures will appear in color online (e.g., ScienceDirect and other sites) regardless of whether or not these illustrations are reproduced in color in the printed version. For color reproduction in print, you will receive information regarding the costs from Elsevier after receipt of your accepted article. Please indicate your preference for color: in print or online only. Further information on the preparation of electronic artwork.

#### Figure captions

*Ensure that each illustration has a caption. Supply captions separately, not attached to the figure. A caption should comprise a brief title (not* on the figure itself) and a description of the illustration. Keep text in the illustrations themselves to a minimum but explain all symbols and abbreviations used.

#### **Tables**

Please submit tables as editable text and not as images. Tables can be placed either next to the relevant text in the article, or on separate page(s) at the end. Number tables consecutively in accordance with their appearance in the text and place any table notes below the table body. Be sparing in the use of tables and ensure that the data presented in them do not duplicate results described elsewhere in the article. Please avoid using vertical rules and shading in table cells.

#### References

#### Citation in text

Please ensure that every reference cited in the text is also present in the reference list (and vice versa). Any references cited in the abstract must be given in full. Unpublished results and personal communications are not recommended in the reference list, but may be mentioned in the text. If these references are included in the reference list they should follow the standard reference style of the journal and should include a substitution of the publication date with either 'Unpublished results' or 'Personal communication'. Citation of a reference as 'in press' implies that the item has been accepted for publication.

#### Web references

As a minimum, the full URL should be given and the date when the reference was last accessed. Any further information, if known (DOI, author names, dates, reference to a source publication, etc.), should also be given. Web references can be listed separately (e.g., after the reference list) under a different heading if desired, or can be included in the reference list.

#### Data references

This journal encourages you to cite underlying or relevant datasets in your manuscript by citing them in your text and including a data reference in your Reference List. Data references should include the following elements: author name(s), dataset title, data repository, version (where available), year, and global persistent identifier. Add [dataset] immediately before the reference so we can properly identify it as a data reference. The [dataset] identifier will not appear in your published article.

## References in a special issue

Please ensure that the words 'this issue' are added to any references in the list (and any citations in the text) to other articles in the same Special Issue.

#### Reference management software

Most Elsevier journals have their reference template available in many of the most popular reference management software products. These include all products that support Citation Style Language styles, such as Mendeley. Using citation plug-ins from these products, authors only need to select the appropriate journal template when preparing their article, after which citations and bibliographies will be automatically formatted in the journal's style. If no template is yet available for this journal, please follow the format of the sample references and citations as shown in this Guide. If you use reference management software, please ensure that you remove all field codes before submitting the electronic manuscript. More information on how to remove field codes from different reference management software.

# Users of Mendeley Desktop can easily install the reference style for this journal by clicking the following link:

# <u>http://open.mendeley.com/use-citation-style/journal-of-school-psychology</u> When preparing your manuscript, you will then be able to select this style using the Mendeley plug-ins for Microsoft Word or LibreOffice.

# Reference style

*Text:* Citations in the text should follow the referencing style used by the American Psychological Association. You are referred to the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association, Seventh Edition, ISBN 978-1-4338-3215-4, copies of which may be <u>ordered online</u>.

List: references should be arranged first alphabetically and then further sorted chronologically if necessary. More than one reference from the same author(s) in the same year must be identified by the letters 'a', 'b', 'c', etc., placed after the year of publication. Examples:

Reference to a journal publication:

Van der Geer, J., Hanraads, J. A. J., & Lupton, R. A. (2010). The art of writing a scientific article. *Journal of Scientific Communications*, *163*, 51–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sc.2010.00372</u>. Reference to a journal publication with an article number:

Van der Geer, J., Hanraads, J. A. J., & Lupton, R. A. (2018). The art of writing a scientific article. *Heliyon*, *19*, Article e00205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2018.e00205</u>. Reference to a book:

Strunk, W., Jr., & White, E. B. (2000). *The elements of style* (4th ed.). Longman (Chapter 4). Reference to a chapter in an edited book:

Mettam, G. R., & Adams, L. B. (2009). How to prepare an electronic version of your article. In B. S. Jones, & R. Z. Smith (Eds.), *Introduction to the electronic age* (pp. 281–304). E-Publishing Inc. Reference to a website:

Powertech Systems. (2015). Lithium-ion vs lead-acid cost analysis. Retrieved from

http://www.powertechsystems.eu/home/tech-corner/lithium-ion-vs-lead-acid-cost-analysis/.

Accessed January 6, 2016

Reference to a dataset:

[dataset] Oguro, M., Imahiro, S., Saito, S., & Nakashizuka, T. (2015). *Mortality data for Japanese oak wilt disease and surrounding forest compositions*. Mendeley Data, v1.

https://doi.org/10.17632/xwj98nb39r.1.

Reference to a conference paper or poster presentation:

Engle, E.K., Cash, T.F., & Jarry, J.L. (2009, November). *The Body Image Behaviours Inventory-3: Development and validation of the Body Image Compulsive Actions and Body Image Avoidance Scales*. Poster session presentation at the meeting of the Association for Behavioural and Cognitive Therapies, New York, NY.

Reference to software:

Coon, E., Berndt, M., Jan, A., Svyatsky, D., Atchley, A., Kikinzon, E., Harp, D., Manzini, G., Shelef, E., Lipnikov, K., Garimella, R., Xu, C., Moulton, D., Karra, S., Painter, S., Jafarov, E., & Molins, S. (2020, March 25). *Advanced Terrestrial Simulator (ATS) v0.88 (Version 0.88)*. Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3727209.

# Journal abbreviations source

Journal names should be abbreviated according to the List of Title Word Abbreviations.

Video

Elsevier accepts video material and animation sequences to support and enhance your scientific research. Authors who have video or animation files that they wish to submit with their article are strongly encouraged to include links to these within the body of the article. This can be done in the same way as a figure or table by referring to the video or animation content and noting in the body text where it should be placed. All submitted files should be properly labeled so that they directly relate to the video file's content. In order to ensure that your video or animation material is directly usable, please provide the file in one of our recommended file formats with a preferred maximum size of 150 MB per file, 1 GB in total. Video and animation files supplied will be published online in the electronic version of your article in Elsevier Web products, including ScienceDirect. Please supply 'stills' with your files: you can choose any frame from the video or animation or make a separate image. These will be used instead of standard icons and will personalize the link to your video data. For more detailed instructions please visit our video instruction pages. Note: since video and animation cannot be embedded in the print version of the journal, please provide text for both the electronic and the print version for the portions of the article that refer to this content.

# Data visualization

**Include interactive data visualizations in your publication and let your readers interact and engage more closely with your research. Follow the instructions** <u>here</u> to find out about available data visualization options and how to include them with your article.

# Supplementary material

Supplementary material such as applications, images and sound clips, can be published with your article to enhance it. Submitted supplementary items are published exactly as they are received (Excel or PowerPoint files will appear as such online). Please submit your material together with

the article and supply a concise, descriptive caption for each supplementary file. If you wish to make changes to supplementary material during any stage of the process, please make sure to provide an updated file. Do not annotate any corrections on a previous version. Please switch off the 'Track Changes' option in Microsoft Office files as these will appear in the published version.

#### **Research data**

This journal encourages and enables you to share data that supports your research publication where appropriate, and enables you to interlink the data with your published articles. Research data refers to the results of observations or experimentation that validate research findings. To facilitate reproducibility and data reuse, this journal also encourages you to share your software, code, models, algorithms, protocols, methods and other useful materials related to the project.

Below are a number of ways in which you can associate data with your article or make a statement about the availability of your data when submitting your manuscript. If you are sharing data in one of these ways, you are encouraged to cite the data in your manuscript and reference list. Please refer to the "References" section for more information about data citation. For more information on depositing, sharing and using research data and other relevant research materials, visit the <u>research data</u> page.

#### Data linking

If you have made your research data available in a data repository, you can link your article directly to the dataset. Elsevier collaborates with a number of repositories to link articles on ScienceDirect with relevant repositories, giving readers access to underlying data that gives them a better understanding of the research described.

There are different ways to link your datasets to your article. When available, you can directly link your dataset to your article by providing the relevant information in the submission system. For more information, visit the <u>database linking page</u>.

For <u>supported data repositories</u> a repository banner will automatically appear next to your published article on ScienceDirect.

In addition, you can link to relevant data or entities through identifiers within the text of your manuscript, using the following format: Database: xxxx (e.g., TAIR: AT1G01020; CCDC: 734053; PDB: 1XFN).

#### **Mendeley Data**

This journal supports Mendeley Data, enabling you to deposit any research data (including raw and processed data, video, code, software, algorithms, protocols, and methods) associated with your manuscript in a free-to-use, open access repository. During the submission process, after uploading your manuscript, you will have the opportunity to upload your relevant datasets directly to Mendeley Data. The datasets will be listed and directly accessible to readers next to your published article online.

For more information, visit the Mendeley Data for journals page.

#### Data statement

To foster transparency, we encourage you to state the availability of your data in your submission. This may be a requirement of your funding body or institution. If your data is unavailable to access or unsuitable to post, you will have the opportunity to indicate why during the submission process, for example by stating that the research data is confidential. The statement will appear with your published article on ScienceDirect. For more information, visit the <u>Data Statement page</u>.

## **Online proof correction**

To ensure a fast publication process of the article, we kindly ask authors to provide us with their proof corrections within two days. Corresponding authors will receive an e-mail with a link to our online proofing system, allowing annotation and correction of proofs online. The environment is similar to MS Word: in addition to editing text, you can also comment on figures/tables and answer questions from the Copy Editor. Web-based proofing provides a faster and less error-prone process by allowing you to directly type your corrections, eliminating the potential introduction of errors.

If preferred, you can still choose to annotate and upload your edits on the PDF version. All instructions for proofing will be given in the e-mail we send to authors, including alternative methods to the online version and PDF.

We will do everything possible to get your article published quickly and accurately. Please use this proof only for checking the typesetting, editing, completeness and correctness of the text, tables and figures. Significant changes to the article as accepted for publication will only be considered at this stage with permission from the Editor. It is important to ensure that all corrections are sent back to us in one communication. Please check carefully before replying, as inclusion of any subsequent corrections cannot be guaranteed. Proofreading is solely your responsibility.

#### Offprints

The corresponding author will be notified and receive a link to the published version of the open access article on <u>ScienceDirect</u>. This link is in the form of an article DOI link which can be shared via email and social networks. For an extra charge, paper offprints can be ordered via the offprint order form which is sent once the article is accepted for publication. Both corresponding and co-authors may order offprints at any time via Elsevier's <u>Author Services</u>.

# Additional information

The review process. The Journal of School Psychology editorial team strives to provide comprehensive and constructive reviews of manuscripts submitted to the journal in a timely manner, and it relies heavily on content experts in the field of school psychology as well as methodological and statistical advisors. All manuscripts are screened upon receipt by the Editor in order to determine the appropriateness of the manuscript's focus for the journal as well as adherence to organization and formatting as prescribed by the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association. Authors are promptly contacted if the manuscript is not deemed appropriate for peer review by the journal. If the manuscript is deemed appropriate, corresponding authors will receive an email notification from the Editor that informs them of the number assigned to the manuscript, the action editor assigned to the manuscript, and a target editorial decision date (which is generally 8 weeks from acknowledgement of receipt). Action editors may be the Editor, an Associate Editor, or a Guest Editor (i.e., an individual with significant expertise in the area of investigation who was specially invited to co-ordinate the review). The action editor will send the manuscript out for review to approximately three reviewers who are blind to the identity of authors. Reviewers may be from the Editorial Advisory Board or ad-hoc reviewers invited because of special expertise. (Review the most current Editorial Board at https://www.journals.elsevier.com/journal-ofschool-psychology/editorial-board). The Action Editor will write an editorial decision letter within

approximately 8 weeks and send it by email to the corresponding author. The editorial decision letter will include a decision regarding publication (i.e., Accept contingent on revision, Rejection encouraging revision, or Reject) and a rationale for the decision. The decision of Accept is reserved to the Editor. Therefore, Associate Editors and Guest Editors cannot accept an article for publication. Should an action editor other than the Editor find a manuscript suitable for publication in the *Journal of School Psychology*, the action editor will forward the manuscript to the Editor with a recommendation of acceptance. The Editor and a methodological and statistical advisor will review such manuscripts and make final recommendations for revision. Revisions are handled electronically. Authors should always provide a detailed letter outlining revisions when corresponding with action editors.

Copies may be ordered from http://www.apa.org/pubs/books/4200066.aspx. Thus, manuscripts should contain the standard sections outlined in the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association*. These sections include an abstract, an Introduction section, a Method section, a Results section, Discussion section, and a Reference section. Tables and figures should be formatted as prescribed in the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association*. Manuscripts should be written in formal American or British English. (Authors may visit <a href="https://webshop.elsevier.com/language-editing-services/language-editing/">https://webshop.elsevier.com/language-editing-services/language-editing/</a> for more information about its language editing services and to obtain general recommendations). Manuscripts that do not conform to these publication guidelines will not be distributed for peer review.

# **Appendix E: Ethical approval**

From: psychethics <psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk>
Sent: 29 September 2020 11:47
To: Victoria Samuel <SamuelV3@cardiff.ac.uk>
Subject: Ethics Feedback - EC.17.11.14.5006R6A6

Dear Victoria,

The Ethics Committee has considered the amendment to your Staff project proposal: Training School Counsellors & Pastoral Care Staff to Deliver a Brief Non-Targeted ACT Intervention in Schools (InTER-ACT2): Training Satisfaction, Fidelity & Efficacy (EC.17.11.14.5006R6A6).

The amendment has been approved.

Please note that if any changes are made to the above project then you must notify the Ethics Committee.

Best wishes, Adam Hammond

# School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee

Cardiff University	Prifysgol Caerdydd
Tower Building	Adeilad y Tŵr
70 Park Place	70 Plas y Parc
Cardiff	Caerdydd
CF10 3AT	CF10 3AT
Tel: +44(0)29 208 70360	Ffôn: +44(0)29 208 70360
Email: <u>psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk</u>	E-
http://psych.cf.ac.uk/aboutus/ethics.html	bost: <u>psychethics@caerdydd.ac.uk</u>

Please note that I do not expect a response to this email outside of your normal working hours Nid wyf yn disgwyl ymateb i'r ebost hwn y tu allan i'ch oriau gwaith arferol

# **Appendix F: Gatekeeping letter for schools**

Address of School [Date]

Dear [school contact],

We are two Trainee Clinical Psychologists on the South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology and we are looking to carry out a study on school-based interventions as part of our university course. We are writing to enquire whether you would be interested in allowing us to involve students from your school with the project. Further details can be found below:

**Project title:** Training School Counsellors & Teachers/Pastoral Care Staff to Deliver a Brief Non-Targeted ACT Intervention in Schools (INTER-ACT2): Training Satisfaction, Fidelity & Efficacy.

**Supervisors:** Dr Victoria Samuel (*Senior Research Tutor, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology,* Cardiff University) and Dr Chloe Constable (*Clinical Psychologist, Children and Young People Service,* 2GETHER NHS Foundation Trust)

# **Description of project:**

# Background

It is estimated that 1 in 10 children in the UK have a mental health difficulty. However, only 25% of children and young people with a mental health difficulty have been able to access mental health services. This has led to recommendations that preventative mental health work in schools and evidence-based practice is needed. The project will be evaluating a new type of workshop to improve the well-being of young people and increase their resilience when encountering stressful experiences. The workshop is informed by a new type of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT), called Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT).

ACT aims to encourage individuals to develop greater flexibility in how they relate to difficult thoughts and feelings so they can focus on working towards what is important to them. Research suggests that ACT is valued by young people and can be helpful in reducing stress and improving well-being. Earlier research (INTER-ACT1) found these ACT workshops to be more acceptable to young people than a parallel Cognitive Behaviour Therapy (CBT) workshop, as well as feasible to deliver in a school setting. This stage of the study aims to:

- explore whether school counsellors and pastoral care staff can deliver the workshops
- evaluate whether these whole classroom workshops may improve outcomes for the young people attending.

# Your Schools Involvement

A counsellor already attached to your school and a member of the teaching or pastoral care team, will deliver these workshops to a class of students in Key Stage 3 (years 7-9) in your school. The teacher or pastoral care staff member identified to co-facilitate these workshops will attend a two-day training course alongside the school counsellor.

Following the training, this pair will be supported by the research team to deliver 3 workshops, allocating lesson slots for delivery over a 5-week period. Our plan would be to compare students attending the ACT workshops with another class of students attending their standard PSHE lessons. This would allow us to make comparisons between both classes. The workshops have been

developed by psychologists with specialist training in this area. The workshops do not involve providing students with therapy, they are focused on teaching skills to build resilience based on the ideas of ACT.

# Student's Involvement

To evaluate the workshops, we will ask the students in both classes to complete a set of questionnaires at several timepoints (before the first workshop, after the last workshop and at a 6 week follow up). This will be to assess for any changes in wellbeing, psychological flexibility and mental distress.

We will ask students who received the intervention if they would like to take part in short discussions about the intervention, as part of a future project.

Overall, the support that would be required from the school would be:

- Scheduling the workshops within the school curriculum
- Allowing us to contact all parents/carers of Key Stage 3 (years 7-9) students to inform them about the project and seek opt-out consent for completion of the questionnaires
- Facilitating the researchers to collect data as outlined above.

I would be grateful if you could let us know whether the workshops are something that might be of interest to your school. We are happy to answer any questions you may have, and our contact details can be found below. Many thanks in advance for your consideration of this project.

Regards,

Aless Roberts and Laura Knight

Aless Roberts Trainee Clinical	Laura Knight Trainee Clinical	Dr Victoria Samuel Senior Research Tutor	Dr Chloe Constable Clinical Psychologist
Psychologist robertsa31@cardiff.ac.	Psychologist <u>Knightl5@cardiff.ac.u</u>	SamuelV3@cardiff.ac.	Chloe.constable@nhs.n
<u>uk</u>	<u>k</u>	<u>uk</u>	<u>et</u>
02920 870582	02920 870582	02920 870582	
School of Psychology,	School of Psychology,	School of Psychology,	CAMHS,
Cardiff University	Cardiff University	Cardiff University	2gether NHS
Tower Building,	Tower Building,	Tower Building,	Foundation Trust,
70 Park Place	70 Park Place	70 Park Place	England
Cardiff	Cardiff	Cardiff	
CF10 3AT	CF10 3AT	CF10 3AT	

# Appendix G: Information sheet for school counsellors and teachers/pastoral care staff

# Study name: Training School Counsellors & Teachers/Pastoral Care Staff to Deliver a Brief Non-Targeted ACT Intervention in Schools (InTER-ACT2): Training Satisfaction, Fidelity & Efficacy.

# Introduction

You are being invited to take part in a research study to help us learn more about whether it is possible to train school counsellors and teachers/pastoral care staff to provide short workshops for secondary school students to help them manage stress and build resilience.

Before agreeing to take part, it is important that you read the information and make your own decision about whether you would like to be involved or not.

Please ask us if you have any questions or would like further information.

# The researchers

The research project is being carried out by two Trainee Clinical Psychologists (Laura Knight and Aless Roberts) on the South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology. The research is being undertaken as part of the university course. The project is being supervised by Dr Victoria Samuel (Senior Research Tutor, South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology) and Dr Chloe Constable (*Clinical Psychologist, Children and Young People Service,* 2GETHER NHS Foundation Trust).

# What is the research project about?

The aim of the research project is to find out whether it is possible to train school counsellors and teachers/pastoral care staff to deliver short workshops to secondary school students to help them learn ways to manage stress and build resilience. These groups will be based on the principles of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT). ACT helps people to change how they relate to difficult thoughts and emotions and helps them to take action to live life in line with their values. This is a widely used approach which has been shown to be effective in treating a wide range of mental health problems across age groups, including young people.

# Why are you doing the research project?

Research tells us that a significant percentage of secondary school students experience mental health difficulties and can feel stressed at times. We are interested in knowing more about whether teaching young people ACT skills might be a way to help them feel less stressed and be more able to cope. School counsellors, teachers and pastoral care staff have been identified as suitable to deliver the workshops due to their skill sets in working within the classroom and supporting students around wellbeing.

# What will I be doing if I decide to take part?

This research will involve school counsellors, teachers and pastoral care staff from a range of different schools attending a two-day training program delivered by Clinical Psychologists who developed the ACT workshop and who are experienced in working with children.

These training days will be held on a Friday 18<sup>th</sup> and Saturday 19th September 2020.

This training program will teach the core principles of ACT as well as practical training on how to deliver the three session workshops to students. All participants will be given detailed workshop protocols and full PowerPoint slides for each workshop. The online training will be video recorded to enable subsequent viewing by other school staff or school counsellors.

Staff receiving the training will be asked to complete questionnaires which look at knowledge before and after the training, satisfaction with the training and levels of a construct called 'psychological flexibility'. Staff will also be asked to complete a brief background information questionnaire prior to completing the training. Lastly, we will also ask you to complete a final questionnaire on psychological flexibility after you have delivered the final workshop.

Each pair (1 school counsellor and 1 teacher or member of the pastoral care team) will then deliver the workshops to one class of Key Stage 3 (years 7-9) students in their schools. Each of these workshops will need to be audio recorded using an encrypted device to enable the researchers to assess how closely the delivery of the workshops is consistent with ACT principles. The pair facilitating the workshops will be responsible for audio recording the workshops, however clear instructions on how to do this will be provided by the research team.

The workshops will be delivered as part of the PSHE curriculum; therefore, the students will attend the workshops as part of their usual timetable. We are planning that the three workshops (each lasting 1 hour), will be delivered within a 5-week period, over October and November 2020.

Prior to delivering the workshops, each school staff member will be asked to provide a list of classes from Key Stage 3 (years 7-9) of their school so that the researchers are able to randomly allocate one class to receive the intervention (the ACT workshops) and one class to receive PSHE lessons as normal. This will allow the researchers to compare the two groups.

Before, during and after the delivery of the three session workshops, the students in both groups will be asked to complete questionnaires on their well-being, quality of life, perceived stress and anxiety and depression. Each school staff member will be asked to support students from both these classes to create a unique identifier, which students will enter when completing their questionnaires. This ensures the researchers are not able to identify pupils by name when scoring their questionnaires. These unique identifiers will be held by the school so that pupils can be identified if their scores show high levels of distress and safeguarding procedures can be followed. The process of how to create the unique identifier will be provided to each school staff member by the researchers during training.

# Do I have to take part?

No, it is up to you whether you want to take part or not.

# What if I decide to take part but change my mind later on?

To ensure the students receive the full workshop package, we will require a commitment from you to deliver all three workshops in your school. However, if you decide you do not want to continue taking part in the evaluation element of the project you can withdraw at any stage, and you can ask the research team to discard any information gathered from you up to 1 week following the delivery of the last workshop.

#### How will my information be used?

Consent forms will contain the names of participants and will need to be retained for five years in accordance with Data and Record Management. These will be held securely and separately from the study data.

The questionnaires and the background information form you complete before and after the training program will contain your name and your associated school and be stored securely in password protected electronic files/databases or locked filing cabinets at Cardiff University. This information will be made anonymous once analysis has taken place, which will be within 4 months of the final

workshop. The anonymised information will be kept for up to 5 years in password protected electronic files/databases or locked filing cabinets at Cardiff University and deleted after this time.

Each workshop will be audio recorded using an encrypted voice recorder. The content of the recordings will be kept confidential (only shared with the research team), unless something is said which makes us think you or somebody else may be at risk. If this situation arises, we will discuss this with you first wherever possible and share our concerns with the headteacher or safeguarding lead. The recordings will be stored securely in password protected electronic files/databases or locked filing cabinets at Cardiff University and deleted immediately after analysis is completed which will be within 4 months of the final workshop.

The research project is being completed as part of a Doctorate of Clinical Psychology (university course for postgraduate students). The information will be used in a written report (which may later be used for teaching/training or published for wider audiences to read), but it will not be possible to identify which students or staff members took part or link any person to the information they have shared with us.

The data controller is Cardiff University and the Data Protection Officer is Matt Cooper <u>CooperM1@cardiff.ac.uk</u>. The lawful basis for the processing of the data you provide is consent.

# What can I do if I have concerns about the research project?

You can speak directly to a member of the research team, and they can be contacted using the contact information below. Alternatively, you can contact the Director of the Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology. Address: 11<sup>th</sup> Floor, School of Psychology, Tower Building, 70 Park Place, Cardiff, CF10 3AT. Telephone: 02920 870582

# Who has reviewed the study?

The research project has been approved by Cardiff University School of Psychology ethics committee. They have reviewed the study to ensure we are running it in a way which protects your rights and your safety.

If you have any questions relating to ethical issues and how this study is reviewed to ensure the wellbeing of the individuals who participate, please contact the Cardiff University School of Psychology Ethics Committee:

School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee Email: psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk Tel: 029 20870360

# Are there any risks or disadvantages to taking part?

We anticipate there to be minimal risks to taking part in the project. The nature of the workshops means that we might be asking you to consider student mental health and well-being. It is possible this may be upsetting, and we would encourage you to talk to somebody from the research team if this is the case.

Additionally, it is possible that learning a new way of relating to emotional experiences and considering your own emotions during the training program may potentially be difficult, however this is felt to be very low risk. In order to address this potential issue, all staff receiving the training package will be fully debriefed and provided with information about where to seek support should they be in any distress.

# What are the benefits of taking part?

We are hoping to use the information gathered in this research project to evaluate whether this type

of intervention is feasible and practical for delivery in schools. We hope you will be pleased to know that your involvement helps us to continue to develop interventions to help support the emotional wellbeing of young people.

# **Contact details**

Aless Roberts Trainee Clinical	Laura Knight Trainee Clinical	Dr Victoria Samuel Senior Research Tutor	Dr Chloe Constable Clinical Psychologist
Psychologist	Psychologist		, 0
robertsa31@cardiff.ac.uk	Knightl5@cardiff.ac.uk	SamuelV3@cardiff.ac.uk	Chloe.constable@nhs.net
02920 870582	02920 870582	02920 870582	
School of Psychology,	School of Psychology,	School of Psychology,	CAMHS,
Cardiff University	Cardiff University	Cardiff University	2gether NHS Foundation
Tower Building,	Tower Building,	Tower Building,	Trust, England
70 Park Place	70 Park Place	70 Park Place	
Cardiff	Cardiff	Cardiff	
CF10 3AT	CF10 3AT	CF10 3AT	

# Appendix H: Consent form for school counsellors and pastoral care staff (electronic)

School of Psychology, Cardiff University

Consent Form - Confidential data

[] I have read the information sheet and have had the opportunity to ask questions.

[ ] I understand that participation in this study is entirely voluntary and that I can withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason. I am also free to ask any questions or discuss my concerns with Dr Victoria Samuel (project supervisor).

[ ] I understand that the information I provide will be held confidentially, such that only the research team can trace this information back to me individually.

[] I understand that the information I provide will be retained for up to five years when it will be deleted/destroyed. I understand that I can ask for the information I provide to be deleted/destroyed up to 1 week after the delivery of the last workshop and I can have access to the information at any time.

[ ] I understand that the anonymised data I provide will be submitted as part of a doctoral thesis and for publication in a peer reviewed journal. I understand that the anonymised data may also be used for teaching or training purposes.

[] I understand that the online training I attend will be video recorded to enable subsequent viewing by other school staff or school counsellors.

[] I understand that I will be required to audio record the workshops I deliver using a secure encrypted device.

Please check the box below if you happy to be contacted about being involved in further research that follows on from this project. This would involve taking part in interviews / a focus group at a later stage, focusing on your experience of learning ACT and implementing the training with young people.

The data controller is Cardiff University and the Data Protection Officer is Matt Cooper CooperM1@cardiff.ac.uk. The lawful basis for the processing of the data you provide is consent.

I, \_\_\_\_\_\_(NAME) consent to participate in the study conducted by Laura Knight and Aless Roberts, School of Psychology, Cardiff University with the supervision of Dr Victoria Samuel.

Signed:

Date:

# Appendix I: Debrief for school counsellors and teachers/pastoral care staff

**Study:** Training School Counsellors & Teachers/Pastoral Care Staff to Deliver a Brief Non-Targeted ACT Intervention in Schools: Training Satisfaction, Fidelity & Efficacy.

# Thank you

Thank you for participating in this research study. The information you have provided will help us to evaluate if short workshops for secondary school students are useful and practical to run in schools. We will use this information to help us plan future research projects to continue investigating if providing workshops in this way can help young people to decrease stress and build resilience. We appreciate the time you have given to the research project.

# What was this study about?

This study aimed to determine if it is possible to train school counsellors, teachers and pastoral care staff to provide brief ACT workshops in secondary schools. School counsellors, teachers and pastoral care staff attended a two-day training program on how to deliver the ACT workshops and were asked to complete a variety of questionnaires on their knowledge before and after the training, satisfaction with the training and levels of a construct called 'psychological flexibility'. School counsellors and teachers/pastoral care staff then delivered the three session ACT workshops to Key Stage 3 (years 7-9) students in their associated school, and their delivery of these workshops was assessed by the researchers in terms of how well they kept to the training package. Outcomes for the students in terms of their mental health, quality of life and wellbeing were also assessed before, during and after the workshops.

# **Data protection**

The recordings from the focus group will be kept confidential and stored in password protected documents or locked filing cabinets at Cardiff University. This information will be confidential and will be deleted after 5 years. If, following completing the study, you decide you would like to withdraw your data, you can contact the researchers up to one week after delivering the final workshop and your data will be withdrawn without any explanation needed.

# **Contact details**

If you would like any further information or have any questions, please contact us using the information below:

Aless Roberts	Laura Knight	Dr Victoria Samuel	Dr Chloe Constable
Trainee Clinical Psychologist	Trainee Clinical Psychologist	Senior Research Tutor	Clinical Psychologist
<u>robertsa31@cardiff.ac.</u> <u>uk_</u> 02920 870582	Knightl5@cardiff.ac.uk 02920 870582	<u>SamuelV3@cardiff.ac.u</u> <u>k</u> 02920 870582	<u>Chloe.constable@nhs.n</u> <u>et</u>
School of Psychology, Cardiff University Tower Building, 70 Park Place Cardiff CF10 3AT	School of Psychology, Cardiff University Tower Building, 70 Park Place Cardiff CF10 3AT	School of Psychology, Cardiff University Tower Building, 70 Park Place Cardiff CF10 3AT	CAMHS, 2gether NHS Foundation Trust, England
If you have any questions relating to ethical issues and how this study is reviewed to ensure the wellbeing of the individuals who participated, please contact the Cardiff University School of Psychology Ethics Committee: School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee

Email: psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk

Tel: 029 20870360

The data controller is Cardiff University and the Data Protection Officer is Matt Cooper <u>CooperM1@cardiff.ac.uk</u>. The lawful basis for the processing of the data you provide is consent.

#### Appendix J: Background questionnaire for teachers

- 1. Please provide your age
  - 16-24
  - 25-34
  - 35-44
  - 45-54
  - 55-64
  - 65-74
  - 65-69
- 2. How would you identify your gender?
  - [Text entry box]
  - Prefer not to say
- 3. Please write your name
- 4. Please describe your role within the school. Please write down if you have multiple roles and what these are.
- 5. How many years have you been working in this role/these roles?

<1year	1-5 years	6-10 years	10+ years
--------	-----------	------------	-----------

6. How many years have you been working at this school?

<1year 1-5 years 6-10 years 10+ years

7. How much of your time is spent teaching?

1 day a week2-3 days a week 4-5 days a week

I do not teach formal lessons; my role involves providing pastoral support when needed

If none, next question skipped.

- 8. How much of this teaching time is spent teaching PSHE/wellbeing lessons? Please select the statement that most applies to you.
  - I only teach PSHE/wellbeing
  - I mostly teach PSHE/wellbeing and occasionally teach other school subjects
  - I teach both PSHE/wellbeing and other school subjects in equal amounts
  - I mostly teach other school subjects and occasionally teach PSHE/wellbeing
  - I only teach other school subjects
  - Other
- 9. Please indicate which statement most applies to your role:
  - I always work with groups/classes of students.
  - I mostly work with groups/classes of students but occasionally provide 1:1 sessions.
  - I provide both group/class and 1:1 sessions in equal amounts.
  - I mostly work 1:1 with students but occasionally work with groups/classes.
  - I always work 1:1 with students.

10. How many days of mental health/counselling related training have you received in your career?

None	1-3 days	4-6 days	7-9 days	10+ days
	,	,	,	

(If training was indicated, the following questions 11 – 14 were displayed)

- 11. Who provided this training?
- 12. What was the content of the training?
- 13. What was the duration of this training?

14. Do you have any qualifications in counselling or mental health? If yes, please give details.

15. Had you heard of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) before being invited to this training?

Yes No Unsure

16. Have you ever received any prior training in ACT?

Yes No Unsure

If yes, please write below what this training involved, who it was delivered by and the length of the training.

#### Appendix K: Background questionnaire for school counsellors

- 1. Please provide your age
  - 16-24
  - 25-34
  - 35-44
  - 45-54
  - 55-64
  - 65-74
  - 65-69
- 2. How would you identify your gender?
  - [Text entry box]
  - Prefer not to say
- 3. Please write your name
- 4. How many years have you been working as a school counsellor?

<1year	1-5 years	6-10 years	10+ years
--------	-----------	------------	-----------

5. How many years have you been involved with this school?

<1year	1-5 years	6-10 years	10+ years
--------	-----------	------------	-----------

- 6. Please indicate which statement most applies to your role as a school counsellor:
  - I always work with groups/classes of students.
  - I mostly work with groups/classes of students but occasionally provide 1:1 sessions.
  - I provide both group/class and 1:1 sessions in equal amounts.
  - I mostly work 1:1 with students but occasionally work with groups/classes.
  - I always work 1:1 with students.
- 7. Had you heard of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT) before being invited to this training?

Yes No Unsure

8. Have you ever received any prior training in ACT?

Yes No Unsure

9. If yes, please write below what this training involved, who it was delivered by and the length of the training:

#### **Appendix L: Training Satisfaction Questionnaire**

- 1. In my opinion the planned objectives were met.
- 2. The issues were dealt with in as much depth as the length of the course allowed.
- 3. The length of the course was adequate for the objectives and content.
- 4. The method was well suited to the objectives and content.
- 5. The method used enabled us to take an active part in training.
- 6. The training enabled me to share professional experiences with colleagues.
- 7. The training was realistic and practical.
- 8. The documentation given out was of good quality.
- 9. The training context was well suited to the training process.
- 10. The training received is useful for my specific job.
- 11. The training received is useful for my professional development.
- 12. The training merits a good overall rating.

## Appendix M: Situational judgement questionnaire: Congruent ACT responses with Young people (CoACT-Y)

1) A young person tells you they feel really sad and don't understand why. Do you:

a. Explain that certain people are more prone to depression than others and this may be genetic.

b. Outline how we all feel down at times and it's not always clear why.

c. Suggest some of the things that might be making them feel down and ask about each of these.

2) Some important exams are coming up and a young person tells you that they keep thinking 'I'm going to mess them up'. Do you:

a. Suggest they think more positively and recommend an alternative thought such as 'I can succeed'.

b. Reassure them that they are able and how you believe in them.

c. Reassure them that our minds like to think the worst, but thoughts are just thoughts and are not always true.

3) A young person who loves drama wants to audition for the school play but tells you that they may not try this year as they have been feeling anxious every time they think about auditions. Do you:

a. Remind him how well they did when they played the lead role last year and how proud their family were when they came to watch.

b. Suggest they try not to think about the auditions in advance and recommend some distraction techniques.

c. Reassure them that anxiety can often show up when we are coming up to something that really matters to us.

4) A young person tells you "I'm stupid" after getting a question wrong in front of their classmates. Do you:

a. Explain that our minds like to give us messages about ourselves all day long, and they are not always helpful or true.

b. Help the young person challenge their thought by reminding them of when they have answered questions correctly.

c. Distract the young person by talking to them about something positive.

5) A young person tells you that they keep feeling overwhelmed by worries for the future. Do you:

a. Help the young person to make a list of all the things they are worried about and work through them one by one.

b. Explain that when we are stressed our minds often like to time travel to the future and suggest some simple ways to help the young person focus on the present using their five senses.

c. Tell the young person that you think they might have anxiety and suggest they talk to their parents about making an appointment with their doctor.

6) Which of these following statements made by a young person demonstrate that they are thinking about their values?

- a. "I want to be loyal and kind to my friends"
- b. "I want to be captain of the rugby team this year"
- c. "I want to stop getting bad grades on my work"

7) A young person tells you they don't agree with some of the things their friends say but they would feel too embarrassed to disagree with them. Do you:

a. Explain that his friends shouldn't make him feel embarrassed.

b. Talk with the young person about the kind of things that are important to them and explain that difficult feelings may come up even if we do what feels right.

c. Discuss ways to avoid these situations so that they can hopefully reduce the likelihood they feel embarrassed.

8) A young person says they feel useless as they have been trying to support their friend for the last few weeks, but the friend is still upset. Would you:

a. Help them to think about the kind of qualities they have demonstrated when supporting their friend and whether these things match what they want to stand for.

- b. Suggest they maybe give their friend some space.
- c. Explain that sometimes things do not get better immediately.
- 9) A young person you work with, who is passionate about sport, tells you they have anxiety and so they don't feel able to take part in sports matches anymore. They describe how they keep doubting their ability and feel stressed about this. Do you:
  - b. Suggest that to reduce their anxiety it would important to take some pressure off themselves and wait until they feel more confident before taking part in any more matches.
  - c. Help them explore what it is about sport that brings a sense of purpose and help them to see that we can do things that matter to us even if anxiety and doubts keep showing up.
  - d. Reassure them that they have no reason to doubt themselves and share some feedback you've heard recently from the head of PE about how skilled they are at the sport.

# Appendix N: Comprehensive assessment of Acceptance and Commitment Therapy processes (CompACT) questionnaire

Please rate the following 23 statements using the scale below:

Strongly	Moderately	Slightly	Neither	Slightly	Moderately	Strongly
Disagree	Disagree	Disagree	Agree nor	Agree	Agree	Agree
			Disagree			

- 1. I can identify the things that really matter to me in life and pursue them.
- 2. One of my big goals is to be free from painful emotions.
- 3. I rush through meaningful activities without being really attentive to them.
- 4. I try to stay busy to keep thoughts or feelings from coming.
- 5. I act in ways that are consistent with how I wish to live my life.
- 6. I get so caught up in my thoughts that I am unable to do the things that I most want to do.
- 7. I make choices based on what is important to me, even if it is stressful.
- 8. I tell myself that I shouldn't have certain thoughts.
- 9. I find it difficult to stay focused on what's happening in the present.
- 10. I behave in line with my personal values.
- 11. I go out of my way to avoid situations that might bring difficult thoughts, feelings, or sensations.
- 12. Even when doing the things that matter to me, I find myself doing them without paying attention.
- 13. I am willing to fully experience whatever thoughts, feelings and sensations come up for me, without trying to change or defend against them.
- 14. I undertake things that are meaningful to me, even when I find it hard to do so
- 15. I work hard to keep out upsetting feelings.
- 16. I do jobs or tasks automatically, without being aware of what I'm doing.
- 17. I am able to follow my long terms plans including times when progress is slow.
- 18. Even when something is important to me, I'll rarely do it if there is a chance it will upset me.
- 19. It seems I am "running on automatic" without much awareness of what I'm doing.
- 20. Thoughts are just thoughts they don't control what I do.
- 21. My values are really reflected in my behaviour.
- 22. I can take thoughts and feelings as they come, without attempting to control or avoid them.
- 23. I can keep going with something when it's important to me.

Workshop 1:	: Thoughts are Jus	t Thoughts; Pause, Observe, Describe and	l Taking Step	s Towards What	Matters.
Adherence Component	Торіс	Key Points and Exercises	Score <sup>a</sup>	Adaptations <sup>b</sup>	Deviations <sup>c</sup>
	Introduction and InTER-ACT Overview	Introductions given and ground rules (RESPECT) outlined	0 1 2		
	Noticing our Thoughts	Turning into own thoughts - Paper exercise	0 1 2		
	Worrying is Normal	Worrying and its usefulness - Rustling noise exercise - Video on negative thoughts	0 1 2		
Content	Worries Nowadays	Current worries and usefulness - Why we worry - Current worries - Thoughts trying to be helpful	0 1 2		
	Thoughts and Control	Controllability - Not think about vs only think about exercise - Delete memory exercise - Overall message	0 1 2		
	Tangled with Thoughts	Three-part exercise: - Pushing - Caught up - Sitting with	0 1 2		
	Untangling from Thoughts	Demonstration and strategy	0 1 2		
Competence		General ability in delivering the workshop	0 1 2		
Engagement		Engaging students through participation, reflections and/or open discussion <sup>d</sup>	0 1 2		
Responsiveness		Responding to students with warmth, enthusiasm, curiosity etc <sup>d</sup>	0 1 2		

Appendix O: Adherence checklists for workshops 1, 2 and 3

<sup>a</sup> Score 0 (missing or no evidence), 1 (partially delivered) or 2 (fully delivered)

<sup>b</sup> May include shortening of exercises, eliciting responses in other ways to the manual,

<sup>c</sup> May include omission of key exercises, providing information inconsistent to the overall message (e.g. attempt to control thoughts rather than noticing)

<sup>d</sup> Score 0 (no evidence of attempts to engage students/ respond), 1 (some attempts to engage students/ respond) or 2 (regular attempts to engage students/ respond)

		Workshop 2: Pause, Observe, Describe			
Adherence Component	Торіс	Key Points and Exercises	Score	Adaptations	Deviations
	Recap last session	RESPECT and Quiz	0 1 2		
	Responding to Feelings	Common responses - To difficult feelings - Learning another way	012		
	Time Travelling Mind	Where the mind goes to - Past, present, future - What feelings come up	012		
	Mindful vs Mind Full	Introduction to mindfulness - Picture exercise - Distraction - Noticing where attention is	0 1 2		
Content	Connecting to the Moment	Ways to connect - Noticing - 5,4,3,2,1 exercise - Non-judgemental and curious - Weather analogy	012		
	Feelings and Continued Action	Sitting with feelings - Action despite difficult feelings - Facilitator example - Key ideas	012		
	Mindful Practice	<ul> <li>Practice exercises</li> <li>Points of contact</li> <li>Mindful puppy</li> <li>Pause, Observe, Describe exercise with video</li> </ul>	012		
Competence		General ability in delivering the workshop	012		
Engagement		Engaging students through participation, reflections and/or open discussion <sup>d</sup>	0 1 2		
Responsiveness		Responding to students with warmth, enthusiasm, curiosity etc <sup>d</sup>	012		

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Score 0 (missing or no evidence), 1 (partially delivered) or 2 (fully delivered)

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm b}$  May include shortening of exercises, eliciting responses in other ways to the manual,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> May include omission of key exercises, providing information inconsistent to the overall message (e.g. attempt to control thoughts rather than noticing)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>d</sup> Score 0 (no evidence of attempts to engage students/ respond), 1 (some attempts to engage students/ respond) or 2 (regular attempts to engage students/ respond)

	,	Norkshop 3: Taking Steps Towards What N	Aatters		
Adherence Component	Торіс	Key Points and Exercises	Scoreª	Adaptations <sup>b</sup>	Deviations <sup>c</sup>
	Recap last session	Quiz	0 1 2		
	Introduction to Values	What are they and their importance - What do others say matter - Research	012		
	Own Values	Identifying what matters - Connectedness exercise - Noticing values	012		
Content	Key Ideas	Values <ul> <li>What we care about</li> <li>Not an outcome</li> <li>Fluidity and compass analogy</li> </ul>	0 1 2		
	Values Exercise	Explore, Identify, Choose - Ranking importance exercise - Top choices right now - Emphasise key ideas	012		
	Moving Towards	Setting intentions exercise - Choosing one - Steps towards - What can be done today	0 1 2		
	Consolidation	Recap - Workshop 1 key points - Workshop 2 key points - Workshop 3 key points	0 1 2		
Competence		General ability in delivering the workshop	012		
Engagement		Engaging students through participation, reflections and/or open discussion <sup>d</sup>	0 1 2		
Responsiveness		Responding to students with warmth, enthusiasm, curiosity etc <sup>d</sup>	0 1 2		

<sup>a</sup> Score 0 (missing or no evidence), 1 (partially delivered) or 2 (fully delivered)

 $^{\rm b}$  May include shortening of exercises, eliciting responses in other ways to the manual,

<sup>c</sup> May include omission of key exercises, providing information inconsistent to the overall message (e.g. attempt to control thoughts rather than noticing)

<sup>d</sup> Score 0 (no evidence of attempts to engage students/ respond), 1 (some attempts to engage students/ respond) or 2 (regular attempts to engage students/ respond)

#### Appendix P: ACT Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM)

Retrieved from: O'Neill, L, Latchford, G., McCracken, L. M. & Graham, C. D. (2019a). The Acceptance and Commitment Therapy Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM) Form.

## The ACT Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM)



## About the ACT-FM

This measure is intended to be used by clinicians who are experienced in ACT and understand the principles of the approach. It can be used to rate clinician fidelity to ACT in a variety of contexts (e.g. as a tool to evaluate your own or another clinician's practice, or as a research tool). The items capture four key areas within ACT: **Therapist Stance**, **Open Response Style**, **Aware Response Style** and **Engaged Response Style**. These are outlined below with definitions. There are items to score the therapist's behaviours as consistent and inconsistent with these areas. For example, within the Open Response Style section, an ACT consistent item is 'Therapist gives the client opportunities to notice how they interact with their thoughts and/or feelings (e.g. whether avoidant or open)' and an ACT inconsistent item is 'Therapist encourages the client to "think positive" or to substitute negative for positive thoughts as a treatment goal'. This is because it is possible to be both ACT consistent and inconsistent within the same therapy session, which may be useful to record for research or training purposes. The consistent and inconsistent items are not opposites of each other. If rating the inconsistent items is not relevant for your purposes, then please feel free to omit these items.

## Definitions

#### **Therapist Stance**

The stance taken by the therapist is equal, compassionate and nonjudgemental. The therapist should show empathy and warmth and be guided by what the client brings. The therapist does not try to change the client's mind, but to guide noticing of their own experience using experiential techniques. The therapist encourages responsibility, focuses on context and models psychological flexibility responses and behaviour.

#### Aware Response Style

This is the ability to flexibly contact the present moment. This might involve practicing exercises designed to enhance the client's ability to nonjudgementally attend to the present moment. The therapist may encourage the client to take an observer perspective on their psychological experiences, when doing so helps increase the effectiveness of client behaviour.

#### **Open Response Style**

This is the ability to open-up to experiences, and to observe and describe these without becoming entangled in them or trying to diminish them. The therapist might work on skills that promote the client's willingness to sit with difficult thoughts, emotions or sensations, when in the service of their values and goals. They might use defusion techniques or exercises with the client, giving them the opportunity to notice or distance themselves from their thoughts.

#### Engaged Response Style

This is the ability to identify, clarify and act according to one's values on an ongoing basis. The therapist might give the client opportunities to identify their values. They may help the client to define goals and actions that support their values, and to plan and do these actions.

### How to use the ACT-FM

#### Procedure

- The focus of this measure is on the therapist's behaviour.
- Therapists may not have the opportunity to demonstrate all behaviours captured by the ACT FM, especially in short sessions.
- Only score based on behaviours you have observed, not what you think the therapist would have achieved if they had further time available.
- A single therapist behaviour can be coded for all relevant items, not just the most suitable one.
- Before scoring the session, familiarise yourself with the measure and the items so that you can easily find an item when you see the clinician evidence it.
- Make notes as you listen to or view the session in the space below each item.
- Have specific examples in mind when scoring.
- Score the items at the end of the session not throughout, as ratings may change.

#### Scoring

Give a rating for each item based on the behaviours you have heard or observed by circling the number next to each item. Items are rated as 0 if the behaviour did not occur, and from 1-3 if the behaviour did occur, only assign a score higher than 0 if you hear or see examples of the behaviour. Higher scores are given for the behaviour occurring more consistently. Only give whole point answers, e.g. do not score 2.5. You will need to use your clinical judgment when scoring, bearing in mind the context of the therapy session and considering the function of the therapist behaviour.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{O}}$  University of Leeds • Free to use • Do not alter without authors permission •

https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.17855.46244

# The ACT Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM)



Raters name and professional qualification:		Date of rating:
Therapist name and professional qualificati	on:	
Client ID:	Session No:	Date of session:
Length of session being rated:		
□ Direct observation	□ Audio recording	□ Video recording
Scoring		

0 = This behaviour never occurred	2 = Therapist sometimes enacts this behaviour
1 = Therapist rarely enacts this behaviour	<b>3</b> = Therapist consistently enacts this behaviour

#### Therapist stance

AC	T consistent		Rat	ing	3
1	Therapist chooses methods that are sensitive to the situation and context (i.e. in a flexible and responsive way rather than a 'one size fits all' approach).	0	1	2	3
2	Therapist uses experiential methods/questions (i.e. helps the client to notice and use their own experience rather than thoughts about their experience).	0	1	2	3
3	Therapist conveys that it is natural to experience painful or difficult thoughts and feelings when one is in circumstances such as those experienced by the client.	0	1	2	3
4	Therapist demonstrates a willingness to sit with their own and the client's painful thoughts and feelings and the situations that give rise to these.	0	1	2	3
	The second should				
AC	l inconsistent		кат	រពរូ	8
5	Therapist lectures the client (e.g. gives advice, tries to convince the client, etc).	0	1	2	3
6	Therapist rushes to reassure, diminish or move on from "unpleasant" or "difficult" thoughts and feelings when these arise.	0	1	2	3
7	Therapist conversations are at an excessively conceptual level (i.e. therapist overly emphasises verbal understanding of concepts rather than using experiential methods for behaviour change).	0	1	2	3

#### Open response style

AC	T consistent		Ra	tin	g	
8	Therapist helps the client to notice thoughts as separate experiences from the events they describe.	0	1	2	3	3
9	Therapist gives the client opportunities to notice how they interact with their thoughts and/or feelings (e.g. whether avoidant or open).	0	1	2	3	3
10	Therapist encourages the client to "stay with" painful thoughts and feelings (in the service of their values).	0	1	2	3	3
	The second stand					
AC	I Inconsistent		ка	cin:	σ	
					D	
11	Therapist encourages the client to control or to diminish distress (or other emotions) as the primary goal of therapy.	0	1	2	3	3
11 12	Therapist encourages the client to control or to diminish distress (or other emotions) as the primary goal of therapy. Therapist encourages the client to "think positive" or to substitute negative for positive thoughts as a treatment goal.	0 0	1 1	2	3	3

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$  University of Leeds  ${\boldsymbol \cdot}$  Free to use  ${\boldsymbol \cdot}$  Do not alter without authors permission  ${\boldsymbol \cdot}$ 

# The ACT Fidelity Measure (ACT-FM)

# ACT-FM

Scoring

Aware response style									
1 = Therapist rarely enacts this behaviour	<b>3</b> = Therapist consistently enacts this behaviour								
0 = This behaviour never occurred	2 = Therapist sometimes enacts this behaviour								

ACT consistent		Rating				
14	Therapist uses present moment focus methods (e.g. mindfulness tasks, tracking, noticing, etc) to increase awareness of the moment, including thoughts and feelings.	0	1	2	3	
15	Therapist helps the client to notice the stimuli (thoughts, feelings, situations, etc) that hook them away from the present moment.	0	1	2	3	
16	Therapist helps the client to experience that they are bigger than and/or separate from their psychological experiences.	0	1	2	3	
_						
ACT inconsistent		Rating				
17	Therapist introduces or uses mindfulness and/or self-as-context methods as means to control or diminish or distract from unwanted thoughts, emotions and bodily sensations	0	1	2	3	
18	Therapist introduces or uses mindfulness and/or self-as-context methods to challenge the accuracy of beliefs or thoughts.	0	1	2	3	
19	Therapist introduces mindfulness and/or self-ascontext methods as formulaic exercises.	0	1	2	3	
Engaged response style						

#### **ACT consistent** Rating 20 Therapist gives the client opportunities to notice workable and unworkable responses 0 1 2 3 (e.g. whether their actions move them towards or away from their values). 21 Therapist gives the client opportunities to clarify their own values 0 1 2 3 (overarching life goals and qualities of action). 22 Therapist helps the client to make plans and set goals likely to meet reinforcing consequences 0 1 2 3 (i.e. shapes action that is consistent with their values). **ACT** inconsistent Rating 23 Therapist imposes their own, other's or society's values upon the client 0 1 2 3 (i.e. suggests what the client should or should not value or what valuing something should look like).

24	Therapist encourages action without first hearing, exploring or showing curiosity regarding the client's psychological experiences (e.g. painful thoughts, feelings and emotions).	0	1	2	3	
25	Therapist encourages the client's proposed plans even when the client has noticed clear impracticalities.	0	1	2	3	

## Scoring

A total score for each subscale can be calculated by adding the 3 items together. The Therapist stance – ACT consistent section has 4 items, so please convert this to give a total out of 9 in line with the other sections by adding the 4 items, dividing by 4 and multiplying by 3. The ACT consistent items can be added to give a total ACT consistency score and the ACT inconsistent items can be added to give a total ACT inconsistency score.

ACT Consistent Therapist Stance (0-9) =ACT Inconsistent Therapist Stance (0-9) =ACT Consistent Open Response Style (0-9) =ACT Inconsistent Open Response Style (0-9) =ACT Consistent Aware Response Style (0-9) =ACT Inconsistent Aware Response Style (0-9) =ACT Consistent Engaged Response Style (0-9) =ACT Inconsistent Engaged Response Style (0-9) =Total ACT Consistency Score (0-36) =Total ACT Inconsistency Score (0-36) =